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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1.

Financial Statements
BOOZ ALLEN HAMILTON HOLDING CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
September 30,
2014

March 31,
2014

(Unaudited)
(Amounts in thousands, except
share and per share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

$

241,824
820,705
116,195

$

1,178,724
110,033
216,064
1,273,293
51,012

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization
Goodwill
Other long-term assets
Total assets

259,994
916,737
79,246
1,255,977
129,427
220,887
1,273,789
60,738

$

2,829,126

$

2,940,818

$

46,688
468,624
298,561
14,244

$

73,688
488,807
331,440
23,169

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and benefits
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, Class A — $0.01 par value — authorized, 600,000,000 shares; issued, 149,792,176 shares at
September 30, 2014 and 143,962,073 shares at March 31, 2014; outstanding, 148,805,550 shares at
September 30, 2014 and 143,352,448 shares at March 31, 2014
Non-voting common stock, Class B — $0.01 par value — authorized, 16,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding, 0 shares at September 30, 2014 and 582,080 shares at March 31, 2014
Restricted common stock, Class C — $0.01 par value — authorized, 5,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding, 0 shares at September 30, 2014 and 935,871 shares at March 31, 2014
Special voting common stock, Class E — $0.003 par value — authorized, 25,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding, 1,865,618 shares at September 30, 2014 and 4,424,814 shares at March 31, 2014
Treasury stock, at cost — 986,626 shares at September 30, 2014 and 609,625 shares at March 31, 2014
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

828,117
1,598,853
237,834

917,104
1,585,231
266,847

2,664,804

2,769,182

1,498

1,440

—

6

—

9

6
(18,422)
143,817
43,888
(6,465)

13
(10,153)
144,269
42,688
(6,636)

164,322

171,636

2,829,126

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
1

$

2,940,818

BOOZ ALLEN HAMILTON HOLDING CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2014

Six Months Ended
September 30,

2013

2014

(Amounts in thousands,
except per share data)

Revenue
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue
Billable expenses
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating costs and expenses

$

1,304,841

Operating income
Interest expense
Other, net
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income

$

2013

(Amounts in thousands,
except per share data)

1,378,020

$

2,627,138

$

2,805,711

642,425
347,651
176,972
15,810

685,138
365,632
173,481
18,102

1,287,426
698,623
348,041
32,042

1,386,610
763,520
344,809
36,432

1,182,858

1,242,353

2,366,132

2,531,371

121,983
(17,817)
807

135,667
(20,175)
(1,694)

261,006
(36,681)
(303)

274,340
(40,887)
(1,640)

104,973
39,689

113,798
45,985

224,022
87,623

231,813
93,687

$

65,284

$

67,813

$

136,399

$

138,126

Basic

$

0.43

$

0.48

$

0.92

$

0.98

Diluted

$

0.42

$

0.45

$

0.89

$

0.93

$

1.11

$

0.10

$

1.22

$

0.20

Earnings per common share (Note 3):

Dividends declared per share

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BOOZ ALLEN HAMILTON HOLDING CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2014

Six Months Ended
September 30,

2013

2014

(Amounts in thousands)

Net income
Change in postretirement plan costs, net of tax
Comprehensive income

2013

(Amounts in thousands)

$

65,284
86

$

67,813
1,109

$

136,399
171

$

138,126
1,533

$

65,370

$

68,922

$

136,570

$

139,659

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BOOZ ALLEN HAMILTON HOLDING CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(UNAUDITED)
Six Months Ended
September 30,
2014

2013

(Amounts in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock options
Amortization of debt issuance costs and loss on extinguishment
Losses on dispositions and impairments
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other long-term assets
Accrued compensation and benefits
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses
Accrued interest
Other current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Cash paid for business acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock
Stock option exercises
Excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock options
Repurchases of common stock
Cash dividends paid
Dividend equivalents paid to option holders
Debt issuance costs
Repayment of debt
Proceeds from debt issuance
Net cash used in financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents––beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents––end of period

136,399

$

138,126

32,042
12,887
(37,302)
7,454
1,084

36,432
9,341
(34,940)
7,151
675

96,032
374
7,879
(24,832)
(25,578)
5,417
(8,947)
(2,380)

58,605
8,345
(1,345)
(49,954)
16,585
23
(46,332)
(3,103)

200,529

139,609

(8,931)
—

(6,718)
3,563

(8,931)

(3,155)

2,488
3,985
37,302
(8,269)
(179,492)
(46,797)
(8,610)
(208,813)
198,438

2,536
11,335
34,940
(2,858)
(28,188)
(47,908)
(6,223)
(23,249)
—

(209,768)
(18,170)
259,994

(59,615)
76,839
350,384

$

241,824

$

427,223

$

22,980

$

32,502

$

82,161

$

116,907

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Income taxes

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BOOZ ALLEN HAMILTON HOLDING CORPORATION
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in tables in thousands, except share and per share data or unless otherwise noted)
September 30, 2014
1. BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Organization
Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation, including its wholly owned subsidiaries, or Holding or the Company, is an affiliate of The Carlyle Group,
or Carlyle, and was incorporated in Delaware in May 2008. The Company provides management consulting, technology, and engineering services to the U.S.
government in the defense, intelligence, and civil markets. Additionally, the Company provides its management and technology consulting services to major
corporations, institutions, and not-for-profit organizations. The Company reports operating results and financial data in one operating segment. The
Company is headquartered in McLean, Virginia, with approximately 22,100 employees as of September 30, 2014.
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The Company prepared the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, or Quarterly Report, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or U.S. GAAP, for interim financial information and with the instructions to
Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. As a result, certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted. The Company followed the accounting policies used and disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on May 22, 2014, or Annual Report, and policies stated within this Quarterly Report. The Company’s fiscal year ends on March 31 and unless
otherwise noted, references to fiscal year or fiscal are for fiscal years ended March 31.
The interim financial information in this Quarterly Report reflects all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments except as otherwise
disclosed, necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s results of operations for the interim periods. The results of operations for the six months ended
September 30, 2014 are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the full fiscal year.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting periods. Areas of the financial statements where estimates may have the most significant effect include allowance for
doubtful accounts, contractual and regulatory reserves, valuation and lives of tangible and intangible assets, impairment of long-lived assets, accrued
liabilities, revenue recognition, bonus and other incentive compensation, stock-based compensation, realization of deferred tax assets, provisions for income
taxes, and postretirement obligations. Actual results experienced by the Company may differ materially from management's estimates.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued a new standard that will replace existing revenue recognition standards and
significantly expand the disclosure requirements for revenue arrangements. The new standard will be effective for the Company beginning on April 1, 2017
(i.e., beginning with the first quarter fiscal 2018 interim financial statements). The new standard may be adopted retrospectively for all periods presented, or
adopted using a modified retrospective approach. Under the retrospective approach, the fiscal 2017 and 2016 financial statements would be adjusted to
reflect the effects of applying the new standard on those periods. Under the modified retrospective approach, the new standard would only be applied for the
period beginning April 1, 2017 to new contracts and those contracts that are not yet complete at April 1, 2017, with a cumulative catch-up adjustment
recorded to beginning retained earnings for existing contracts that still require performance. Management is still in the process of determining which
transition method to utilize in order to apply the new standard and still assessing what effect the application of this standard may have on the timing of our
revenue recognition and our financial statements.
Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB during the six months ended September 30, 2014 and through the filing date did not or
are not believed by management to have a material impact on the Company's present or historical condensed consolidated financial statements.
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3. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The Company computes basic and diluted earnings per share amounts based on net income for the periods presented. The Company uses the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period to calculate basic earnings per share, or EPS. Diluted EPS adjusts the weighted average
number of shares outstanding to include the dilutive effect of outstanding common stock options and other stock-based awards.
The Company currently has outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock and Class E Special Voting Common Stock. During the three months ended
September 30, 2014, the Company converted all issued and outstanding shares of Class B Non-Voting Common Stock and Class C Restricted Common Stock
into shares of Class A Common Stock on a one-for-one basis. Class E Special Voting Common Stock shares are not included in the calculation of EPS as
these shares represent voting rights only and are not entitled to participate in dividends or other distributions. Unvested Class A Restricted Common Stock
holders are entitled to participate in non-forfeitable dividends or other distributions. These unvested shares participated in the Company's dividends declared
and paid in the first and second quarters of fiscal 2015 and 2014. As such, EPS is calculated using the two-class method whereby earnings are reduced by
distributed earnings as well as any available undistributed earnings allocable to holders of unvested restricted shares. A reconciliation of the income used to
compute basic and diluted EPS for the periods presented are as follows:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2014

Six Months Ended
September 30,

2013

Earnings for basic computations (1)

$
62,791
Weighted-average Class A Common Stock outstanding
144,557,638
Weighted-average Class B Non-Voting Common Stock outstanding
344,774
Weighted-average Class C Restricted Common Stock outstanding
599,879
Total weighted-average common shares outstanding for basic
computations
145,502,291
Earnings for diluted computations (1)
$
62,791
Dilutive stock options and restricted stock
4,901,605
Average number of common shares outstanding for diluted computations
150,403,896
Earnings per common share

$

$

2014

67,145
139,135,635
967,094
1,002,214
141,104,943
67,171
7,400,883

$

$

148,505,826

2013

133,715
143,382,252
440,760
758,153
144,581,165
133,715
4,956,395

$

$

149,537,560

136,829
137,337,119
1,158,003
1,079,603
139,574,725
136,885
7,682,849
147,257,574

Basic

$

0.43

$

0.48

$

0.92

$

0.98

Diluted

$

0.42

$

0.45

$

0.89

$

0.93

(1) During the three months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, approximately 2.2 million and 1.4 million participating securities were paid dividends
totaling $2.5 million and $140,000, respectively. During the six months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, approximately 2.2 million and 1.4 million
participating securities were paid dividends totaling $2.7 million and $202,000, respectively. Additionally, for the three and six months ended September 30,
2013 there were undistributed earnings of $528,000 and $1.1 million allocated to the participating class of securities in basic earnings per share, and
$502,000 and $1.0 million respectively to diluted earnings per share. There were no undistributed earnings for the three and six months ended September 30,
2014. The allocated undistributed earnings and the dividends paid comprise the difference between net income presented on the condensed consolidated
statements of operations for the three and six months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 and earnings for basic computations.
The EPS calculation for the three and six months ended September 30, 2014 excludes 202,000 and 212,000 options, respectively, as their impact was
anti-dilutive. The EPS calculation for the three and six months ended September 30, 2013 excludes 890,000 options as their impact was anti-dilutive.
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4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET
Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following:
September 30,
2014

March 31,
2014

Current
Accounts receivable–billed
Accounts receivable–unbilled
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable, net

$

Long-term
Unbilled receivables
Total accounts receivable, net

358,814 $
462,140
(249)

395,509
522,685
(1,457)

820,705

916,737

17,904
$

838,609

22,877
$

939,614

Unbilled amounts represent sales for which billings have not been presented to customers at quarter-end or year-end. These amounts are usually billed
and collected within one year. Long-term unbilled receivables not anticipated to be billed and collected within one year, which are primarily related to
retainage, holdbacks, and long-term rate settlements to be billed at contract closeout, are included in other long-term assets as accounts receivable in the
accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognized a provision (benefit) for doubtful accounts (including certain unbilled
reserves) of $(527,000) and $(511,000) for the three months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and $(979,000) and $1.5 million for the six
months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Because the Company's accounts receivable are primarily with the U.S. Government and its
agencies, the Company does not have material exposure to accounts receivable credit risk.
5. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses consisted of the following:
September 30,
2014

March 31,
2014

Vendor payables

$

232,531
236,093

$

Accrued expenses
Total accounts payable and other accrued expenses

265,079
223,728

$

468,624

$

488,807

Accrued expenses consisted primarily of the Company’s reserve related to potential cost disallowance in conjunction with government audits. Refer to
Note 16 for further discussion of this reserve.
6. ACCRUED COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS
Accrued compensation and benefits consisted of the following:
September 30,
2014

March 31,
2014

Bonus

$

38,574
60,488
115,255
31,798
27,618
24,828

$

Retirement
Vacation
Stock-based compensation liability (Note 13)
Deferred compensation
Other
Total accrued compensation and benefits

75,423
43,405
117,626
39,922
27,547
27,517

$

298,561

$

331,440
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7. DEBT
Debt consisted of the following:
September 30, 2014
Interest
Rate

Term Loan A

2.65%
3.75%

Term Loan B
Total

March 31, 2014

Outstanding
Balance

$

816,355
829,186

Interest
Rate

2.65%
3.75%

Outstanding
Balance

$

1,645,541
(46,688)

Less: Current portion of long-term debt
Long-term debt, net of current portion

$

1,598,853

660,317
998,602
1,658,919
(73,688)

$

1,585,231

On May 7, 2014, the Company entered into the Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2012 (as previously amended by the
First Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2013). As of September 30, 2014, the Credit Agreement, as amended, provided the
Company with an $830.0 million Term Loan A and an $841.2 million Term Loan B, and a $500.0 million revolving credit facility, with a sublimit for letters
of credit of $100.0 million. The outstanding obligations under the Credit Agreement, as amended, are secured by a security interest in substantially all of the
assets of the Company, subject to certain exceptions set forth in the Credit Agreement, as amended, and related documentation. The rates for Term Loan A
and Term Loan B, as amended, remain unchanged. The Second Amendment also extended the maturity date of Term Loan A and the revolving credit facility
to May 31, 2019. The maturity date for Term Loan B remained unchanged. The Company also amended its existing debt covenants to provide for greater
operational and financial flexibility.
The Credit Agreement, as amended, requires quarterly principal payments of 1.25% of the stated principal amount of Term Loan A, with annual
incremental increases to 1.875%, 2.50%, 3.125%, and 13.0%, prior to Term Loan A's maturity date of May 31, 2019. As a result of paying approximately
$168.4 million of Term Loan B principal in connection with the Second Amendment, no additional principal payments are required until the remaining
balance is due on Term Loan B's maturity date of July 31, 2019. The revolving credit facility matures on May 31, 2019, at which time any outstanding
principal balance is due in full. As of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, there were no amounts outstanding on the revolving credit facility.
The interest rate on borrowings under Term Loan A is LIBOR plus a 2.50% spread. The spread ranges from 2.00% to 2.75% based on the Company's
total leverage ratio. The interest rate on borrowings under Term Loan B is LIBOR plus a 3.0% spread with a 0.75% floor. The spread ranges from 2.00% to
3.00% based upon either an ABR or LIBOR borrowing. The revolving credit facility margin and commitment fee are subject to the leveraged based pricing
grid, as set forth in the Credit Agreement, as amended.
The total outstanding debt balance is recorded in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets, net of unamortized discount of $15.3
million and $12.3 million as of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, respectively.
As of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, the Company was in compliance with all of the Credit Agreement's debt covenants.
8. INCOME TAXES
The Company’s effective income tax rate was 37.8% and 40.4% for the three months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and 39.1% and
40.4% for the six months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The three and six months effective tax rates of 37.8% and 39.1% differ from the
statutory rate of 35.0% due to state income taxes and the effect of permanent rate differences, which primarily relate to meals and entertainment.
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9. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Other long-term liabilities consisted of the following:
September 30,
2014

March 31,
2014

Income tax reserve

$

57,680
24,906
—
59,948
83,376
11,924

$

Deferred rent
Stock-based compensation liability (Note 13)
Deferred payment obligation
Postretirement benefit obligations
Other
Total other long-term liabilities

57,406
28,527
25,966
60,444
80,527
13,977

$

237,834

$

266,847

As of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, the Company recorded a stock-based compensation liability of $31.8 million and $65.9 million,
respectively, including $31.8 million and $39.9 million, respectively, expected to be paid within one year, related to special dividends paid in July and
December 2009, June and August 2012, November 2013, and February and August 2014. Rollover options vested and not yet exercised that would have had
an exercise price below zero as a result of the dividends were reduced to one cent, with the remaining reduction to be paid in cash upon exercise of the
options. Payments of the special dividends to Equity Incentive Plan, or EIP, option holders is linked to vesting. Refer to Note 13 for further discussion of the
special dividends.
10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Defined Contribution Plan
The Company sponsors the Employees’ Capital Accumulation Plan, or ECAP, which is a qualified defined contribution plan that covers eligible U.S.
and international employees. ECAP provides for distributions, subject to certain vesting provisions, to participants by reason of retirement, death, disability,
or termination of employment. Effective April 1, 2014 the Company transitioned from a discretionary employer contribution to an annual matching
contribution of up to 6% of eligible annual income as determined by the Internal Revenue Code for the ECAP. Total expense recognized under ECAP was
$27.9 million and $40.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and $55.3 million and $82.3 million for the six
months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The Company-paid contributions were $16.6 million and $21.2 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and $38.2 million and $64.4 million for the six months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Defined Benefit Plan and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
The Company maintains and administers a postretirement medical plan and a defined benefit retirement plan for current, retired, and resigned officers.
The components of net postretirement medical expense for the Officer Medical Plan were as follows:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2014

Six Months Ended
September 30,

2013

2014

2013

Service cost

$

$

1,186
159
651

$

2,042
1,784
291

$

Interest cost
Net actuarial loss
Total postretirement medical expense

1,021
892
147

2,372
1,083
1,364

$

2,060

$

1,996

$

4,117

$

4,819

As of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, the unfunded status of the post-retirement medical plan was $78.9 million and $75.9 million,
respectively, which is included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.
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11. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
All amounts recorded in other comprehensive loss are related to the Company's post-retirement plan. The following table represents a rollforward of
amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2014

Beginning of period
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss

2013

$

(6,551)
—
86

$

(6,465)

Net current-period other comprehensive loss

2014

$

(13,363)
747
362

$

(12,254)

86

End of period

Six Months Ended
September 30,
2013

$

(6,636)
—
171

$

(6,465)

1,109

$

(13,787)
747
786

$

(12,254)

171

1,533

The following table presents the reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive loss to net income:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2014

Amortization of net actuarial loss included in net periodic benefit cost (See Note 10)
Total before tax
Tax benefit
Net of tax

Six Months Ended
September 30,

2013

2014

2013

$

144
(58)

$

651
(289)

$

288
(117)

$

1,364
(578)

$

86

$

362

$

171

$

786

12. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock
The common stock shares activity consisted of the following:

Class A
Common Stock

Balance at March 31, 2013
Issuance of common stock
Stock options exercised
Share exchange
Repurchase of common stock (1)
Balance at March 31, 2014
Issuance of common stock
Stock options exercised
Share exchange (3)
Repurchase of common stock (2)
Balance at September 30, 2014

Class B
Non-Voting
Common Stock

Class C
Restricted
Common Stock

Class E
Special Voting
Common Stock

Treasury
Stock

136,457,444
1,047,160
5,299,501
1,157,968
—

1,451,600
—
—
(869,520)
—

1,224,319
—
—
(288,448)
—

7,478,522
—
(3,053,708)
—
—

405,843
—
—
—
203,782

143,962,073
1,267,371
3,044,781
1,517,951
—

582,080
—
—
(582,080)
—

935,871
—
—
(935,871)
—

4,424,814
—
(2,559,196)
—
—

609,625
—
—
—
377,001

—

—

149,792,176

1,865,618

986,626

(1)

Reflects shares repurchased on June 30, 2013 to cover the minimum statutory withholding taxes on restricted stock awards that vested on June 30,
2013 and shares repurchased on multiple dates for the minimum statutory withholding taxes on accelerated restricted stock vesting for departing
officers.

(2)

Reflects shares repurchased on June 30, 2014 to cover the minimum statutory withholding taxes on restricted stock awards that vested on June 30,
2014, shares repurchased on September 12, 2014 to cover for the minimum statutory
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withholding taxes on rollover stock options exercised on September 12, 2014 and shares repurchased on multiple dates for the minimum statutory
withholding taxes on accelerated restricted stock vesting for departing officers.
(3)

At the annual meeting of stockholders held on July 31, 2014, the stockholders approved a proposal to amend and restate the certificate of
incorporation, which had the effect of converting all issued and outstanding shares of Class B Non-Voting Common Stock and Class C Restricted
Common Stock into shares of Class A Common Stock on a one-for-one basis. The conversion was effected on August 13, 2014 when the Company
filed its third amended and restated certificate of incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. As a result of the conversion,
there were no more shares of Class B Non-Voting Common Stock and Class C Restricted Common Stock outstanding at such time.

For the quarterly offering period that closed on September 30, 2014, 54,598 Class A Common Stock shares were purchased by employees under the
Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP. As of the program's inception, 1,412,851 shares have been purchased by employees.
13. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2014

Six Months Ended
September 30,

2013

2014

2013

Cost of revenue

$

$

1,183
3,012

$

4,298
8,589

$

General and administrative expenses
Total

2,261
4,564

2,660
6,681

$

6,825

$

4,195

$

12,887

$

9,341

The following table summarizes the total stock-based compensation expense recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations by the
following types of equity awards:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2014

Six Months Ended
September 30,

2013

2014

2013

Equity Incentive Plan Options

$

1,587
5,238
—
—

$

849
3,346
—
—

$

2,782
10,105
—
—

$

Class A Restricted Common Stock
Rollover Options
Class C Restricted Stock
Total

2,951
5,753
578
59

$

6,825

$

4,195

$

12,887

$

9,341

As of September 30, 2014, there was $40.9 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock-based compensation agreements.
The unrecognized compensation cost as of September 30, 2014 is expected to be amortized over 4.5 years. Absent the effect of accelerating stock
compensation cost for any departures of employees who may continue to vest in their equity awards, the following table summarizes the unrecognized
compensation cost and the weighted average period the cost is expected to be amortized.
September 30, 2014
Unrecognized
Compensation Cost

Equity Incentive Plan Options

$

Class A Restricted Common Stock
Total

6,384
34,559

$

40,943
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Weighted Average Remaining
Period to be Recognized

3.07
3.09

Equity Incentive Plan
As of September 30, 2014, there were 6,645,805 EIP options outstanding, of which 2,344,118 were unvested.
Grants of Class A Restricted Common Stock and Restricted Stock Units
On July 1, 2014 the Board of Directors granted 465,886 Restricted Stock Units in conjunction with the
Annual Incentive Plan adopted on October 1, 2010, or Annual Incentive Plan. The amount of the annual incentive payment was determined based on
performance targets established by the Compensation Committee and a portion of the incentive payment awarded under the Annual Incentive Plan was paid
in the form of Restricted Stock Units. A Restricted Stock Unit represents a contingent right to receive one share of Class A Common Stock upon vesting. The
Restricted Stock Units will vest based on the passage of time, subject to the participant’s continued employment with the Company. The portion to be paid in
the form of Restricted Stock Units will be recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations based on grant date fair value over the
vesting period of 3 years. The aggregate value was estimated at $10.1 million based on the stock price of $21.57 on the grant date.
On July 1, 2014, the Board of Directors granted the Chief Executive Officer 23,282 shares of Class A Restricted Stock in conjunction with the Annual
Incentive Plan. The amount of the annual incentive payment was determined based on performance targets established by the Compensation Committee and
a portion of the bonus awarded under the Annual Incentive Plan to the Chief Executive Officer was paid in the form of Class A Restricted Stock, which vest in
equal annual installments over 3 years. The aggregate value of this award was estimated at $0.5 million based on the stock price of $21.57 on the grant date.
On August 8, 2014, the Board of Directors granted 26,915 shares of Class A Restricted Stock to certain members of the Board of Directors. The
aggregate value of this award was estimated at $0.6 million based on the stock price of $21.18 on the grant date.
On September 2, 2014, the Board of Directors granted 7,238 shares of Class A Restricted Stock to a new member of the Board of Directors. The
aggregate value was estimated at $0.2 million based on the stock price of $22.69 on the grant date.
As permitted under the terms of the Rollover Plan, the Compensation Committee as Administrator of the Plan, authorized the withholding of taxes not
to exceed the minimum statutory withholding amount, through the surrender of shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of Rollover
Options. For those holders who elected to participate, the Company repurchased a total of 159,179 shares and recorded them as treasury shares at a cost of
$3.6 million during the three months ended September 30, 2014.
Special Dividends
The Board of Directors, as the Administrator of the Officers' Rollover Stock Plan and the Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan, have discretion
in how to effect the required adjustment to keep option holders whole in the event of a distribution of dividends that triggers certain anti-dilution clauses
within the respective plans. In the event the Board of Directors elect to grant option holders a cash payment equal to the amount of the special dividend, the
Company accrues a stock-based compensation liability as the respective option's stock compensation expense is recorded in the condensed consolidated
statement of operations. This obligation will be settled on the options' mandatory exercise date for Rollover options and on the later of the date the dividend
is paid or vesting for the EIP options. The stock-based compensation liability includes all special dividends declared.
Total compensation expense recorded in conjunction with the payment of the dividend equivalents to holders of unvested EIP options for the three
months ended September 30, 2014 was $0.7 million. Future compensation expense related to the payment of the dividend equivalents to holders of EIP
options not yet recognized in the statement of operations is $0.7 million and is expected to be recognized over 2.75 years.
As of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, the Company calculated a total recorded and unrecorded stock-based compensation liability of $36.4
million and $73.1 million, respectively, related to the special dividends paid in July and December 2009, June and August 2012, November 2013 and
February and August 2014. The recorded stock-based compensation liability is as follows:
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September 30, 2014
Rollover
Options

EIP Options
Current portion of liability (1)
Long-term portion of liability (2)

March 31, 2014
Total

Rollover
Options

EIP Options

Total

$

3,715
—

$

28,083
—

$

31,798
—

$

3,675
—

$

36,247
25,966

$

39,922
25,966

$

3,715

$

28,083

$

31,798

$

3,675

$

62,213

$

65,888

(1)

Included in accrued compensation and benefits (Note 6).

(2)

Included in other long-term liabilities (Note 9).

As of September 30, 2014, $4.6 million related to EIP options will be recorded as liabilities as the options vest over the next 4.5 years. As of March 31,
2014, there was an unrecognized liability of $7.2 million related to EIP options. There is no unrecorded liability related to Rollover options as of
September 30, 2014 or March 31, 2014, as the Rollover options are fully vested.
14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The accounting standard for fair value measurements establishes a three-tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as
follows: observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets (Level 1); inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either
directly or indirectly (Level 2); and unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which requires the Company to develop its own
assumptions (Level 3).
A financial instrument's level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The
following tables set forth by level represent the fair value of the Company's cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2014.
Fair Value of Cash and Cash Equivalents as of September 30,
2014
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Cash and cash equivalents
Money market funds (1)

$45,842
—

—
$195,982

—
—

$45,842
$195,982

Total cash and cash equivalents

$45,842

$195,982

—

$241,824

The following table set forth by levels represents the fair value of the Company's cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2014.
Fair Value of Cash and Cash Equivalents
as of March 31, 2014
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Cash and cash equivalents
Money market funds (1)

$37,886
—

—
$222,108

—
—

$37,886
$222,108

Total cash and cash equivalents

$37,886

$222,108

—

$259,994

(1) Level two cash and cash equivalents are invested in money market funds that are intended to maintain a stable net asset value of $1.00 per share by
investing in liquid, high quality U.S. dollar-denominated money market instruments. Depending on our short-term liquidity needs, we make regular transfers
between money market funds and other cash equivalents.
The fair value of the Company's trade accounts receivable and accounts payable approximates its carrying value at September 30, 2014 and March 31,
2014 because of the short-term nature of these instruments. The fair value of the Company's debt instruments approximates its carrying value at
September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014. The fair value of debt is determined based on interest rates available for debt with terms and maturities similar to
the Company's existing debt arrangements (Level 2 inputs).
15. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Carlyle Group is the controlling shareholder of the Company. From time to time, and in the ordinary course of business: (1) other Carlyle portfolio
companies engage the Company as a subcontractor or service provider, and (2) the
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Company engages other Carlyle portfolio companies as subcontractors or service providers. Revenue and cost associated with these related parties for the
three months ended September 30, 2014 were $436,000 and $323,000, respectively, and $649,000 and $486,000 for the six months ended September 30,
2014, respectively. Revenue and cost associated with these related parties for the three months ended September 30, 2013 were $71,000 and $58,000,
respectively, and $167,000 and $140,000 for the six months ended September 30, 2013, respectively.
In addition, investment vehicles affiliated with The Carlyle Group participated in a lender syndicate in the Company’s outstanding debt in the amounts
of $47.0 million and $55.5 million at September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, respectively. The participation by such investment vehicles in the
syndication of the Company's debt was done on an arm’s length basis.
On July 31, 2008, the Company entered into a management agreement, or Management Agreement, with TC Group V US, L.L.C., or TC Group, a
company affiliated with Carlyle. On June 7, 2012, TC Group assigned all of its right, title and interest in, and obligations under, the management agreement
to Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C., or Carlyle Investment Management. In accordance with the Management Agreement, Carlyle Investment
Management provides the Company with advisory, consulting, and other services and the Company pays Carlyle Investment Management an aggregate
annual fee of $1.0 million, plus expenses. For the three months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the Company incurred $250,000 in advisory fees. For
the six months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the Company incurred $500,000 in advisory fees in each period.
16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases
As a result of the July 2008 acquisition, as described in the Company’s Annual Report, the Company assigned a total of nine leases to Booz & Co,
which has subsequently changed its name to Strategy&. The Company remains liable for two leases for facilities located in Chicago and London under the
terms of the original leases should Strategy& default on its obligations. All other leases assigned to Strategy& have expired. There were no events of default
under these leases as of September 30, 2014 or March 31, 2014. The maximum potential amount of undiscounted future payments is $11.9 million, and the
leases expire in November 2015 and March 2017. Based on the Company’s assessment of the likelihood of future payment, no amounts have been recorded
related to the Company’s contingent liability on such leases.
Government Contracting Matters
For the three and six months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, approximately 98% of the Company’s revenue was generated from contracts with
U.S. government agencies or other U.S. government contractors. Contracts with the U.S. government are subject to extensive legal and regulatory
requirements and, from time to time and in the ordinary course of business, agencies of the U.S. government investigate whether the Company’s operations
are conducted in accordance with these requirements and the terms of the relevant contracts by using investigative techniques such as subpoenas or civil
investigative demands. U.S. government investigations of the Company, whether related to the Company’s U.S. government contracts or conducted for other
reasons, could result in administrative, civil, or criminal liabilities, including repayments, fines, or penalties being imposed upon the Company, or could lead
to suspension or debarment from future U.S. government contracting. Management believes it has adequately reserved for any losses that may be experienced
from any investigation of which it is aware. The Defense Contract Management Agency Administrative Contracting Officer has negotiated annual final
indirect cost rates through fiscal year 2007. Audits of subsequent years may result in cost reductions and/or penalties. Management believes it has adequately
reserved for any losses that may be experienced from any such reductions and/or penalties. As of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, the Company has
recorded a liability of approximately $196.3 million and $189.8 million, respectively, for its current best estimate of amounts to be refunded to customers for
potential adjustments from such audits or reviews of contract costs incurred subsequent to fiscal year 2007.
Litigation
The Company is involved in legal proceedings and investigations arising in the ordinary course of business, including those relating to employment
matters, relationships with clients and contractors, intellectual property disputes, and other business matters. These legal proceedings seek various remedies,
including claims for monetary damages in varying amounts that currently range up to $40 million or are unspecified as to amount. Although the outcome of
any such matter is inherently uncertain and may be materially adverse, based on current information, management does not expect any of the currently
ongoing audits, reviews, investigations, or litigation to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. As of
September 30, 2014, there are no material amounts accrued in the condensed consolidated financial statements related to these proceedings.
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Six former officers and stockholders who had departed the firm prior to July 31, 2008, the date on which we became majority owned by Carlyle and
certain of its affiliated investment funds, as described in the Company’s Annual Report, or the Acquisition, have filed a total of nine suits in various
jurisdictions, with original filing dates ranging from July 3, 2008 through December 15, 2009 (three of which were amended on July 2, 2010 and then further
amended into one consolidated complaint on September 7, 2010) against the Company and certain of the Company’s current and former directors and
officers. Each of the suits arises out of the Acquisition and alleges that the former stockholders are entitled to certain payments that they would have received
if they had held their stock at the time of the Acquisition. Some of the suits also allege that the Acquisition price paid to stockholders was insufficient. The
various suits assert claims for breach of contract, tortious interference with contract, breach of fiduciary duty, civil Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act, or RICO, violations, violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, and/or securities and common law fraud. Three of these
suits have been dismissed with all appeals exhausted. Five of the remaining suits are pending in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York, and the sixth is pending in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California. As of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014,
the aggregate alleged damages sought in the six remaining suits was approximately $348.7 million ($291.5 million of which is sought to be trebled pursuant
to RICO) plus punitive damages, costs, and fees. Although the outcome of any of these cases is inherently uncertain and may be materially adverse, based on
current information, management does not expect them to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
During October 2014, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement to acquire an informatics company that provides early insights, continuous
monitoring and consumer engagement for a wide range of population health domain. In addition, the Company also entered into an asset purchase
agreement to acquire the assets of a unit of a company that provides IT solutions and strategy for the U.S. government’s Centers for Medicare and Medicaid
Services and other health institutions. Neither acquisition is material under Accounting Standard Codification 805, Business Combinations, nor is either
acquisition considered significant under the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Rule 3-05 of Regulation S-X. Pursuant to the terms of the agreements,
the acquisitions will be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting which requires the total purchase price consideration to be allocated to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on estimates of fair value. The excess of purchase consideration over the amounts assigned to tangible and
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed will be recognized as goodwill.
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Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis is intended to help the reader understand our business, financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity and
capital resources. You should read this discussion in conjunction with our condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes contained
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, or Quarterly Report.
The statements in this discussion regarding industry outlook, our expectations regarding our future performance, liquidity and capital resources, and other
non-historical statements in this discussion are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and
uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the risks and uncertainties described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31,
2014 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 22, 2014, or Annual Report, and under Part II, “Item 1A. Risk Factors,” and “— Special
Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements” of this Quarterly Report. Our actual results may differ materially from those contained in or implied by any
forward-looking statements.
Our fiscal year ends March 31 and, unless otherwise noted, references to years or fiscal are for fiscal years ended March 31. See “—Results of Operations.”
Overview
We are a leading provider of management consulting, technology, and engineering services to the U.S. government in the defense, intelligence, and
civil markets. Additionally, we provide our management and technology consulting services to major corporations, institutions, and not-for-profit
organizations. We are a well-known, trusted and long-term partner to our clients, who seek our expertise and objective advice to address their most important
and complex problems. Leveraging our 100-year consulting heritage and a talent base of approximately 22,100 people, we deploy our deep domain
knowledge, functional expertise, and experience to help our clients achieve their objectives. We have a collaborative culture, supported by our operating
model, which helps our professionals identify and respond to emerging trends across the markets we serve and deliver enduring results for our clients. Today,
we serve substantially all of the cabinet-level departments of the U.S. government. Our major clients include the Department of Defense, all branches of the
U.S. military, the U.S. Intelligence Community, and civil agencies such as the Department of Homeland Security, the Department of Energy, the Department
of Health and Human Services, the Department of the Treasury, and the Environmental Protection Agency. We support these clients in addressing complex
and pressing challenges such as combating global terrorism, improving cyber capabilities, transforming the healthcare system, improving efficiency and
managing change within the government, and protecting the environment. In the commercial sector, we serve U.S. clients primarily in the financial services,
healthcare, and energy markets, and international clients, primarily in the Middle East.
Financial and Other Highlights
During the second quarter of fiscal 2015 we continued to see positive signals in the federal contracting environment, despite revenue declines. Proposal
volume continued at levels higher than seen in the previous comparable period and award activity was seasonally strong to include growth in funded and
unfunded backlog at the close of the federal government's fiscal year. The Company continued to effectively manage indirect costs during the six months
ended September 30, 2014, including a continuing focus on management of our capacity to balance the supply of consulting staff with market demand. This
effective management of indirect costs supports the Company's continued investment in growth areas including the expansion of our commercial and
international markets.
Revenue decreased 5.3% from the three months ended September 30, 2013 to the three months ended September 30, 2014, and decreased 6.4% from the
six months ended September 30, 2013 to the six months ended September 30, 2014 as a result of lower demand primarily driven by continuing macro
challenges in the federal government spending environment and the residual impact of the slower award pace in the months immediately following last
October's government shutdown, which resulted in reductions in consulting staff headcount over the past twelve months. The decline in consulting staff
headcount led to fewer billable hours in total. While our headcount has decreased, the Company has maintained a high level of productivity of consulting
staff. The revenue decline period over period was also attributable to a reduction in billable expenses due to a decline in our use of subcontractors and other
direct expenses incurred to perform on contracts.
Operating income decreased 10.1% to $122.0 million in the three months ended September 30, 2014 from $135.7 million in the three months ended
September 30, 2013, which reflects a 50 basis point decrease in operating margin to 9.3% from 9.8% in the comparable period. Operating income decreased
4.9% to $261.0 million in the six months ended September 30, 2014 from $274.3 million in the six months ended September 30, 2013. Although operating
income decreased, there was a 10 basis point increase in operating margin to 9.9% from 9.8% in the comparable period, which is consistent with the
Company's focus on continued margin improvement. The decline in operating margin period over period was primarily due to lower demand and reductions
in headcount which led to reduced revenue as discussed above. The impact of revenue declines on operating income
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were mitigated by a decline in certain provisions for the potential recovery of allowable expenses recorded during the six months ended September 30, 2014
in comparison to the prior year. In addition, to a lesser extent, decreases in salaries and salary related benefits, including employer retirement plan
contributions, and depreciation and amortization expense contributed to the change in operating margin. As discussed above, while the Company continues
to focus on disciplined cost management of indirect spending, there was an increase in the level of bid and proposal volume and associated spending as
compared to the prior year period which supported our pursuit of new contract opportunities that were expected as we approached the end of the government
fiscal year on September 30, 2014. These actions and an improved award environment resulted in an increase in funded and unfunded backlog at the close of
the government's fiscal year.
Non-GAAP Measures
We publicly disclose certain non-GAAP financial measurements, including Adjusted Operating Income, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Net Income, and
Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share, or Adjusted Diluted EPS, because management uses these measures for business planning purposes, including to
manage our business against internal projected results of operations and measure our performance. We view Adjusted Operating Income, Adjusted EBITDA,
Adjusted Net Income, and Adjusted Diluted EPS as measures of our core operating business, which exclude the impact of the items detailed below, as these
items are generally not operational in nature. These non-GAAP measures also provide another basis for comparing period to period results by excluding
potential differences caused by non-operational and unusual or non-recurring items. We also utilize and discuss Free Cash Flow, because management uses
this measure for business planning purposes, measuring the cash generating ability of the operating business, and measuring liquidity generally. We present
these supplemental measures because we believe that these measures provide investors with important supplemental information with which to evaluate our
performance, long term earnings potential, or liquidity, as applicable, and to enable them to assess our performance on the same basis as management. These
supplemental performance measurements may vary from and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures by other companies in our industry.
Adjusted Operating Income, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted Diluted EPS, and Free Cash Flow are not recognized measurements under
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP, and when analyzing our performance or liquidity, as applicable, investors should
(i) evaluate each adjustment in our reconciliation of operating and net income to Adjusted Operating Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income,
and net cash provided by operating activities to Free Cash Flows, and the explanatory footnotes regarding those adjustments, (ii) use Adjusted Operating
Income, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Net Income, and Adjusted Diluted EPS in addition to, and not as an alternative to, operating income, net income or
diluted EPS, as a measure of operating results, and (iii) use Free Cash Flows in addition to, and not as an alternative to, net cash provided by operating
activities as a measure of liquidity, each as defined under GAAP. We have defined the aforementioned non-GAAP measures as follows:
•

"Adjusted Operating Income" represents operating income before (i) certain stock option-based and other equity-based compensation
expenses, (ii) adjustments related to the amortization of intangible assets, and (iii) any extraordinary, unusual, or non-recurring items. We
prepare Adjusted Operating Income to eliminate the impact of items we do not consider indicative of ongoing operating performance due to
their inherent unusual, extraordinary, or non-recurring nature or because they result from an event of a similar nature.

•

"Adjusted EBITDA" represents net income before income taxes, net interest and other expense, and depreciation and amortization and
before certain other items, including: (i) certain stock option-based and other equity-based compensation expenses, (ii) transaction costs,
fees, losses, and expenses, including fees associated with debt prepayments, and (iii) any extraordinary, unusual, or non-recurring items. We
prepare Adjusted EBITDA to eliminate the impact of items we do not consider indicative of ongoing operating performance due to their
inherent unusual, extraordinary, or non-recurring nature or because they result from an event of a similar nature.

•

"Adjusted Net Income" represents net income before: (i) certain stock option-based and other equity-based compensation expenses,
(ii) transaction costs, fees, losses, and expenses, including fees associated with debt prepayments, (iii) adjustments related to the
amortization of intangible assets, (iv) amortization or write-off of debt issuance costs and write-off of original issue discount, and (v) any
extraordinary, unusual, or non-recurring items, in each case net of the tax effect calculated using an assumed effective tax rate. We prepare
Adjusted Net Income to eliminate the impact of items, net of tax, we do not consider indicative of ongoing operating performance due to
their inherent unusual, extraordinary, or non-recurring nature or because they result from an event of a similar nature.

•

"Adjusted Diluted EPS" represents diluted EPS calculated using Adjusted Net Income as opposed to net income. Additionally, Adjusted
Diluted EPS does not contemplate any adjustments to net income as required under the two-class method as disclosed in the footnotes to
the financial statements.
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•

"Free Cash Flow" represents the net cash generated from operating activities less the impact of purchases of property and equipment.

Below is a reconciliation of Adjusted Operating Income, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted Diluted EPS, and Free Cash Flow to the
most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP.
Three Months Ended
September 30,
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

2014

Six Months Ended
September 30,

2013

2014

(Unaudited)

Adjusted Operating Income
Operating Income
Certain stock-based compensation expense (a)
Amortization of intangible assets (b)
Transaction expenses (c)
Adjusted Operating Income

2013
(Unaudited)

$

121,983
—
1,056
—

$

135,667
—
2,112
—

$

261,006
—
2,112
2,039

$

274,340
1,094
4,225
—

$

123,039

$

137,779

$

265,157

$

279,659

$

65,284
39,689
17,010
15,810

$

67,813
45,985
21,869
18,102

$

136,399
87,623
36,984
32,042

$

138,126
93,687
42,527
36,432

EBITDA & Adjusted EBITDA
Net income
Income tax expense
Interest and other, net
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA
Certain stock-based compensation expense (a)
Transaction expenses (c)
Adjusted EBITDA

137,793
—
—

153,769
—
—

293,048
—
2,039

310,772
1,094
—

$

137,793

$

153,769

$

295,087

$

311,866

$

65,284
—
1,056
—

$

67,813
—
2,112
—

$

136,399
—
2,112
2,039

$

138,126
1,094
4,225
—

Adjusted Net Income
Net income
Certain stock-based compensation expense (a)
Amortization of intangible assets (b)
Transaction expenses (c)
Amortization or write-off of debt issuance costs and write-off of
original issue discount
Adjustments for tax effect (d)
Adjusted Net Income

1,301
(943)
$

66,698

1,705
(1,527)
$

70,103

3,961
(3,245)
$

141,266

3,355
(3,470)
$

143,330

Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share
Weighted-average number of diluted shares outstanding
Adjusted Net Income Per Diluted Share (e)

150,403,896
$

0.44

148,505,826
$

0.47

149,537,560
$

0.94

147,257,574
$

0.97

Free Cash Flow
Net cash provided by operating activities
Less: Purchases of property and equipment
Free Cash Flow
(a)

(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

$

108,803
(6,279)

$

65,762
(4,288)

$

200,529
(8,931)

$

139,609
(6,718)

$

102,524

$

61,474

$

191,598

$

132,891

Reflects stock-based compensation expense for options for Class A Common Stock and restricted shares, in each case, issued in connection with the
Acquisition of our Company by The Carlyle Group (the Acquisition) under the Officers' Rollover Stock Plan. Also reflects stock-based
compensation expense for Equity Incentive Plan Class A Common Stock options issued in connection with the Acquisition under the Equity
Incentive Plan.
Reflects amortization of intangible assets resulting from the Acquisition.
Reflects debt refinancing costs incurred in connection with the refinancing transaction consummated on May 7, 2014.
Reflects tax effect of adjustments at an assumed marginal tax rate of 40%.
Excludes an adjustment of approximately $2.5 million and $2.7 million of net earnings for the three and six months ended September 30, 2014, and
excludes an adjustment of approximately $642,000 and $1.2 million of net earnings for the three and six months ended September 30, 2013
respectively, associated with the application of the two-class method for computing diluted earnings per share.
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Recent Developments
The following recent development occurred after September 30, 2014, which may cause our future results of operations to differ from our historical
results of operations discussed under “— Results of Operations.”
During October 2014, we entered into a stock purchase agreement to acquire an informatics company that provides early insights, continuous
monitoring and consumer engagement for a wide range of population health domain. In addition, we also entered into an asset purchase agreement to acquire
the assets of a unit of a company that provides IT solutions and strategy for the U.S. government’s Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services and other
health institutions. Neither acquisition is material under Accounting Standard Codification 805, Business Combinations, nor is either acquisition considered
significant under the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Rule 3-05 of Regulation S-X. Pursuant to the terms of the agreements, the acquisitions will be
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting which requires the total purchase price consideration to be allocated to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on estimates of fair value. The excess of purchase consideration over the amounts assigned to tangible and intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed will be recognized as goodwill.
Factors and Trends Affecting Our Results of Operations
Our results of operations have been, and we expect them to continue to be, affected by the following factors, which may cause our future results of
operations to differ from our historical results of operations discussed under “— Results of Operations.”
Business Environment and Key Trends in Our Markets
We believe that the following trends and developments in the U.S. government services industry and our markets may influence our future results of
operations:
•

budget deficits and the growing U.S. national debt increasing pressure on the U.S. government to reduce federal spending across all federal
agencies together with associated uncertainty about the size and timing of those reductions;

•

changes in the relative mix of overall U.S. government spending and areas of spending growth, with lower spending on homeland security,
intelligence and defense-related programs as overseas operations end, and continued increased spending on cyber-security, advanced
analytics, technology integration and healthcare;

•

cost cutting and efficiency initiatives, current and future budget reductions, continued implementation of Congressionally mandated
automatic spending cuts, and other efforts to reduce U.S. government spending, which could cause clients to reduce or delay funding for
orders for services or invest appropriated funds on a less consistent or rapid basis or not at all, particularly when considering long-term
initiatives and in light of uncertainty around Congressional efforts to craft a long-term agreement on the U.S. government's ability to incur
indebtedness in excess of its current limits and generally in the current political environment, not issue task orders in sufficient volume to
reach current contract ceilings, alter historical patterns of contract awards, including the typical increase in the award of task orders or
completion of other contract actions by the U.S. government in the period before the end of the U.S. government's fiscal year on September
30, delay requests for new proposals and contract awards, rely on short-term extensions and funding of current contracts, or reduce staffing
levels and hours of operation;

•

current and continued uncertainty around the timing, extent, nature and effect of Congressional and other U.S. government action to
address budgetary constraints, the outcome of Congressional efforts to craft a long-term agreement on the U.S. government’s ability to incur
indebtedness in excess of its current limits and the U.S. deficit, including, the required reductions under the Budget Control Act of 2011 (as
amended by the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 and the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014), which provides for automatic
spending cuts totaling approximately $1.2 trillion between 2013 and 2021, and the extension of the Temporary Debt Limit Extension Act,
which is currently scheduled to expire on March 15, 2015;

•

delays in the completion of future U.S. government’s budget processes, which have in the past and could in the future delay procurement of
the products, services, and solutions we provide;

•

increased audit, review, investigation and general scrutiny by U.S. government agencies of government contractors' performance under U.S.
government contracts and compliance with the terms of those contracts and applicable laws;
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•

the implementation by U.S. government agencies of approximately $64 billion and $90 billion in mandated 2014 and 2015 sequestration
spending cuts, respectively, including an estimated $30 billion and $45 billion in cuts to the Department of Defense, respectively;

•

the federal focus on refining the definition of “inherently governmental” work, including proposals to limit contractor access to sensitive or
classified information and work assignments, which will continue to drive pockets of insourcing in various agencies, particularly in the
intelligence market;

•

negative publicity and increased scrutiny of government contractors in general, including us, relating to U.S. government expenditures for
contractor services and incidents involving the mishandling of sensitive or classified information;

•

cost cutting and efficiency and effectiveness efforts by U.S. civilian agencies with a focus on increased use of performance measurement,
“program integrity” efforts to reduce waste, fraud and abuse in entitlement programs, and renewed focus on improving procurement
practices for and interagency use of IT services, including through the use of cloud based options and data center consolidation;

•

U.S. government agencies awarding contracts on a technically acceptable/lowest cost basis, which could have a negative impact on our
ability to win certain contracts;

•

as a result of the U.S. government's efforts to reduce outlays for contractor costs, we may see a continuing shift toward placement of our
consulting staff at client site locations instead of our facilities, which generally results in lower billing rates and could have a negative
impact on our revenue;

•

restrictions by the U.S. government on the ability of federal agencies to use lead system integrators, in response to cost, schedule and
performance problems with large defense acquisition programs where contractors were performing the lead system integrator role;

•

increasingly complex requirements of the Department of Defense and the U.S. Intelligence Community, including cyber-security, managing
federal health care cost growth and focus on reforming existing government regulation of various sectors of the economy, such as financial
regulation and healthcare;

•

increased competition from other government contractors and market entrants seeking to take advantage of certain of the trends identified
above;

•

legislative and regulatory changes to limitations on the amount of allowable executive compensation permitted under flexibly priced
contracts following implementation of interim rules adopted by federal agencies pursuant to the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2013 published
on June 24, 2014, which substantially further reduce the amount of allowable executive compensation under these contracts and extend
these limitations to a larger segment of our executives and our entire contract base; and

•

efforts by the U.S. government to address organizational conflicts of interest and related issues and the impact of those efforts on us and our
competitors.

Sources of Revenue
Substantially all of our revenue is derived from services provided under contracts and task orders with the U.S. government, primarily by our consulting
staff and, to a lesser extent, our subcontractors. Funding for our contracts and task orders is generally linked to trends in budgets and spending across various
U.S. government agencies and departments. We provide services under a large portfolio of contracts and contract vehicles to a broad client base, and we
believe that our diversified contract and client base lessens potential volatility in our business; however, a reduction in the amount of services that we are
contracted to provide to the U.S. government or any of our significant U.S. government clients could have a material adverse effect on our business and
results of operations. In particular, the Department of Defense is one of our significant clients, and the Budget Control Act of 2011 (as amended by the
American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 and the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014), provides for automatic spending cuts totaling approximately $1.2
trillion between 2013 and 2021, and requires an estimated $500 billion in federal defense spending cuts over this time period. Under the Budget Control Act,
as amended, approximately $64 billion and $90 billion in spending cuts are mandated for fiscal 2014 and 2015, respectively, and the Department of Defense
has estimated its share of these cuts at $30 billion and $45 billion, respectively. A reduction in the amount of services that we are contracted to provide to the
Department of Defense could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations, and given the uncertainty of when and how these
automatic reductions may be applied, we are unable to predict the nature or magnitude of the potential adverse effect.
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Contract Types
We generate revenue under the following three basic types of contracts:
•

Cost-Reimbursable Contracts. Cost-reimbursable contracts provide for the payment of allowable costs incurred during
performance of the contract, up to a ceiling based on the amount that has been funded, plus a fee. As we increase or decrease our
spending on allowable costs, our revenue generated on cost-reimbursable contracts will increase, up to the ceiling and funded
amounts, or decrease respectively. We generate revenue under two general types of cost-reimbursable contracts: cost-plus-fixed-fee
and cost-plus-award-fee, both of which reimburse allowable costs and provide for a fee. The fee under each type of costreimbursable contract is generally payable upon completion of services in accordance with the terms of the contract. Cost-plusfixed-fee contracts offer no opportunity for payment beyond the fixed fee. Cost-plus-award-fee contracts also provide for an award
fee that varies within specified limits based upon the client’s assessment of our performance against a predetermined set of criteria,
such as targets for factors like cost, quality, schedule, and performance.

•

Time-and-Materials Contracts. Under a time-and-materials contract, we are paid a fixed hourly rate for each direct labor hour
expended, and we are reimbursed for billable material costs and billable out-of-pocket expenses inclusive of allocable indirect
costs. To the extent our actual direct labor including allocated indirect costs, and associated billable expenses decrease or increase
in relation to the fixed hourly billing rates provided in the contract, we will generate more or less profit, respectively, or could
incur a loss.

•

Fixed-Price Contracts. Under a fixed-price contract, we agree to perform the specified work for a pre-determined price. To the
extent our actual direct and allocated indirect costs decrease or increase from the estimates upon which the price was negotiated,
we will generate more or less profit, respectively, or could incur a loss. Some fixed-price contracts have a performance-based
component, pursuant to which we can earn incentive payments or incur financial penalties based on our performance. Fixed-price
level of effort contracts require us to provide a specified level of effort (i.e., labor hours), over a stated period of time, for a fixed
price.

The amount of risk and potential reward varies under each type of contract. Under cost-reimbursable contracts, there is limited financial risk, because we
are reimbursed for all allowable costs up to a ceiling. However, profit margins on this type of contract tend to be lower than on time-and-materials and fixedprice contracts. Under time-and-materials contracts, we are reimbursed for the hours worked using the predetermined hourly rates for each labor category. In
addition, we are typically reimbursed for other contract direct costs and expenses at cost. We assume financial risk on time-and-materials contracts because
our labor costs may exceed the negotiated billing rates. Profit margins on well-managed time-and-materials contracts tend to be higher than profit margins on
cost-reimbursable contracts as long as we are able to staff those contracts with people who have an appropriate skill set. Under fixed-price contracts, we are
required to deliver the objectives under the contract for a pre-determined price. Compared to time-and-materials and cost-reimbursable contracts, fixed-price
contracts generally offer higher profit margin opportunities because we receive the full benefit of any cost savings but generally involve greater financial risk
because we bear the impact of any cost overruns. In the aggregate, the contract type mix in our revenue for any given period will affect that period's
profitability. The table below presents the percentage of total revenue for each type of contract:
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Cost-reimbursable (1)
Time-and-materials
Fixed-price (2)
(1)
(2)

Six Months Ended
September 30,

2014

2013

2014

2013

55%
26%
19%

55%
29%
16%

56%
26%
18%

55%
30%
15%

Includes both cost-plus-fixed-fee and cost-plus-award-fee contracts.
Includes fixed-price level of effort contracts.
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Contract Diversity and Revenue Mix
We provide services to our clients through a large number of single award contracts and contract vehicles and multiple award contract vehicles. Most of
our revenue is generated under indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity, or ID/IQ, contract vehicles, which include multiple award government wide
acquisition contract vehicles, or GWACs, and General Services Administration Multiple Award Schedule Contracts, or GSA schedules, and certain single
award contracts. GWACs and GSA schedules are available to all U.S. government agencies. Any number of contractors typically compete under multiple
award ID/IQ contract vehicles for task orders to provide particular services, and we earn revenue under these contract vehicles only to the extent that we are
successful in the bidding process for task orders.
We generate revenue under our contracts and task orders through our provision of services as both a prime contractor and subcontractor, as well as from
the provision of services by subcontractors under contracts and task orders for which we act as the prime contractor. The mix of these types of revenue affects
our operating margin. Substantially all of our operating margin is derived from direct consulting staff labor, as the portion of our operating margin derived
from fees we earn on services provided by our subcontractors is not significant. We view growth in direct consulting staff labor as the primary driver of
earnings growth. Direct consulting staff labor growth is driven by consulting staff headcount growth, after attrition, and total backlog growth.
Our People
Revenue from our contracts is derived from services delivered by consulting staff and, to a lesser extent, from our subcontractors. Our ability to hire,
retain, and deploy talent with skills appropriately aligned with client needs is critical to our ability to grow our revenue. We continuously evaluate whether
our talent base is properly sized and appropriately compensated, and contains an optimal mix of skills to be cost competitive and meet the rapidly evolving
needs of our clients.We seek to achieve that result through recruitment and management of capacity and compensation. As of September 30, 2014 and 2013,
we employed approximately 22,100 and 23,200 people, respectively, of which approximately 20,100 and 21,000, respectively, were consulting staff.
Contract Backlog
We define backlog to include the following three components:
•

Funded Backlog. Funded backlog represents the revenue value of orders for services under existing contracts for which funding is
appropriated or otherwise authorized less revenue previously recognized on these contracts.

•

Unfunded Backlog. Unfunded backlog represents the revenue value of orders for services under existing contracts for which funding has not
been appropriated or otherwise authorized.

•

Priced Options. Priced contract options represent 100% of the undiscounted revenue value of all future contract option periods under
existing contracts that may be exercised at our clients’ option and for which funding has not been appropriated or otherwise authorized.

Backlog does not include any task orders under ID/IQ contracts, including GWACs and GSA schedules, except to the extent that task orders have been
awarded to us under those contracts.
The following table summarizes the value of our contract backlog at the respective dates presented:
As of September 30,
2014

2013
(In millions)

Backlog:
Funded
Unfunded (1)
Priced options
Total backlog
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$

3,337
2,844
4,711

$

3,220
2,758
5,673

$

10,892

$

11,651

(1)

Reflects a reduction by management to the revenue value of orders for services under one existing single award ID/IQ contract the
Company has had for several years, based on an established pattern of funding under these contracts by the U.S. government.

Our backlog includes orders under contracts that in some cases extend for several years. The U.S. Congress generally appropriates funds for our clients
on a yearly basis, even though their contracts with us may call for performance that is expected to take a number of years. As a result, contracts typically are
only partially funded at any point during their term and all or some of the work to be performed under the contracts may remain unfunded unless and until the
U.S. Congress makes subsequent appropriations and the procuring agency allocates funding to the contract.
We view growth in total backlog and consulting staff headcount as the two key measures of our potential business growth. Growing and deploying
consulting staff is the primary means by which we are able to achieve profitable revenue growth. To the extent that we are able to hire additional consulting
staff and deploy them against funded backlog, we generally recognize increased revenue. Total backlog decreased by 6.5% from September 30, 2013 to
September 30, 2014. Additions to funded backlog during the twelve months ended September 30, 2014 remained consistent, totaling $5.4 billion in
comparison to $5.4 billion for the comparable period, as a result of the conversion of unfunded backlog to funded backlog, the award of new contracts and
task orders under which funding was appropriated, and the exercise and subsequent funding of priced options. We report internally on our backlog on a
monthly basis and review backlog upon occurrence of certain events to determine if any adjustments are necessary.
We cannot predict with any certainty the portion of our backlog that we expect to recognize as revenue in any future period and we cannot guarantee
that we will recognize any revenue from our backlog. The primary risks that could affect our ability to recognize such revenue on a timely basis or at all are:
program schedule changes, contract modifications, and our ability to assimilate and deploy new consulting staff against funded backlog; cost cutting
initiatives and other efforts to reduce U.S. government spending, which could reduce or delay funding for orders for services; and delayed funding of our
contracts due to delays in the completion of the U.S. government's budgeting process and the use of continuing resolutions by the U.S. government to fund
its operations. Funded backlog includes orders under contracts for which the period of performance has expired, and we may not recognize revenue on the
funded backlog that includes such orders due to, among other reasons, the tardy submission of invoices by our subcontractors and the expiration of the
relevant appropriated funding in accordance with a pre-determined expiration date such as the end of the U.S. government's fiscal year. The revenue value of
orders included in funded backlog that has not been recognized as revenue due to period of performance expirations has not exceeded approximately 6.7% of
funded backlog as of the end of any of the four fiscal quarters preceding the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2014. In our recent experience, none of the
following additional risks have had a material negative effect on our ability to realize revenue from our funded backlog: the unilateral right of the U.S.
government to cancel multi-year contracts and related orders or to terminate existing contracts for convenience or default; in the case of unfunded backlog,
the potential that funding will not be made available; and, in the case of priced options, the risk that our clients will not exercise their options.
Operating Costs and Expenses
Costs associated with compensation and related expenses for our people are the most significant component of our operating costs and expenses. The
principal factors that affect our costs are additional people as we grow our business and are awarded new contracts, task orders, and additional work under our
existing contracts, and the hiring of people with specific skill sets and security clearances as required by our additional work.
Our most significant operating costs and expenses are described below.
•

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue includes direct labor, related employee benefits, and overhead. Overhead consists of indirect costs,
including indirect labor relating to infrastructure, management and administration, and other expenses.

•

Billable Expenses. Billable expenses include direct subcontractor expenses, travel expenses, and other expenses incurred to perform on
contracts.

•

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses include indirect labor of executive management and corporate
administrative functions, marketing and bid and proposal costs, and other discretionary spending.
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•

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization includes the depreciation of computers, leasehold improvements, furniture
and other equipment, and the amortization of internally developed software, as well as third-party software that we use internally, and of
identifiable long-lived intangible assets over their estimated useful lives.

Seasonality
The U.S. government's fiscal year ends on September 30 of each year. While not certain, it is not uncommon for U.S. government agencies to award extra
tasks or complete other contract actions in the weeks before the end of its fiscal year in order to avoid the loss of unexpended fiscal year funds. In addition,
we also have historically experienced higher bid and proposal costs in the months leading up to the U.S. government's fiscal year end as we pursue new
contract opportunities being awarded shortly after the U.S. government fiscal year end as new opportunities are expected to have funding appropriated in the
U.S. government's subsequent fiscal year. We may continue to experience this seasonality in future periods, and our future periods may be affected by it.
While not certain, changes in the government's funding and spending patterns have altered historical seasonality trends, supporting our approach to
managing the business on an annual basis.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies
There have been no material changes during the period covered by this Quarterly Report to the information disclosed in the Critical Accounting
Estimates and Policies section in Part II, “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of our Annual
Report.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued a new standard that will replace existing revenue recognition standards and
significantly expand the disclosure requirements for revenue arrangements. The new standard will be effective for the Company beginning on April 1, 2017
(i.e., beginning with the first quarter fiscal 2018 interim financial statements). The new standard may be adopted retrospectively for all periods presented, or
adopted using a modified retrospective approach. Under the retrospective approach, the fiscal 2017 and 2016 financial statements would be adjusted to
reflect the effects of applying the new standard on those periods. Under the modified retrospective approach, the new standard would only be applied for the
period beginning April 1, 2017 to new contracts and those contracts that are not yet complete at April 1, 2017, with a cumulative catch-up adjustment
recorded to beginning retained earnings for existing contracts that still require performance. We are still in the process of determining which transition
method to utilize in order to apply the new standard and still assessing what effect the application of this standard may have on the timing of our revenue
recognition and our financial statements.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth items from our condensed consolidated statements of operations for the periods indicated:
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Percent

2014

2013

Change

(Unaudited)

(Unaudited)

(In thousands)

Revenue
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue
Billable expenses
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating costs and expenses

$

Operating income
Interest expense
Other, net
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income

$

1,304,841

$

Six Months Ended
September 30,
2014

2013

(Unaudited)

(Unaudited)

Percent
Change

(In thousands)

1,378,020

642,425
347,651
176,972
15,810

685,138
365,632
173,481
18,102

1,182,858

1,242,353

(5.3)% $

2,627,138

$

2,805,711

(6.4)%

(6.2)%
(4.9)%
2.0 %
(12.7)%

1,287,426
698,623
348,041
32,042

1,386,610
763,520
344,809
36,432

(7.2)%
(8.5)%
0.9 %
(12.0)%

(4.8)%

2,366,132

2,531,371

(6.5)%

121,983
(17,817)
807

135,667
(20,175)
(1,694)

(10.1)%
(11.7)%
(147.6)%

261,006
(36,681)
(303)

274,340
(40,887)
(1,640)

(4.9)%
(10.3)%
(81.5)%

104,973
39,689

113,798
45,985

(7.8)%
(13.7)%

224,022
87,623

231,813
93,687

(3.4)%
(6.5)%

138,126

(1.3)%

65,284

$

67,813

(3.7)% $

136,399

$

Three Months Ended September 30, 2014 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2013
Revenue
Revenue decreased to $1,304.8 million from $1,378.0 million, or a 5.3% decrease as a result of lower demand primarily driven by continuing macro
challenges in the federal government spending environment and the residual impact of the slower award pace in the months immediately following last
October's government shutdown, which resulted in reductions in consulting staff headcount. While the decline in consulting staff headcount led to fewer
billable hours in total, the Company maintained a high level of productivity of consulting staff, which continues to help offset the headcount reductions and
reduces the ratio of indirect costs to direct labor. The revenue decline period over period was also attributable to a reduction in billable expenses due to a
decline in our use of subcontractors and other direct expenses incurred to perform on contracts. Conversions to funded backlog during the twelve months
ended September 30, 2014 and the twelve months ended September 30, 2013 totaled $5.4 billion for both periods. The revenue conversion was a result of the
conversion of unfunded backlog to funded backlog, the award of new contracts and task orders under which funding was appropriated, and the exercise and
subsequent funding of priced options.
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue decreased to $642.4 million from $685.1 million, or a 6.2% decrease. This decrease was primarily due to a decrease in salaries and
salary-related benefits of $32.3 million and a decrease in employer retirement plan contributions of $13.1 million. The decrease in salaries and salary-related
benefits was primarily due to reduced headcount in direct consulting staff. The decrease in employer retirement plan contributions was due to a decrease in
the Company's expected discretionary employer contribution percentage due to a change to the matching program effective April 1, 2014, as well as the
reduced headcount noted above. Cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue was 49.2% and 49.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.
Billable Expenses
Billable expenses decreased to $347.7 million from $365.6 million, or a 4.9% decrease. The overall decrease was primarily due to decreases in
subcontractor-related expenses and other direct expenses of $21.5 million incurred to perform on contracts. Direct subcontractor related expenses decreased
due to lower demand. Billable expenses as a percentage of revenue were 26.6% and 26.5% for the three months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.
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General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses increased to $177.0 million from $173.5 million, or a 2.0% increase. This increase was primarily due to increases
in incentive compensation of $2.0 million, offset by decreases in salaries and salary-related benefits of $3.3 million and employer retirement plan
contributions of $1.2 million. In addition, the prior year period included a release of a provision of approximately $3.8 million for a contingency that was
settled, for which a similar event was not present in the current period. The decrease in salaries and salary-related benefits was primarily driven by the net
reduction in our headcount. The decrease in employer retirement plan contributions was due to a decrease in the Company's expected discretionary employer
contribution percentage due to a change to the matching program effective April 1, 2014, as well as the reduced headcount noted above. General and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue were 13.6% and 12.6% for the three months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization decreased to $15.8 million from $18.1 million, or an 12.7% decrease primarily due to a reduction in amortization of
intangible assets.
Interest Expense
Interest expense decreased to $17.8 million from $20.2 million, or an 11.7% decrease, primarily as a result of the First Amendment to the Credit
Agreement consummated in August 2013 that repriced the outstanding Term Loan B indebtedness which generated a reduction in interest expense for the
three months ended September 30, 2014 as compared to September 30, 2013.
Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense decreased to $39.7 million from $46.0 million, or a 13.7% decrease, primarily due to a decrease in both pre-tax income and the
effective tax rate from 40.4% to 37.8%. The decrease in the effective tax rate primarily relates to state income tax credits recognized during the three months
ended September 30, 2014, which reduced the effective tax rate by approximately 2.7%
Six Months Ended September 30, 2014 Compared to Six Months Ended September 30, 2013
Revenue
Revenue decreased to $2,627.1 million from $2,805.7 million, or a 6.4% decrease as a result of lower demand primarily driven by continuing macro
challenges in the federal government spending environment and the residual impact of the slower award pace in the months immediately following last
October's government shutdown which resulted in reductions in consulting staff headcount. While the decline in consulting staff headcount led to fewer
billable hours in total, the Company maintained a high level of productivity of consulting staff, which continues to help offset the headcount reductions and
reduces the ratio of indirect costs to direct labor. The revenue decline period over period was also attributable to a reduction in billable expenses due to a
decline in our use of subcontractors and other direct expenses incurred to perform on contracts. Conversions to funded backlog during the twelve months
ended September 30, 2014 and the twelve months ended September 30, 2013 both totaled $5.4 billion. The revenue conversion was a result of the conversion
of unfunded backlog to funded backlog, the award of new contracts and task orders under which funding was appropriated, and the exercise and subsequent
funding of priced options.
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue decreased to $1,287.4 million from $1,386.6 million, or a 7.2% decrease. This decrease was primarily due to a decrease in salaries and
salary-related benefits of $73.4 million and a decrease in employer retirement plan contributions of $26.1 million. The decrease in salaries and salary-related
benefits was primarily due to reduced headcount in direct consulting staff. The decrease in employer retirement plan contributions was due to a decrease in
the Company's expected discretionary employer contribution percentage due to a change to the matching program effective April 1, 2014, as well as the
reduced headcount noted above. Cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue was 49.0% and 49.4% for the six months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.
Billable Expenses
Billable expenses decreased to $698.6 million from $763.5 million, or an 8.5% decrease. The overall decrease was primarily due to decreases in
subcontractor-related expenses and other direct expenses of $70.0 million incurred to perform on contracts. Direct subcontractor related expenses decreased
due to lower demand. Billable expenses as a percentage of revenue were 26.6% and 27.2% for the six months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.
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General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses increased to $348.0 million from $344.8 million, or a 0.9% increase. This increase was primarily due to the release
of a provision of approximately $3.8 million in the prior year period for a contingency that was settled, for which a similar event was not present in the
current period. This was partially offset by decreases in employer retirement plan contributions of $2.6 million and salary and salary related benefits of $1.8
million. The decrease in employer retirement plan contributions was due to a decrease in the Company's expected discretionary employer contribution
percentage due to a change to a matching program effective April 1, 2014, as well as reduced headcount. The decrease in salaries and salary-related benefits
was primarily driven by the net reduction in our headcount. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue were 13.2% and 12.3% for the
six months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization decreased to $32.0 million from $36.4 million, or a 12.0% decrease primarily due to a reduction in amortization of
intangible assets.
Interest Expense
Interest expense decreased to $36.7 million from $40.9 million, or a 10.3% decrease, primarily as a result of the First Amendment to the Credit
Agreement consummated in August 2013 that repriced the outstanding Term Loan B indebtedness which generated a reduction in interest expense for the six
months ended September 30, 2014 as compared to September 30, 2013.
Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense decreased to $87.6 million from $93.7 million, or a 6.5% decrease, primarily due to a decrease in both pre-tax income and the
effective tax rate from 40.4% to 39.1% . The decrease in the effective tax rate primarily relates to state income tax credits recognized during the six months
ended September 30, 2014, which reduced the effective tax rate by approximately 1.2%

Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have historically been able to generate sufficient cash to fund our operations, debt payments, capital expenditures, and discretionary funding needs.
We had $241.8 million and $260.0 million in cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, respectively. However, due to
fluctuations in cash flows, including as a result of the trends and developments described above under "—Factors and Trends Affecting Our Results of
Operations" relating to U.S. government cost-cutting, reductions or delays in the U.S. government appropriations and spending process and other budgetary
matters, it may be necessary from time-to-time in the future to borrow under our senior secured loan facilities to meet cash demands. We anticipate that cash
provided by operating activities, existing cash and cash equivalents, and borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facility will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash requirements for the next twelve months, which primarily include:
•

operating expenses, including salaries;

•

working capital requirements to fund the growth of our business;

•

capital expenditures which primarily relate to the purchase of computers, business systems, furniture and leasehold improvements to
support our operations;

•

debt service requirements for borrowings under our senior secured loan facilities; and

•

cash taxes to be paid.

From time to time we evaluate alternative uses for excess cash resources once our operating cash flow needs and required debt amortization have been
met. Some of the possible uses of our remaining excess cash at any point in time may include funding acquisitions, further investment in our business and
voluntary debt prepayments, as well as initiatives intended to return value to stockholders in the form of payment of special dividends and share repurchases.
The Company is currently authorized by the Board of Directors to repurchase up to $30.0 million of our shares, of which no shares have been repurchased as
of September 30, 2014. Any determination to pursue one or more of the above alternative uses for excess cash is subject to
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the discretion of our Board of Directors, and will depend upon various factors, including our results of operations, financial condition, liquidity requirements,
restrictions that may be imposed by applicable law, our contracts, and our senior secured credit agreement, as amended, and other factors deemed relevant by
our Board of Directors.
The following table summarizes the cash distributions recognized in the condensed consolidated statement of cash flows:

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2014

Recurring dividends (1)

2013

2014

2013

$

16,196
147,248
42,325

$

14,273
—
34,044

$

32,244
147,248
46,797

$

28,188
—
47,908

$

205,769

$

48,317

$

226,289

$

76,096

Special dividends (2)
Dividend equivalents (3)
Total distributions

Six Months Ended
September 30,

(1) Amounts represent recurring dividends of $0.11 per share and $0.10 per share that were declared and paid during fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2014, respectively.
(2) Amounts represent a special dividend of $1.00 per share that was declared and paid for during fiscal 2015.
(3) Dividend equivalents are distributions made to option holders equal to the special dividends declared and paid.
On October 29, 2014, we announced a regular quarterly cash dividend in the amount of $0.11 per share, payable on November 28, 2014 to stockholders
of record on November 10, 2014.
For each special dividend declared, the Board of Directors, acting as the Administrator of the Officers' Rollover Stock Plan and the Equity Incentive
Plan, as amended, is required to make a determination under the respective plan's antidilution provision to adjust the outstanding options. In the event the
Board of Directors elects to grant option holders a cash payment equal to the amount of the special dividend, the Company accrues a stock-based
compensation liability as the respective option's stock compensation expense is recorded in the statement of operations. This obligation will be settled on the
options' mandatory exercise date for Rollover options and on the later of the date the dividend is paid or vesting for the EIP options. The stock-based
compensation liability as of September 30, 2014 includes all special dividends declared through September 30, 2014. As of September 30, 2014 and
March 31, 2014, the Company calculated a total recorded and unrecorded stock-based compensation liability of $36.4 million and $73.1 million,
respectively, related to the special dividends paid in July and December 2009, June and August 2012, November 2013, and February and August 2014.
Cash Flows
Cash received from clients, either from the payment of invoices for work performed or for advances in excess of costs incurred, is our primary source of
cash. We generally do not begin work on contracts until funding is appropriated by the client. Billing timetables and payment terms on our contracts vary
based on a number of factors, including whether the contract type is cost-reimbursable, time-and-materials, or fixed-price. We generally bill and collect cash
more frequently under cost-reimbursable and time-and-materials contracts, as we are authorized to bill as the costs are incurred or work is performed. In
contrast, we may be limited to bill certain fixed-price contracts only when specified milestones, including deliveries, are achieved. In addition, a number of
our contracts may provide for performance-based payments, which allow us to bill and collect cash prior to completing the work.
Accounts receivable is the principal component of our working capital and is generally driven by revenue growth with other short-term fluctuations
related to the payment practices of our clients. Our accounts receivable reflect amounts billed to our clients as of each balance sheet date. Our clients
generally pay our invoices within 30 days of the invoice date. At any month-end, we also include in accounts receivable the revenue that was recognized in
the preceding month, which is generally billed early in the following month. Finally, we include in accounts receivable amounts related to revenue accrued
in excess of amounts billed, primarily on our fixed-price and cost-plus-award-fee contracts. The total amount of our accounts receivable can vary
significantly over time, but is generally sensitive to revenue levels. Total accounts receivable (billed and unbilled combined, net of allowance for doubtful
accounts) days sales outstanding or DSO, which we calculate by dividing total accounts receivable by revenue per day during the relevant fiscal quarter, was
59 as of September 30, 2014 and 60 as of March 31, 2014.
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The table below sets forth our net cash flows for the periods presented:
Six Months Ended
September 30,
2014

2013

(Unaudited)

(Unaudited)
(In thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Total (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

$

200,529 $
(8,931)
(209,768)

139,609
(3,155)
(59,615)

$

(18,170) $

76,839

Net Cash from Operating Activities
Net cash from operations is primarily affected by the overall profitability of our contracts, our ability to invoice and collect from clients in a timely
manner, and our ability to manage our vendor payments. Net cash provided by operations was $200.5 million in the six months ended September 30, 2014
compared to $139.6 million in the same prior year period, or a 43.6% increase. The increase in net cash provided by operations was primarily due to the
following:
•

Higher cash collections in fiscal 2015 as compared to fiscal 2014. In the prior year, our cash collections were lower due to less timely payments by
our customers due in part to the government sequestration and staff furloughs, as the government agency payment offices did not have full staff to
process and approve payments. The current year showed a return to a typical volume of cash collections during the U.S. government's fiscal year end.

•

A reduction in accrued compensation for bonuses in fiscal 2015 as compared to fiscal 2014 primarily due to the decline in headcount.

•

An increase in the change in income taxes payable compared to the prior year period due to the timing of the estimated tax payments.

•

A reduction in the volume of outstanding invoices as compared to the prior year which partially offset the increases noted above.
Net Cash from Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $8.9 million in the six months ended September 30, 2014 compared to $3.2 million in the same prior year
period, or a 183.1% increase. The increase in net cash used in investing activities was due to an increase in capital expenditures. In addition the Company
received a purchase price adjustment from a business acquisition, which offset the cash used in investing activities during the six months ended September
30, 2013.
Net Cash from Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities was $209.8 million in the six months ended September 30, 2014 compared to $59.6 million in the same prior year
period, or a 251.9% increase. The increase in net cash used in financing activities was primarily due to an increase in regular and special cash dividends paid
in fiscal 2015 as compared to fiscal 2014.
Indebtedness
On May 7, 2014 the Company entered into the Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2012 (as previously amended by the
First Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2013). As of September 30, 2014, the Credit Agreement provided the Company with an
$830.0 million Term Loan A and an $841.2 million Term Loan B, and a $500.0 million revolving credit facility, with a sublimit for letters of credit of $100.0
million.
Our debt totaled $1,645.5 million and $1,658.9 million as of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, respectively. The interest rate in effect for Term
Loan A was 2.65% and for Term Loan B was 3.75% as of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014. As of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, there were
no amounts outstanding under our revolving credit facility of $500.0 million. As of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, the Company was in
compliance with all of the Credit Agreement's debt covenants.
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Absent any prepayment accelerations of Debt Issuance Costs, or DIC, or the effect of changes in interest rates, the following table summarizes the
estimated annual amortization expense of DIC using the effective interest rate method:
DIC Amortization Expense
Total

Term Loan A
Term Loan B
Revolver
Total

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Thereafter

$

6,896 $
8,275
8,652

883 $
775
925

1,733 $
1,610
1,858

(in thousands)
1,622 $
1,678
1,853

1,463 $
1,752
1,853

1,108 $
1,830
1,853

87
630
310

$

23,823 $

2,583 $

5,201 $

5,153 $

5,068 $

4,791 $

1,027

The Credit Agreement, as amended, requires quarterly principal payments of 1.25% of the stated principal amount of Term Loan A, with annual
incremental increases to 1.875%, 2.50%, 3.125%, and 13.0%, prior to Term Loan A's maturity date of May 31, 2019. As a result of paying approximately
$168.4 million of Term Loan B principal during the May 7, 2014 Second Amendment, no additional principal payments are required until the remaining
balance is due on Term Loan B's maturity date of July 31, 2019. The revolving credit facility matures on May 31, 2019, at which time any outstanding
principal balance is due in full.
The interest rate on borrowings under Term Loan A is LIBOR plus a 2.50% spread. The spread ranges from 2.00% to 2.75% based on the Company's
total leverage ratio. The interest rate on borrowings under Term Loan B is LIBOR plus a 3.0% spread with a 0.75% floor. The spread ranges from 2.00% to
3.00% based upon either an ABR or LIBOR borrowing. The revolving credit facility margin and commitment fee are subject to the leveraged based pricing
grid, as set forth in the Credit Agreement, as amended.
The loans under the Credit Agreement, as amended, are secured by substantially all of our assets and none of such assets will be available to satisfy the
claims of our general creditors. The Credit Agreement, as amended, contains customary representations and warranties and customary affirmative and
negative covenants. The negative covenants are limited to the following, in each case subject to certain exceptions: a maximum net total leverage ratio; a
minimum net interest coverage ratio; limitations on indebtedness and liens; mergers, consolidations or amalgamations, or liquidations, wind-ups or
dissolutions; dispositions of property; restricted payments; investments; transactions with affiliates; sale and lease back transactions; change in fiscal
periods; negative pledges; restrictive agreements; limitations on line of business; limitations on speculative hedging and limitations on changes of names
and jurisdictions. In addition, we are required to meet certain financial covenants at each quarter end, namely Consolidated Net Total Leverage and
Consolidated Net Interest Coverage Ratios. As of September 30, 2014, we were compliant with these covenants.
On September 26, 2014, we accessed $30 million of our $500 million revolving credit facility to support month-end transactions. On September 30, 2014, we
repaid the $30 million borrowed from the revolving credit facility.

Capital Structure and Resources
At the annual meeting of stockholders held on July 31, 2014, the stockholders approved a proposal to amend and restate the Company's certificate of
incorporation, which had the effect of converting all issued and outstanding shares of Class B Non-Voting Common Stock and Class C Restricted Common
Stock into shares of Class A Common Stock on a one-for-one basis. The conversion was effected on August 13, 2014 when the Company filed its third
amended and restated certificate of incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. As a result of the conversion, there were no more shares
of Class B Non-Voting Common Stock and Class C Restricted Common Stock as of September 30, 2014.
Our stockholders’ equity amounted to $164.3 million as of September 30, 2014, a decrease of $7.3 million compared to stockholders’ equity of $171.6
million as of March 31, 2014. The decrease is primarily due to $179.5 million in recurring and special dividend payments and an $8.3 million increase in
treasury stock, partially offset by net income of $136.4 million in the six months ended September 30, 2014, $37.3 million in excess tax benefits for the
exercise of stock options, and stock-based compensation expense.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of September 30, 2014, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
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Capital Expenditures
Since we do not own any of our facilities, our capital expenditure requirements primarily relate to the purchase of computers, business systems,
furniture, and leasehold improvements to support our operations. Direct facility and equipment costs billed to clients are not treated as capital expenses. Our
capital expenditures for the six months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 were $8.9 million and $6.7 million, respectively, and the majority of such
capital expenditures related to facilities infrastructure, equipment, and information technology. Expenditures for facilities infrastructure and equipment are
generally incurred to support new and existing programs across our business. We also incur capital expenditures for information technology to support
programs and general enterprise information technology infrastructure.
Commitments and Contingencies
We are subject to a number of reviews, investigations, claims, lawsuits, and other uncertainties related to our business. For a discussion of these items,
refer to Note 16 to our condensed consolidated financial statements.
Special Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, or Quarterly Report, including information incorporated by reference into this Quarterly Report, contains forwardlooking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “forecasts,”
“expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “projects,” “outlook,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,” “preliminary,” or the negative
of these terms or other comparable terminology. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can
give you no assurance these expectations will prove to have been correct. These forward-looking statements relate to future events or our future financial
performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or
achievements to differ materially from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking
statements.
These risks and other factors include: cost cutting and efficiency initiatives, budget reductions, Congressionally mandated automatic spending cuts,
and other efforts to reduce U.S. government spending, including automatic sequestration required by the Budget Control Act of 2011 (as amended by the
American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 and the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014), which have reduced and delayed contract awards and funding for
orders for services especially in the current political environment or otherwise negatively affect our ability to generate revenue under contract awards,
including as a result of reduced staffing and hours of operation at U.S. government clients; delayed funding of our contracts due to uncertainty relating to and
a possible failure of Congressional efforts to craft a long-term agreement on the U.S. government’s ability to incur indebtedness in excess of its current limits,
or changes in the pattern or timing of government funding and spending (including those resulting from or related to cuts associated with sequestration or
other budgetary cuts made in lieu of sequestration); current and continued uncertainty around the timing, extent, nature, and effect of ongoing Congressional
and other U.S. government action to address budgetary constraints, including, but not limited to, uncertainty around the outcome of Congressional efforts to
craft a long-term agreement on the U.S. government’s ability to incur indebtedness in excess of its current limits, and the U.S. deficit; any issue that
compromises our relationships with the U.S. government or damages our professional reputation, including negative publicity concerning government
contractors in general or us in particular; changes in U.S. government spending, including a continuation of efforts by the U.S. government to decrease
spending for management support service contracts, and mission priorities that shift expenditures away from agencies or programs that we support; the size of
our addressable markets and the amount of U.S. government spending on private contractors; failure to comply with numerous laws and regulations; our
ability to compete effectively in the competitive bidding process and delays or losses of contract awards caused by competitors' protests of major contract
awards received by us; the loss of General Services Administration Multiple Award schedule contracts, or GSA schedules, or our position as prime contractor
on government-wide acquisition contract vehicles, or GWACs; changes in the mix of our contracts and our ability to accurately estimate or otherwise recover
expenses, time, and resources for our contracts; our ability to generate revenue under certain of our contracts; our ability to realize the full value of and
replenish our backlog and the timing of our receipt of revenue under contracts included in backlog; changes in estimates used in recognizing revenue; an
inability to attract, train, or retain employees with the requisite skills, experience, and security clearances; an inability to hire, assimilate, and deploy enough
employees to serve our clients under existing contracts; an inability to timely and effectively utilize our employees; failure by us or our employees to obtain
and maintain necessary security clearances; the loss of members of senior management or failure to develop new leaders; misconduct or other improper
activities from our employees or subcontractors, including the improper use or release of our clients' sensitive or classified information; increased insourcing
by various U.S. government agencies due to changes in the definition of “inherently governmental” work, including proposals to limit contractor access to
sensitive or classified information and work assignments; increased competition from other companies in our industry; failure to maintain strong
relationships with other contractors; inherent uncertainties and potential adverse developments in legal or regulatory proceedings, including litigation,
audits, reviews, and investigations, which may result in materially adverse judgments,
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settlements, withheld payments, penalties, or other unfavorable outcomes including debarment, as well as disputes over the availability of insurance or
indemnification; continued efforts to change how the U.S. government reimburses compensation related and other expenses or otherwise limit such
reimbursements, including recent rules that expand the scope of existing reimbursement limitations, such as a reduction in allowable annual employee
compensation to certain contractors as a result of the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2013, and an increased risk of compensation being deemed unallowable or
payments being withheld as a result of U.S. government audit, review or investigation; internal system or service failures and security breaches, including,
but not limited to, those resulting from external cyber attacks on our network and internal systems; risks related to changes to our operating structure,
capabilities, or strategy intended to address client needs, grow our business or respond to market developments; risks associated with new relationships,
clients, capabilities, and service offerings in our U.S. and international businesses; failure to comply with special U.S. government laws and regulations
relating to our international operations; risks related to our indebtedness and credit facilities which contain financial and operating covenants; the adoption
by the U.S. government of new laws, rules, and regulations, such as those relating to organizational conflicts of interest issues or limits; risks related to
completed and future acquisitions, including our ability to realize the expected benefits from such acquisitions; an inability to utilize existing or future tax
benefits, including those related to our stock-based compensation expense, for any reason, including a change in law; variable purchasing patterns under U.S.
government GSA schedules, blanket purchase agreements and indefinite delivery, indefinite quantity, or ID/IQ, contracts; and other risks and factors
described in Part II, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report.
In light of these risks, uncertainties and other factors, the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report might not prove to be accurate
and you should not place undue reliance upon them. All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made and we undertake no obligation to
update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There have been no material changes during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to the information disclosed in the Quantitative
and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk section in Part II, “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 22,
2014.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Exchange Act, as of the end of
the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, or Quarterly Report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) during the last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings

Our performance under U.S. government contracts and compliance with the terms of those contracts and applicable laws and regulations are subject to
continuous audit, review, and investigation by the U.S. government which may include such investigative techniques as subpoenas or civil investigative
demands. Given the nature of our business, these audits, reviews, and investigations may focus, among other areas, on various aspects of procurement
integrity, labor time reporting, sensitive and/or classified information access and control, executive compensation, and post government employment
restrictions. We are not always aware of our status in such matters, but we are currently aware of certain pending audits and investigations involving labor
time reporting, procurement integrity, and classified information access. In addition, from time to time, we are also involved in legal proceedings and
investigations arising in the ordinary course of business, including those relating to employment matters, relationships with clients and contractors,
intellectual property disputes, and other business matters. These legal proceedings seek various remedies, including claims for monetary damages in varying
amounts that currently range up to $40 million or are unspecified as to amount. Although the outcome of any such matter is inherently uncertain and may be
materially adverse, based on current information, we do not expect any of the currently ongoing audits, reviews, investigations, or litigation to have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. As of September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, there were no material amounts
accrued in the condensed consolidated financial statements related to these proceedings.
Six former officers and stockholders who had departed the firm prior to July 31, 2008, the date on which we became majority owned by The Carlyle
Group and certain of its affiliated investment funds, as described in the Company’s Annual Report, or the Acquisition, have filed a total of nine suits in
various jurisdictions, with original filing dates ranging from July 3, 2008 through December 15, 2009 (three of which were amended on July 2, 2010 and then
further amended into one consolidated complaint on September 7, 2010), against us and certain of our current and former directors and officers. Each of the
suits arises out of the Acquisition and alleges that the former stockholders are entitled to certain payments that they would have received if they had held
their stock at the time of the Acquisition. Some of the suits also allege that the Acquisition price paid to stockholders was insufficient. The various suits assert
claims for breach of contract, tortious interference with contract, breach of fiduciary duty, civil Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, or RICO,
violations, violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act and/or securities and common law fraud. Three of these suits have been dismissed
with all appeals exhausted. Five of the remaining suits are pending in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and the sixth is
pending in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California. The aggregate alleged damages sought in these six remaining suits is
approximately $348.7 million ($291.5 million of which is sought to be trebled pursuant to RICO), plus punitive damages, costs, and fees. Although the
outcome of any of these cases is inherently uncertain and may be materially adverse, based on current information, management does not expect them to have
a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors

There have been no material changes during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to the risk factors disclosed in Part I, Item 1A, of
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 22, 2014.
Item 2.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.
Item 3.

Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.
Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
Item 5.

Other Information

None.
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Item 6.
Exhibit
Number

Exhibits
Description

2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 15, 2008, by and among Booz Allen Hamilton Inc., Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation
(formerly known as Explorer Holding Corporation), Booz Allen Hamilton Investor Corporation (formerly known as Explorer Investor
Corporation), Explorer Merger Sub Corporation and Booz & Company Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333- 167645))

2.2

Spin Off Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2008, by and among Booz Allen Hamilton Inc., Booz & Company Holdings, LLC, Booz & Company
Inc., Booz & Company Intermediate I Inc. and Booz & Company Intermediate II Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-167645))

2.3

Amendment to the Agreement and Plan of Merger and the Spin Off Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2008, by and among Booz Allen Hamilton
Inc., Booz Allen Hamilton Investor Corporation (formerly known as Explorer Investor Corporation), Explorer Merger Sub Corporation, Booz &
Company Holdings, LLC, Booz & Company Inc., Booz & Company Intermediate I Inc. and Booz & Company Intermediate II Inc. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-167645))

3.1

Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation*

3.2

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report for the period ended December 31, 2010 on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-34972))

4.1

Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report for the period ended December 31, 2010 on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-34972))

4.2

Irrevocable Proxy and Tag-Along Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report for the period ended
December 31, 2010 on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-34972))

4.3

Form of Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333167645))

10.1

Management Agreement, by and among Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (formerly known as Explorer Holding Corporation), Booz
Allen Hamilton Inc., and TC Group V US, LLC, dated as of July 31, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-167645))

10.2

Second Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation*

10.3

Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation Officers’ Rollover Stock Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-167645))

10.4

Form of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation Rollover Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-167645))

10.5

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Equity Incentive Plan of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-167645))

10.6

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Equity Incentive Plan of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-167645))

10.7

Form of Subscription Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-167645))

10.8

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Directors under the Equity Incentive Plan of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-167645))

10.9

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Employees under the Equity Incentive Plan of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-167645))
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10.10

Amended and Restated Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation Annual Incentive Plan*

10.11

Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation Officers’ Retirement Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-167645))

10.12

Officer’s Comprehensive Medical and Dental Choice Plans (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-167645))

10.13

Retired Officer’s Comprehensive Medical and Dental Choice Plans (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-167645))

10.14

Group Variable Universal Life Insurance (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-167645))

10.15

Group Personal Excess Liability Insurance (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-167645))

10.16

Annual Performance Bonus Program (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-167645))

10.17

Form of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-167645))

10.18

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Equity Incentive Plan of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Annual Report for the year ended March 31, 2011 on Form 10-K (File No. 001-34972))

10.19

Officer Transition Policy (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Annual Report for the year ended March 31, 2011 on
Form 10-K (File No. 001-34972))

10.20

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Equity Incentive Plan of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Quarterly Report for the period ended December 31, 2011 on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-34972))

10.21

Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Periodic
Report on Form 8-K filed on June 14, 2012 (File No. 001-34972))

10.22

Credit Agreement, by and among Booz Allen Hamilton Inc., as the Borrower, the several lenders from time to time parties thereto, Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent and Issuing Lender, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and Credit
Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC,
Barclays Bank PLC, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Morgan Stanley Senior Funding,
Inc. and Sumimoto Mitsui Banking Corporation, as Joint Bookrunners, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as Syndication Agent, Barclays
Bank PLC, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc.,
Sumimoto Mitsui Banking Corporation and The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., as Co-Documentation Agents, dated as of July 31, 2012
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Periodic Report on Form 8-K filed on August 1, 2012 (File No. 001-34972))

10.23

Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, among Booz Allen Hamilton Investor Corporation, Booz Allen Hamilton Inc., and the Subsidiary
Guarantors party thereto, in favor of Bank of America, N.A., as Collateral Agent, dated as of July 31, 2012 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Periodic Report on Form 8-K filed on August 1, 2012 (File No. 001-34972))

10.24

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2013, by and among Booz Allen Hamilton Inc., as Borrower, Booz Allen
Hamilton Investor Corporation, Booz Allen Hamilton Engineering Holding Co., LLC, Booz Allen Hamilton Engineering Services, LLC, SDI
Technology Corporation, ASE, Inc. and , Booz Allen Hamilton International, Inc., as Guarantors, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative
Agent, Collateral Agent and New Refinancing Tranche B Term Lender, and the other Lenders and financial institutions from time to time party
thereto (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Periodic Report on Form 8-K filed on August 20, 2013 (File No. 00134972))

10.25

Form of Employment Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Company’s Annual Report for the year ended March 31,
2014 on Form 10-K (File No. 001-34972))

10.26

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Company’s Annual Report for the year ended March 31, 2014 on Form 10-K (File No. 00134972))
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10.27

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Equity Incentive Plan of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s Annual Report for the year ended March 31, 2014 on Form 10-K (File No. 001-34972))

10.28

31.1

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2014, among Booz Allen Hamilton Inc., as Borrower, Booz Allen Hamilton
Investor Corporation, Booz Allen Hamilton Engineering Holding Co., LLC, Booz Allen Hamilton Engineering Services, LLC, SDI Technology
Corporation, ASE, Inc. and Booz Allen Hamilton International, Inc., as Guarantors, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Collateral
Agent and Issuing Lender, and the other Lenders and financial institutions from time to time party thereto. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Periodic Report on Form 8-K filed on May 13, 2014 (File No. 001-34972))
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer*

31.2

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer*

32.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350)*

32.2

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350)*

101

The following materials from Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three and six months ended
September 30, 2014 formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at September
30, 2014 and March 31, 2014; (ii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended September 30, 2014
and 2013; (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended September 30, 2014 and
2013; (iv) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three and six months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013; and (v) Notes
to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.**
___________________________________
*
Filed electronically herewith.
**
Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or
prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation
Registrant

Date: October 29, 2014

By:

/s/ Kevin L. Cook
Kevin L. Cook
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 3.1
THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
BOOZ ALLEN HAMILTON HOLDING CORPORATION
Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the “Corporation”), hereby
certifies as follows:
1. The name of the Corporation is Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation.
2. The Corporation was incorporated under the name Explorer Holding Corporation by the filing of its original Certificate of Incorporation with
the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the “Secretary of State”) on May 12, 2008. An Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation was filed
with the Secretary of State on July 30, 2008. A Certificate of Amendment, changing the name of the Corporation from Explorer Holding Corporation to Booz
Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation, was filed with the Secretary of State on September 25, 2009. A Second Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation was filed with the Secretary of State on November 8, 2010.
3. The Corporation’s Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation is hereby amended and restated pursuant to Sections 242 and 245
of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, so as to read in its entirety in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this
reference (Exhibit A and this Certificate collectively constituting the Corporation’s Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation).
4. The amendment and restatement of the Second Amended and Restated Certification of Incorporation of the Corporation has been duly adopted
in accordance with the provisions of Sections 228, 242 and 245 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the Board of Directors of the
Corporation having adopted resolutions setting forth such amendment and restatement, declaring its advisability, and directing that it be submitted to the
stockholders of the Corporation for their approval; and the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be
necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares entitled to vote thereon were present and voted having consented in writing to the
adoption of such amendment and restatement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned officer of the Corporation has executed this Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of
the Corporation on the 13th day of August, 2014.
BOOZ ALLEN HAMILTON HOLDING
CORPORATION
By: /s/ Douglas S. Manya
Name: Douglas S. Manya
Title: Vice President, Deputy General Counsel
and Secretary

EXHIBIT A
THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
BOOZ ALLEN HAMILTON HOLDING CORPORATION
FIRST. Name. The name of the Corporation is Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (the “Corporation”).
SECOND. Registered Office. The Corporation’s registered office in the State of Delaware is located at Corporation Trust Center, 1209
Orange Street in the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle 19801. The name of its registered agent at such address is The Corporation Trust Company.
THIRD. Purpose. The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under
the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.
FOURTH. Capital Stock. The total number of shares of capital stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is 700,000,000,
consisting of:
(a) 600,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share;
(b) 16,000,000 shares of Class B Non-Voting Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share;
(c) 5,000,000 shares of Class C Restricted Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share;
(d) [Reserved]
(e) 25,000,000 shares of Class E Special Voting Common Stock, par value $0.003 per share;
(f) 54,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share.
The stock described in subparagraphs (a), (b), (c) and (e) above is hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “Common Stock” and the stock described in
subparagraph (f) above is hereinafter referred to as the “Preferred Stock”. Upon this Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Corporation becoming effective pursuant to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “Effective Time”), and in each case without any
further action of the Corporation or any stockholder, (i) each share of Class B Non-Voting Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share, issued and outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time, will be automatically reclassified as and converted into an equal number of shares of Class A Common Stock of the
Corporation, par value $0.01 per share and (ii) each share of Class C Restricted Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share, issued and outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time, will be automatically reclassified as and converted into an equal number of shares of Class A Common Stock of the
Corporation, par value $0.01 per share.
FIFTH. Common Stock. The Common Stock shall have the following rights, powers and preferences:
(a) Voting Rights of Common Stock . Except as otherwise provided by ( i ) the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, or ( ii )
Article Sixth or any resolution of the Board of Directors fixing the relative powers (including voting powers, if any), preferences and rights of any
series of Preferred Stock, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, the entire voting power of the shares of the Corporation for the
election of directors and for all other purposes shall be vested exclusively in the Class A Common Stock, Class C Restricted Common Stock and
Class E Special Voting Common Stock (collectively, the “ Voting Common Stock ”). Except as otherwise provided by the General Corporation Law
of the State of Delaware, the holders of the Voting Common Stock, as such, shall vote together as a single class. Except as required by
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the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the holders of Class B Non-Voting Common Stock will have no voting rights of any nature
whatsoever.
(b) Dividend and Liquidation Rights of Common Stock. Except as otherwise provided by (x) the General Corporation Law of the State of
Delaware, or (y) Article Sixth or any resolution of the Board of Directors fixing the relative powers (including voting powers, if any), preferences and
rights of any series of Preferred Stock, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, (i) each share of Common Stock, other than the Class
E Special Voting Common Stock, shall be entitled to participate equally in all dividends or other distributions declared on and payable with respect
to the Common Stock, (ii) each share of Common Stock shall be entitled to share ratably, in proportion to its par value, until such time as there shall
have been distributed an amount equal to each share’s par value, in the distribution of assets of the Corporation in the event of any voluntary or
involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation, or upon any distribution of all or substantially all of the assets of
the Corporation, and (iii) each share of Common Stock, other than the Class E Special Voting Common Stock, shall be entitled to share equally in
the distribution of assets of the Corporation remaining after the distribution described in clause (ii) above in the event of any voluntary or
involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation, or upon any distribution of all or substantially all of the assets of
the Corporation. Shares of the Class E Special Voting Common Stock shall have no rights to receive dividends or other distributions and shall
receive, in connection with any distribution of assets upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the
Corporation, or upon any distribution of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation, solely the amount described in clause (ii) of the
preceding sentence. Upon any merger, recapitalization or like transaction, each share of Common Stock, other than the Class E Special Voting
Stock, shall receive either the same consideration as each other such share or, if the consideration received is common stock, consideration that
differs only in such a manner as is necessary and appropriate to replicate the existing differences among such classes of Common Stock.
(c) Rights and Preferences of Class C Restricted Common Stock. In addition to the terms, rights, restrictions and qualifications set forth
herein, each share of Class C Restricted Common Stock shall be subject to the following:
(i ) Transfer Restrictions. Each share of Class C Restricted Common Stock shall be subject to the restrictions on transfer and
ownership and the related terms and conditions thereof set forth in Section 8 of the Explorer Holding Corporation Officers’ Rollover Stock
Plan (as such plan may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time, the “Officers’ Rollover Stock Plan”) applicable to Class C
Restricted Common Stock, provided , that this subsection (c)(i) of this Article Fifth shall not grant any rights to holders of Class C
Restricted Common Stock under the Officers’ Rollover Stock Plan.
(ii) Repurchase Rights. Each share of Class C Restricted Common Stock shall be subject to the repurchase and conversion rights of
the Corporation and the related terms and conditions thereof set forth in Section 5(c) and Section 10 of the Officers’ Rollover Stock Plan
applicable to Class C Restricted Common Stock.
(iii) Vesting. Shares of Class C Restricted Common Stock shall vest as set forth in the Officers’ Rollover Stock Plan.
(iv) Officers’ Rollover Stock Plan . In addition to the terms, rights, restrictions and qualifications set forth herein, each share of
Class C Restricted Common Stock shall be subject to the terms, rights, restrictions and qualifications set forth in the Officers’ Rollover
Stock Plan applicable to Class C Restricted Common Stock, provided, that this subsection (c)(iv) of this Article Fifth shall not grant any
rights to holders of Class C Restricted Common Stock under the Stockholders Agreement.
(d) [Reserved]
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(e) Rights and Preferences of Class E Special Voting Common Stock . In addition to the terms, rights, restrictions and qualifications set forth
herein, each share of Class E Special Voting Common Stock shall be subject to the following:
(i) Transfer Restrictions. Each share of Class E Special Voting Common Stock shall be subject to the restrictions on transfer and
ownership and the related terms and conditions thereof set forth in Section 8 of the Officers’ Rollover Stock Plan applicable to Class E
Special Voting Common Stock, provided, that this subsection (e)(i) of this Article Fifth shall not grant any rights to holders of Class E
Special Voting Common Stock under the Officers’ Rollover Stock Plan.
(ii) Repurchase Rights. Each share of Class E Special Voting Common Stock shall be subject to the obligation to sell and the
repurchase rights of the Corporation and the related terms and conditions thereof set forth in Section 6 and Section 10 of the Officers’
Rollover Stock Plan applicable to Class E Special Voting Common Stock.
(iii) Officers’ Rollover Stock Plan . In addition to the terms, rights, restrictions and qualifications set forth herein, each share of
Class E Special Voting Common Stock shall be subject to the terms, rights, restrictions and qualifications set forth in the Officers’ Rollover
Stock Plan applicable to Class E Special Voting Common Stock, provided, that this subsection (e)(iii) of this Article Fifth shall not grant
any rights to holders of Class E Special Voting Common Stock under the Stockholders Agreement.
(f) Conversion into Class A Common Stock upon Transfer . In the event of any sale of Common Stock that, but for this subparagraph (f),
would be shares of Class B Non-Voting Common Stock or Class C Restricted Common Stock, as the case may be, pursuant to ( i) the exercise of
Bring-Along Rights by the Carlyle Stockholders pursuant to Section 4 of the Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement of Booz Allen
Hamilton Holding Corporation, dated as of November 8, 2010 (as such agreement may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time, the
“Stockholders Agreement ”), (ii) following the day that is one hundred eighty (180) days (or such shorter or longer period as determined by the
managing underwriters to be appropriate in order to avoid a material adverse impact on marketability or price) after the consummation of the first
underwritten initial public offering of common stock by the Corporation, or (iii) the exercise of registration rights pursuant to Section 6 of the
Stockholders Agreement, such shares of Class B Non-Voting Common Stock or Class C Restricted Common Stock, as the case may be, shall,
effective upon the consummation of such sale, be converted into shares of Class A Common Stock, provided , that clause (ii) of this subsection (f)
shall not apply to shares of Class C Restricted Common Stock that have not vested at the time of the consummation of such sale.
SIXTH. Preferred Stock. The Preferred Stock may be issued, from time to time, in one or more series as authorized by the Board of Directors.
Prior to issuance of a series of Preferred Stock, the Board of Directors by resolution shall designate that series to distinguish it from other series and classes of
stock of the Corporation, shall specify the number of shares to be included in the series, and shall fix the voting powers (full, limited or no voting powers) and
the designations, preferences and relative participating, optional or other special rights of that series, and the qualifications limitations or restrictions thereof,
including, without limitation any dividend rights and redemption, sinking fund and conversion rights. Subject to the express terms of any other series of
Preferred Stock outstanding at the time, the Board of Directors may increase or decrease the number of shares or alter the designation or classify or reclassify
any unissued shares of a particular series of Preferred Stock by fixing or altering in any one or more respects from time to time before issuing the shares any
terms, rights, restrictions and qualifications of the shares.
SEVENTH. Management of Corporation. The following provisions are inserted for the management of the business and for the conduct of
the affairs of the Corporation and for the purpose of creating, defining, limiting and regulating the powers of the Corporation and its directors and
stockholders:
(a) The directors of the Corporation, subject to any rights of the holders of shares of any class or series of Preferred Stock to elect directors,
shall be classified with respect to the time for which they severally hold office into three classes, as nearly equal in number as possible. One class’s
initial term will expire at the
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first annual meeting of the stockholders following the effectiveness of this Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, another class’s
initial term will expire at the second annual meeting of the stockholders following the effectiveness of this Third Amended and Restated Certificate
of Incorporation and another class’s initial term will expire at the third annual meeting of stockholders following the effectiveness of this Third
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, with directors of each class to hold office until their successors are duly elected and qualified,
provided that the term of each director shall continue until the election and qualification of a successor and be subject to such director’s earlier
death, resignation or removal. At each annual meeting of stockholders of the Corporation beginning with the first annual meeting of stockholders
following the filing of this Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, subject to any rights of the holders of shares of any class or
series of Preferred Stock, the successors of the directors whose term expires at that meeting shall be elected to hold office for a term expiring at the
annual meeting of stockholders held in the third year following the year of their election. In the case of any increase or decrease, from time to time,
in the number of directors of the Corporation, the number of directors in each class shall be apportioned as nearly equal a possible. No decrease in
the number of directors shall shorten the term of any incumbent director.
(b) Subject to any special rights of any holders of any class or series of Preferred Stock to elect directors, the precise number of directors of
the Corporation shall be fixed, and may be altered from time to time, only by resolution of the Board of Directors.
(c) Subject to this Article Seventh, the election of directors may be conducted in any manner approved by the person presiding at a meeting
of the stockholders or the directors, as the case may be, at the time when the election is held and need not be by written ballot.
(d) Subject to any rights of the holders of shares of any class or series of Preferred Stock, if any, to elect additional directors under specified
circumstances, (i) until the first date (such date, the “Effective Date”) that a “group” (as defined under Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) no longer beneficially owns more than 50.0% of the outstanding shares of Voting Common Stock, a
director may be removed at any time, either for or without cause, upon affirmative vote of holders of at least a majority of the votes to which all the
stockholders of the Corporation would be entitled to cast in any election of directors or class of directors and (ii) from and after the Effective Date, a
director may be removed from office only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of holders of at least a majority of the votes to which all the
stockholders of the Corporation would be entitled to cast in any election of directors or class of directors.
(e) Subject to any rights of the holders of shares of any class or series of Preferred Stock, if any, to elect additional directors under specified
circumstances, and except as otherwise provided by law, any vacancy in the Board of Directors that results from an increase in the number of
directors, from the death, disability, resignation, disqualification, removal of any director or from any other cause shall be filled solely by a majority
of the total number of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director.
(f) All corporate powers and authority of the Corporation (except as at the time otherwise provided bylaw, by this Third Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation or by the Bylaws of the Corporation) shall be vested in and exercised by the Board of Directors.
(g) The Board of Directors shall have the power without the consent or vote of the stockholders to adopt, amend, alter or repeal the Bylaws
of the Corporation, except to the extent that this Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation otherwise provide.
(h) No director of the Corporation shall be liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of his or her
fiduciary duty as a director, provided that nothing contained in this Article Seventh shall eliminate or limit the liability of a director (i) for any
breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the Corporation or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional
misconduct or a knowing violation of the law, (iii) under Section 174 of the General Corporation Law of the
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State of Delaware or (iv) for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. If the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware is amended after the filing of this Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to authorize corporate action further
eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of a director of the Corporation shall be eliminated or limited to the
fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as so amended.
(i) The Corporation shall, through its Bylaws or otherwise, indemnify to the fullest extent permitted under the General Corporation Law of
the State of Delaware, as it now exists or as amended from time to time, any person who is or was a director or officer of the Corporation or its
subsidiaries. The Corporation may, by action of its Board of Directors, provide rights to indemnification and to advancement of expenses to such
other employees or agents of the Corporation or its subsidiaries to such extent and to such effect as the Board of Directors shall determine to be
appropriate and authorized by Delaware Law.
EIGHTH. Stockholder Action by Written Consent . From and after the Effective Date, any action required or permitted to be taken at any
annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation may be taken only upon the vote of the stockholders at an annual or special meeting duly called
and may not be taken by written consent of the stockholders. The Bylaws may establish procedures regulating the submission by stockholders of
nominations and proposals for consideration at meetings of stockholders of the Corporation.
NINTH. Special Meetings. A special meeting of the stockholders of the Corporation for any purpose or purposes may be called only by or at
the direction of the Board of Directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of directors then in office, and any right of the
stockholders of the Corporation to call a special meeting of the stockholders is specifically denied.
TENTH. Business Opportunities. To the fullest extent permitted by Section 122(17) of the General Corporation Law of the State of
Delaware and except as may be otherwise expressly agreed in writing by the Corporation and Explorer Coinvest LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“Explorer Coinvest”), the Corporation, on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries, renounces any interest or expectancy of the Corporation and its subsidiaries in,
or in being offered an opportunity to participate in, business opportunities, that are from time to time presented to Explorer Coinvest or any of its respective
officers, directors, agents, stockholders, members, partners, affiliates and subsidiaries (other than the Corporation and its subsidiaries), even if the opportunity
is one that the Corporation or its subsidiaries might reasonably be deemed to have pursued or had the ability or desire to pursue if granted the opportunity to
do so and no such person shall be liable to the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries for breach of any fiduciary or other duty, as a director or officer or
otherwise, by reason of the fact that such person pursues or acquires such business opportunity, directs such business opportunity to another person or fails to
present such business opportunity, or information regarding such business opportunity, to the Corporation or its subsidiaries unless, in the case of any such
person who is a director or officer of the Corporation, such business opportunity is expressly offered to such director or officer in writing solely in his or her
capacity as a director or officer of the Corporation. Any person purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any shares of stock of the Corporation shall
be deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of this Article Tenth. Neither the alteration, amendment or repeal of this Article Tenth nor the
adoption of any provision of this Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article Tenth shall eliminate or reduce the
effect of this Article Tenth in respect of any business opportunity first identified or any other matter occurring, or any cause of action, suit or claim that, but
for this Article Tenth, would accrue or arise, prior to such alteration, amendment, repeal or adoption.
ELEVENTH. Section 203 of the General Corporation Law . The Corporation elects not to be governed by Section 203 of the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, “Business Combinations With Interested Stockholders” (“Section 203”), as permitted under and pursuant to
subsection (b)(3) of Section 203, until the first date that Explorer Coinvest and its affiliates no longer beneficially own at least 20% of the outstanding shares
of Voting Common Stock. From and after such date, the Corporation shall be governed by Section 203 so long as Section 203 by its terms would apply to the
Corporation.
TWELFTH. Forum. The Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or
proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation, (ii) any action asserting a claim
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of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director or officer of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation’s stockholders, (iii) any action asserting
a claim against the Corporation arising pursuant to any provision of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware or the Corporation’s Third
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, or (iv) any action asserting a claim against the Corporation governed by the internal affairs
doctrine.
THIRTEENTH. Amendment. The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter or repeal any provision contained in this Third Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by the laws of the State of Delaware, and all rights herein conferred upon
stockholders or directors are granted subject to this reservation, provided , however, that any amendment, alteration or repeal of Article Seventh, Section (h)
shall not adversely affect any right or protection existing under this Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation immediately prior to such
amendment, alteration or repeal, including any right or protection of a director or officer thereunder in respect of any act or omission occurring prior to the
time of such amendment, modification or repeal.
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SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
OF
BOOZ ALLEN HAMILTON HOLDING CORPORATION

Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (the “Company”) hereby adopts this Second Amended and Restated Equity
Incentive Plan of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation, which amends and restates the Amended and Restated Equity Incentive
Plan of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (as amended and restated, the “Plan”). The purposes of this Plan are as follows:
(1)
To further the growth, development and financial success of the Company and its Subsidiaries (as defined herein), by
providing additional incentives to employees, consultants and directors of the Company and its Subsidiaries, who have been or will be
given responsibility for the management or administration of the Company’s (or one of its Subsidiaries’) business affairs, by assisting
them to become owners of Company Common Stock, thereby benefiting directly from the growth, development and financial success
of the Company and its Subsidiaries.
(2) To enable the Company (and its Subsidiaries) to obtain and retain the services of the type of professional, technical and
managerial employees, consultants and directors considered essential to the long-term success of the Company (and its Subsidiaries) by
providing and offering them an opportunity to become owners of Company Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of Options, the
grant of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units, the grant of Performance Awards, the grant of other Stock-Based Awards or an offer
to purchase shares of Company Common Stock.
ARTICLE I.
DEFINITIONS
Whenever the following terms are used in this Plan, they shall have the meaning specified below unless the context clearly
indicates to the contrary. The singular pronoun shall include the plural where the context so indicates.
Section 1.1 “Administrator” shall mean the Board or any committee of the Board designated by the Board to administer the
Plan; provided, that, with respect to (i) Awards intended to qualify as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the
Code, the Administrator shall mean the compensation committee of the Board or such other committee or subcommittee of the Board or
the compensation committee as the Board or the compensation committee shall designate, consisting of two or more members, each of
whom is an “outside director” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code and (ii) Awards intended to qualify for the exemption
contained in Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act, the Administrator shall mean the compensation committee of the Board
or such other committee or subcommittee of the Board or the compensation committee as the Board or the compensation committee
shall designate, consisting of two or more members, each of whom is a “non-employee directors” within the meaning of such rule, or,
in the alternative, the entire Board.
Section 1.2 “Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by
or under common control with, such Person where “control” shall have the meaning given such term under Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. For the purposes of this Plan, Affiliates of the Company shall include all Principal Stockholders.
Section 1.3

“Alternative Award” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.2.

Section 1.4
“Applicable Laws” shall mean the requirements relating to the administration of stock option, restricted stock,
restricted stock unit and other equity-based compensation plans under U.S. state corporate laws, U.S. federal and state securities laws,
the Code, any stock exchange or quotation system on which the Company Common
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Stock is listed or quoted and the applicable laws of any other country or jurisdiction where Awards are granted under the Plan.
Section 1.5
“Award” shall mean any Option, Stock Purchase Right, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Unit, Performance
Share, Performance Unit, Stock Appreciation Right, Dividend Equivalent, Deferred Share Unit or other Stock-Based Award granted to a
Participant pursuant to the Plan, including an Award combining two or more types in a single grant.
Section 1.6 “Award Agreement ” shall mean any written agreement, contract or other instrument or document evidencing an
Award, including through an electronic medium.
Section 1.7

“Base Price” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.57.

Section 1.8

“Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.

Section 1.9
“Cause” shall mean any of the following: (i) the Participant’s commission of a material act of fraud,
embezzlement, misappropriation, misconduct against the Company or any of its Affiliates, or the conviction of, or plea of no contest to,
or imposition of unadjudicated probation for any crime that is a felony (or a comparable classification in a jurisdiction that does not use
these terms) other than as a result of a traffic violation (unless such traffic violation results in a formal sentencing of the Participant to
prison time), or the Participant’s commission of a crime or other material act of misconduct that results in such Participant’s loss of any
government security clearance that is reasonably necessary to perform his or her material employment-related duties; (ii) the
Participant’s willful failure to substantially perform his or her material employment-related duties (other than any such failure resulting
from the Participant’s Disability) or the Participant’s willful failure to carry out, or comply with, any lawful and reasonable directive of
the Board or the Participant’s immediate supervisor; (iii) the Participant’s material violation of any material Company policy as in effect
from time to time or material breach of the Participant’s fiduciary duties to the Company or any of its Affiliates; ( iv) the Participant’s
material breach of the Stockholders Agreement, the Plan, or any exchange agreement, Award Agreement, or employment, noncompetition, nondisclosure or non-solicitation agreement between the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and the Participant or (v) the
Participant’s unlawful use (including being under the influence) or possession of illegal drugs on the Company’s (or any Affiliate’s)
premises or while performing the Participant’s duties and responsibilities; provided that, in the case of clauses (ii), (iii) or (iv), prior to
October 1, 2010, such events shall only constitute Cause if not remedied within ten (10) business days (or such longer period as
provided below) after receipt of written notice from the Company specifying such failure, violation or breach, as the case may be. The
determination as to whether “Cause” has occurred shall be made by the Board, acting in good faith, which shall have the authority to
waive the consequences under the Plan in the event of the existence or occurrence of any of the events, acts or omissions constituting
“Cause.” The Company must notify a Participant of any event alleged to constitute “Cause” within six months following the Board’s
knowledge of its existence or such event shall not constitute “Cause” for purposes of the Plan. A termination for Cause shall be deemed
to include a determination following a Participant’s termination of employment for any reason if the circumstances existing prior to
such termination would have entitled the Company or one of its Subsidiaries to have terminated such Participant’s employment for
Cause; provided, however, that this proviso shall not apply if, prior to termination of employment, the Board determined, following
conclusion of an investigation, that such termination was not for Cause unless new facts regarding the Participant’s conduct are
revealed to the Board following termination of employment that result in a change in the Board’s determination. The ten (10) business
day period described above with respect to awards granted prior to October 1, 2010 may be extended for such longer period as the
Chief Personnel Officer or, with respect to the Chief Personnel Officer, the Chief Executive Officer shall determine, in his sole
discretion.
Section 1.10

“Change in Control” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events:

(a)
The acquisition, directly or indirectly, by any person, entity or “group” (as defined in Section 13(d) of the
Exchange Act) (other than the Company, any Subsidiary, any Principal Stockholder or any Affiliate thereof, an employee benefit plan
maintained by the Company, or a Person that, prior to such transaction, directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Company) of fifty (50) percent or more of the total combined voting power of the Company’s then
outstanding voting securities;
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(b)
The merger or consolidation of the Company, as a result of which persons who were shareholders of the
Company immediately prior to such merger or consolidation, together with the Principal Stockholders, do not, immediately thereafter,
own, directly or indirectly, more than fifty (50) percent of the combined voting power entitled to vote generally in the election of
directors of the merged or consolidated company;
(c)
The liquidation or dissolution of the Company other than a liquidation or dissolution of the Company into a
Subsidiary or for the purposes of effecting a corporate restructuring or reorganization as a result of which persons who were
shareholders of the Company immediately prior to such liquidation or dissolution, together with the Principal Stockholders, continue to
own immediately thereafter, directly or indirectly, more than fifty (50) percent of the combined voting power entitled to vote generally
in the election of directors of the entity that owns, directly or indirectly, substantially all of the assets of the Company following such
transaction; or
(d)
The sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company to one or more
persons or entities that are not, immediately prior to such transaction, Affiliates of the Company, or any employee benefit plan of the
Company (other than by way of a transaction that would not be deemed a Change in Control pursuant to clauses (a) or (b) above);
in each case, provided that such event constitutes a “change in control” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a “Change in Control” shall not be deemed to occur if the Company files for bankruptcy,
liquidation or reorganization under the United States Bankruptcy Code or as a result of any restructuring that occurs as a result of any
such proceeding.
Section 1.11
“Change in Control Price” shall mean the highest price per share of Company Common Stock offered in
conjunction with any transaction resulting in a Change in Control.
Section 1.12

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Section 1.13

“Company” shall mean Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and any successor.

Section 1.14 “Company Common Stock” shall mean the class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company
and such other class of stock into which such common stock is hereafter converted or exchanged.
Section 1.15 “Competitive Activity ” shall mean (a) directly or indirectly engaging in or providing, or owning, investing in,
managing, joining, operating or controlling, or participating in the ownership, management, operation or control of, or being connected
as a director, officer, employee, partner, member, consultant or otherwise with, any business enterprise (whether for profit or not for
profit) that is engaged in the business of providing consulting services, either management or technical, staff augmentation, or any
related services for any U.S. governmental entity or any other business activities that, as of the date of the Participant’s termination of
employment, are directly competitive in any geographic area with the business activities of the Company or any of its divisions,
subsidiaries or Affiliates (including any business activities that, to the knowledge of the Participant, the Company or any of its
respective divisions, subsidiaries or Affiliates has been planning to engage in prior to the Participant’s termination of employment or
service); (b) without the Company’s prior written consent, recruiting for employment with any entity that competes with the Company,
or hiring for such entity, any employee of the Company, former employee of the Company, or independent contractor to the Company
who left the Company or discontinued providing services to the Company within six (6) months of the termination of the Participant’s
employment or (c) directly or indirectly using, disclosing or disseminating to any other Person or otherwise employing Confidential
Information, in each case that is not approved in writing by the Administrator, it being understood that direct employment as an
employee of (and not as a consultant or advisor to) any U.S. federal, state or local governmental entity shall not be considered a
competitive activity. In the event any court of competent jurisdiction shall find that any provision hereof relating to Competitive
Activity is not enforceable in accordance with its terms, the court shall reform such provisions such that the provisions shall be
enforceable to the maximum extent permissible at law.
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Section 1.16 “Confidential Information” shall mean any and all of three categories of information: (a) confidential proprietary
information about the Company’s business including, but not limited to, information that is not readily available to the public, and
which concerns the Company’s operations, financial results, plans and compensation structure, strategies, knowledge on-line database,
clients, trade secrets, or any other proprietary information; (b) confidential information entrusted to the Company by third parties such
as clients (including the U.S. government and its agencies) or vendors and (c) personally identifiable information received from
employees, clients, or third parties (including, but not limited to, names, addresses, Social Security Numbers, background information,
credit card or bank information, telephone or facsimile numbers, e-mail addresses and health information), which if misused could
result in identity theft, credit card fraud or other serious harm.
Section 1.17 “Consultant” shall mean any natural Person who is engaged by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to render
consulting or advisory services to such entity.
Section 1.18 “Corporate Event” shall mean, as determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion, any transaction
or event described in Section 14.1(a) or any unusual or nonrecurring transaction or event affecting the Company, any Subsidiary of the
Company, or the financial statements of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or changes in applicable laws, regulations or
accounting principles (including, without limitation, a recapitalization of the Company).
Section 1.19

“Covered Employee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 162(m)(3) of the Code.

Section 1.20

“Deferred Annual Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.1.

Section 1.21 “Deferred Share Unit” shall mean a unit credited to a Participant’s account in the books of the Company under
Article VIII that represents the right to receive Shares of Company Common Stock or cash equal to the Fair Market Value thereof on
settlement of the account.
Section 1.22
Company.
Section 1.23
Section 1.24
respect to Shares.

“Director” shall mean a member of the Board or a member of the board of directors of any Subsidiary of the
“Disability” shall mean “disability,” as such term is defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code.
“Dividend Equivalent” shall mean the right to receive payments in cash or in Shares, based on dividends with

Section 1.25

“Effective Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 14.9.

Section 1.26

“Elective Deferred Share Unit” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.1.

Section 1.27
“Eligible Representative” for a Participant shall mean such Participant’s personal representative or such other
person as is empowered under the deceased Participant’s will or the then applicable laws of descent and distribution to represent the
Participant hereunder.
Section 1.28
“Employee” shall mean any employee (as defined in accordance with the regulations and revenue rulings then
applicable under Section 3401(c) of the Code) of the Company or one of its Subsidiaries, whether such employee is so employed at the
time this Plan is adopted or becomes so employed subsequent to the adoption of this Plan. A person shall not cease to be an Employee
in the case of (a) any leave of absence approved by the Company or (b) transfers between locations of the Company or between the
Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or any successor. For purposes of Incentive Stock Options, no such leave may exceed three (3)
months, unless reemployment upon expiration of such leave is guaranteed by statute or contract. If reemployment upon expiration of a
leave of absence approved by the Company is not so guaranteed, the employment relationship shall be deemed to have terminated on
the first day immediately following such three (3)-month period, and such Incentive Stock Option held by the Optionee shall cease to
be treated as an Incentive Stock Option and shall be treated for tax purposes as a Non-Qualified Stock
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Option on the first day immediately following a three (3)‑month period from the date the employment relationship is deemed
terminated.
Section 1.29
“Equity Restructuring” shall mean, as determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion, a non-reciprocal
transaction between the Company and its stockholders, such as a stock dividend, stock split, spin-off or recapitalization through a large,
nonrecurring cash dividend, that affects the shares of Company Common Stock (or other securities of the Company) or the share price
of Company Common Stock (or other securities) and causes a change in the per share value of the Company Common Stock
underlying outstanding Awards.
Section 1.30

“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Section 1.31

“Fair Market Value” of a Share as of a given date shall be:

(a)
If the Company Common Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or a national market system, the
closing sales price for a Share (or the closing bid, if no sales were reported) as quoted on such exchange or system on the date of
determination, as reported in The Wall Street Journal or, if not so reported, such other source as the Administrator deems reliable;
(b)
If the Company Common Stock is regularly quoted by a recognized securities dealer but selling prices are not
reported, the Administrator shall determine the Fair Market Value in good faith with reference to the mean between the high bid and
low asked prices for a Share on the date of determination and sales prices of securities issued to investors in any recent arm’s length
transactions; or
(c)
In the absence of an established market for the Company Common Stock, the Fair Market Value shall be
determined in good faith by the Administrator with reference to the most recent valuation of the Company Common Stock performed
by an independent valuation consultant or appraiser of nationally recognized standing (which valuation shall be prepared not less
frequently than annually) and sales prices of securities issued to investors in any recent arm’s length transactions.
Section 1.32 “Incentive Stock Option” shall mean an Option which qualifies under Section 422 of the Code and is designated
as an Incentive Stock Option by the Administrator.
Section 1.33 “Leadership Team” shall mean the group of senior executives of the Company with policy-making functions, as
designated by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Section 1.34 “Non-Qualified Stock Option” shall mean an Option which is not an “incentive stock option” under Section 422
of the Code and shall include an Option which is designated as a Non-Qualified Stock Option by the Administrator.
Section 1.35

“Non-U.S. Awards” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.

Section 1.36 “Option” shall mean an option to purchase Company Common Stock granted under the Plan. The term “Option”
includes both an Incentive Stock Option and a Non-Qualified Stock Option.
Section 1.37

“Option Price” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.3.

Section 1.38

“Optionee” shall mean a Participant to whom an Option or SAR is granted under the Plan.

Section 1.39

“Participant” shall mean any Service Provider who has been granted an Award pursuant to the Plan.

Section 1.40
“Performance Award ” shall mean Performance Shares, Performance Units and all other Awards that vest (in
whole or in part) upon the achievement of specified Performance Goals.
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Section 1.41 “Performance Cycle” shall mean the period of time selected by the Administrator during which performance is
measured for the purpose of determining the extent to which a Performance Award has been earned or vested.
Section 1.42 “Performance Goals” means the objectives established by the Administrator for a Performance Cycle pursuant to
Section 7.4 for the purpose of determining the extent to which a Performance Award has been earned or vested.
Section 1.43 “Performance Share” means an Award granted pursuant to Article VII of the Plan of a contractual right to receive
a Share (or the cash equivalent thereof) upon the achievement, in whole or in part, of the applicable Performance Goals.
Section 1.44 “Performance Unit” means a dollar-denominated unit (or a unit denominated in the Participant’s local currency)
granted pursuant to Article VII of the Plan, payable upon the achievement, in whole or in part, of the applicable Performance Goals.
Section 1.45

“Permitted Transfer” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Stockholders Agreement.

Section 1.46 “Person” shall mean an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, business trust, joint stock
company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture, governmental authority or any other entity of whatever nature.
Section 1.47

“Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble hereto.

Section 1.48
“Principal Stockholders” shall mean (i) the Initial Carlyle Stockholders (as defined in the Stockholders
Agreement) and (ii) any of their Affiliates to which (a) any of the Principal Stockholders identified in clause (i) or any other Person
transfers Company Common Stock or (b) the Company issues Company Common Stock.
Section 1.49
“Public Offering” shall mean the first day as of which (i) sales of Company Common Stock are made to the
public in the United States pursuant to an underwritten public offering of the Company Common Stock led by one or more underwriters
at least one of which is an underwriter of nationally recognized standing or (ii) the Administrator has determined that the Company
Common Stock otherwise has become publicly traded for this purpose.
Section 1.50

“Restricted Stock” shall mean an Award granted pursuant to Section 6.1.

Section 1.51

“Restricted Stock Unit” shall mean an Award granted pursuant to Section 6.2.

Section 1.52

“Secretary” shall mean the Secretary of the Company.

Section 1.53

“Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Section 1.54 “Service Award” shall mean all Awards that vest solely based on the passage of time or continued service over a
fixed period of time.
Section 1.55

“Service Provider” shall mean an Employee, Consultant or Director.

Section 1.56

“Share” shall mean a share of Company Common Stock.

Section 1.57
“Stock Appreciation Right” or “SAR” shall mean the right to receive a payment from the Company in cash
and/or Shares equal to the product of (i) the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value of one Share on the exercise date over a specified
price (the “Base Price”) fixed by the Administrator on the grant date (which specified price shall not be less than the Fair Market Value
of one Share on the grant date), multiplied by (ii) a stated number of Shares.
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Section 1.58

“Stock-Based Award” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.

Section 1.59

“Stock Purchase Right” shall mean an Award granted pursuant to Section 3.4.

Section 1.60
“Stockholders Agreement” shall mean that certain agreement by and among each Participant, the Principal
Stockholders, the Company and other parties thereto, which contains certain restrictions and limitations applicable to Awards granted
under this Plan, as may be amended from time to time. Prior to a Public Offering, if the Participant is not a party to the Stockholders
Agreement at the time of grant of an Award of Shares, settlement of an Award, purchase of Company Common Stock pursuant to a
Stock Purchase Right or exercise of an Option or SAR (or any portion thereof), the time of grant of such Award, settlement of such
Award, purchase of Company Common Stock pursuant to a Stock Purchase Right or, as applicable, the exercise of an Option or SAR
shall be subject to the condition that the Participant enter into the Stockholders Agreement with the Company in the form provided to
the Participant by the Company.
Section 1.61

“Subplans” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.

Section 1.62 “Subsidiary” of any entity shall mean any corporation in an unbroken chain of corporations beginning with such
entity if each of the corporations other than the last corporation in the unbroken chain then owns stock possessing 50% or more of the
total combined voting power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in such chain.
Section 1.63 “Termination of employment,” “termination of service” and any similar term or terms shall mean, with respect to
a director who is not an Employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, the date upon which such director ceases to be a member
of the Board, with respect to a Consultant who is not an Employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, the date upon which such
Consultant ceases to provide consulting or advisory services to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and, with respect to an
Employee, the date the Participant ceases to be an Employee; provided, that, with respect to any Award subject to Section 409A of the
Code, such terms shall mean “separation from service,” as defined in Section 409A of the Code and the rules, regulations and guidance
promulgated thereunder.
Section 1.64
“Withholding Taxes ” shall mean the statutory minimum of any federal, state, local or foreign income taxes,
withholding taxes or employment taxes required to be withheld under Applicable Law.

ARTICLE II.
SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN
Section 2.1

Shares Subject to Plan.

(a)
Subject to Section 14.1, the aggregate number of Shares which may be issued under this Plan is 33,000,000;
provided, however, that subject to Section 2.1(b), no more than 33,000,000 Shares shall be issued in the form of Options under the
Plan. The Shares may be authorized but unissued, or reacquired Company Common Stock.
(b)
To the extent that an Award terminates, is forfeited, is repurchased, expires, or lapses for any reason, any
Shares subject to the Award shall again be available for the grant of an Award pursuant to the Plan; provided, however, that vested
Shares that are repurchased after being issued from the Plan shall not be available for future issuance under the Plan. Additionally, any
Shares tendered or withheld to satisfy the grant or exercise price or tax withholding obligation pursuant to any Award shall again be
available for the grant of an Award pursuant to the Plan. To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, Shares issued in assumption of, or
in substitution for, any outstanding awards of any entity acquired in any form of combination by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
shall not be counted against Shares available for grant pursuant to this Plan.
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Section 2.2 Individual Award Limitations . Subject to Section 2.1(a) and Section 14.1, the following individual Award limits
shall apply for those Awards intended to qualify as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code:
(a)
No Participant may receive the right to more than 450,000 Performance Shares, shares of performance-based
Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units and performance-based Deferred Share Units under the Plan in any one year.
(b)
No Participant may receive the right to Performance Units under the Plan in any one year with a value of
more than US $5,000,000 (or the equivalent of such amount denominated in the Participant’s local currency).
(c)
No Participant may receive Options, SARs or any other Award based solely on the increase in value of the
Shares on more than 700,000 Shares under the Plan in any one year.
Section 2.3 Prohibition Against Repricing. Except to the extent (i) approved in advance by holders of a majority of the Shares
entitled to vote generally in the election of directors or (ii) as a result of any Corporate Event, the Administrator shall not have the
power or authority to reduce, whether through amendment or otherwise, the exercise price of any outstanding Option or base price of
any outstanding Stock Appreciation Right or to grant any new Award, or make any cash payment, in substitution for or upon the
cancellation of Options or Stock Appreciation Rights previously granted.
ARTICLE III.
GRANTING OF OPTIONS AND SARS AND SALE OF COMPANY COMMON STOCK
Section 3.1
Eligibility. Non-Qualified Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights may be granted to Service Providers.
Subject to Section 3.2, Incentive Stock Options may only be granted to Employees.
Section 3.2 Qualification of Incentive Stock Options. No Employee may be granted an Incentive Stock Option under the Plan
if such Employee, at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted, owns stock possessing more than ten (10) percent of the total
combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any then existing Subsidiary of the Company or “parent corporation”
(within the meaning of Section 424(e) of the Code) unless such Incentive Stock Option conforms to the applicable provisions of Section
422 of the Code.
Section 3.3
(a)

Granting of Options and Stock Appreciation Rights to Service Providers.
Options and Stock Appreciation Rights. The Administrator may from time to time:

(i)
Select from among the Service Providers (including those to whom Options or SARs have been
previously granted under the Plan) such of them as in its opinion should be granted Options and/or SARs;
(ii)
Determine the number of Shares to be subject to such Options and/or SARs granted to such Service
Provider, and determine whether such Options are to be Incentive Stock Options or Non-Qualified Stock Options; and
(iii)

Determine the terms and conditions of such Options and SARs, consistent with the Plan.

Stock Appreciation Rights may be granted in tandem with Options or may be granted on a freestanding basis, not related to any Option.
Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator at or after the grant date, Stock Appreciation Rights granted in tandem with Options
shall have substantially similar terms and conditions to such Options to the extent applicable, or may be granted on a freestanding basis,
not related to any Option.
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(b)
Upon the selection of a Service Provider to be granted an Option or SAR under this Section 3.3, the
Administrator shall instruct the Secretary or another authorized officer to issue such Option or SAR and may impose such
conditions on the grant of such Option or SAR as it deems appropriate. Without limiting the generality of the preceding
sentence, but subject to Section 2.3, the Administrator may, subject to applicable securities laws, require as a condition to the
grant of an Option or SAR to a Service Provider that the Service Provider surrender for cancellation all or a portion of the
unexercised Options or SARs which have previously been granted to him or her. An Option or SAR, the grant of which is
conditioned upon such surrender, may have an Option Price or Base Price that is lower (or higher) than the Option Price or Base
Price of the surrendered Option or SAR, may cover the same (or a lesser or greater) number of Shares as the surrendered Option
or SAR, may contain such other terms as the Administrator deems appropriate and shall be exercisable in accordance with its
terms, without regard to the number of Shares, price, period of exercisability or any other term or condition of the surrendered
Option or SAR. Subject to Section 14.3 of the Plan, any Incentive Stock Option granted under the Plan may be modified by the
Administrator, without the consent of the Optionee, even if such modification would result in the disqualification of such Option
as an “incentive stock option” under Section 422 of the Code.
Section 3.4 Sale of Company Common Stock to Service Providers. The Administrator, acting in its sole discretion, may from
time to time designate one or more Service Providers to whom an offer to sell Shares shall be made and the terms and conditions
thereof, provided, however, that the price per Share shall not be less than the Fair Market Value of such Shares on the date any such
offer is accepted. Each Share sold to a Service Provider under this Section 3.4 shall be evidenced by a written stock purchase agreement
in a form approved by the Board, which shall contain terms consistent with the terms hereof. Any Shares sold under this Section 3.4
shall be subject to the same limitations, restrictions and administration hereunder as would apply to any Shares issued pursuant to the
exercise of an Option under this Plan including, but not limited to, conditions and restrictions set forth in Section 5.6 below. Shares
acquired pursuant to this Section 3.4 prior to a Public Offering shall also be subject to the terms and conditions of a Stockholders
Agreement, which shall be entered into with the Participant upon the acquisition of such Shares.
ARTICLE IV.
TERMS OF OPTIONS AND SARS
Section 4.1

Award Agreement.

(a)
Each Option and each Stock Appreciation Right shall be evidenced by a written Award Agreement, which
shall be executed by the Optionee and an authorized officer and which shall contain such terms and conditions as the Administrator
shall determine, consistent with the Plan. Award Agreements evidencing Incentive Stock Options shall contain such terms and
conditions as may be necessary to qualify such Options as “incentive stock options” under Section 422 of the Code.
(b)
The Administrator may, at any time, and from time to time, amend the terms of any one or more existing
Award Agreements, provided, however, that subject to the provisions of this Plan the rights of an Optionee under an Award Agreement
shall not be adversely impaired in any material respect without the Optionee’s written consent. The Company shall provide an Optionee
with written notice of any amendment made to such Optionee’s existing Award Agreement.
Section 4.2

Exercisability and Vesting of Options and Stock Appreciation Rights.

(a)
Each Option and SAR shall vest and become exercisable according to the terms of the applicable Award
Agreement; provided, however, that by a resolution adopted after an Option or SAR is granted the Administrator may, on such terms
and conditions as it may determine to be appropriate, accelerate the time at which such Option or SAR or any portion thereof may be
exercised.
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(b)
Except as otherwise provided by the Administrator or in the applicable Award Agreement, no portion of an
Option or SAR which is unexercisable on the date that an Optionee incurs a termination of service as a Service Provider shall thereafter
become exercisable.
(c)
The aggregate Fair Market Value (determined as of the time the Option is granted) of all Shares with respect to
which Incentive Stock Options are first exercisable by a Service Provider in any calendar year may not exceed $100,000 or such other
limitation as imposed by Section 422(d) of the Code, or any successor provision. To the extent that Incentive Stock Options are first
exercisable by a Participant in excess of such limitation, the excess shall be considered Non-Qualified Stock Options.
(d)
Stock Appreciation Rights granted in tandem with an Option shall become vested and exercisable on the same
date or dates as the Options with which such Stock Appreciation Rights are associated vest and become exercisable. Stock Appreciation
Rights that are granted in tandem with an Option may only be exercised upon the surrender of the right to exercise such Option for an
equivalent number of Shares, and may be exercised only with respect to the Shares for which the related Option is then exercisable.
Section 4.3
Option Price and Base Price. The per Share purchase price of the Shares subject to each Option (the “Option
Price”) and the Base Price of each Stock Appreciation Right shall be set by the Administrator and shall be not less than 100% of the Fair
Market Value of such Shares on the date such Option or SAR is granted.
Section 4.4 Expiration of Options and SARs. No Option or SAR may be exercised to any extent by anyone after the first to
occur of the following events:
(a)

The expiration of ten (10) years from the date the Option or SAR was granted; or

(b)
With respect to an Incentive Stock Option in the case of an Optionee owning (within the meaning of Section
424(d) of the Code), at the time the Incentive Stock Option was granted, more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all
classes of stock of the Company or any Subsidiary, the expiration of five (5) years from the date the Incentive Stock Option was
granted.
ARTICLE V.
EXERCISE OF OPTIONS AND SARS
Section 5.1 Person Eligible to Exercise. During the lifetime of the Optionee, only he or she may exercise an Option or SAR (or
any portion thereof) granted to him or her; provided, however, that the Optionee’s Eligible Representative may exercise his or her
Option or SAR or portion thereof during the period of the Optionee’s Disability. After the death of the Optionee, any exercisable
portion of an Option or SAR may, prior to the time when such portion becomes unexercisable under the Plan or the applicable Award
Agreement, be exercised by his or her Eligible Representative.
Section 5.2
Partial Exercise. At any time and from time to time prior to the time when the Option or SAR becomes
unexercisable under the Plan or the applicable Award Agreement, the exercisable portion of an Option or SAR may be exercised in
whole or in part; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to issue fractional Shares and the Administrator may, by
the terms of the Option or SAR, require any partial exercise to exceed a specified minimum number of Shares.
Section 5.3 Manner of Exercise. An exercisable Option or SAR, or any exercisable portion thereof, may be exercised solely
by delivery to the Secretary of all of the following prior to the time when such Option or SAR or such portion becomes unexercisable
under the Plan or the applicable Award Agreement:
(a)
Subject to any conditions that may be imposed by the Administrator, notice in writing signed by the Optionee
or his or her Eligible Representative, stating that such Option or SAR or portion is being exercised, and specifically stating the number
of Shares with respect to which the Option or SAR is being exercised;
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(b)
If required by the Administrator, a copy of the Stockholders Agreement signed by the Optionee or Eligible
Representative, if applicable;
(c)
(i)
With respect to the exercise of any Option, full payment (in cash (through wire transfer only) or by
personal, certified, or bank cashier check) of the aggregate Option Price of the Shares with respect to which such Option (or portion
thereof) is thereby exercised; or
(ii) With the consent of the Administrator, ( A) Shares owned by the Optionee duly endorsed for transfer to the
Company or (B) Shares issuable to the Optionee upon exercise of the Option, with a Fair Market Value on the date of Option exercise
equal to the aggregate Option Price of the Shares with respect to which such Option (or portion thereof) is thereby exercised or
(iii)
With the consent of the Administrator, any form of payment permitted by Applicable Laws and any
combination of the foregoing methods of payment.
(d)
Full payment to the Company (in cash or by personal, certified or bank cashier check or by any other
means of payment approved by the Administrator) of all minimum amounts necessary to satisfy any and all Withholding Taxes
arising in connection with the exercise of the Option or SAR;
(e)
Such representations and documents as the Administrator deems necessary or advisable to effect compliance
with all applicable provisions of the Securities Act and any other federal or state securities laws or regulations. The Administrator may,
in its sole discretion, also take whatever additional actions it deems appropriate to effect such compliance including, without limitation,
placing legends on share certificates and issuing stop-transfer orders to transfer agents and registrars and
(f)
In the event that the Option or SAR or portion thereof shall be exercised as permitted under Section 5.1 by any
person or persons other than the Optionee, appropriate proof of the right of such person or persons to exercise the Option or SAR or
portion thereof.
Section 5.4
Optionee Representations. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may require an Optionee to make certain
representations or acknowledgements, on or prior to the purchase of any Shares pursuant to any Option or SAR granted under this Plan,
in respect thereof including but not limited to that the Optionee is acquiring the Shares for an investment purpose and not for resale,
and, if the Optionee is an Affiliate, additional acknowledgements regarding when and to what extent any transfers of such Shares may
occur.
Section 5.5 Settlement of SARs. Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation
Right, the Participant shall be entitled to receive payment in the form, determined by the Administrator, of Shares, or cash, or a
combination of Shares and cash having an aggregate value (based in the case of Shares on Fair Market Value) equal to the amount
determined by multiplying:
(a)
Appreciation Right, by
(b)

any increase in the Fair Market Value of one Share on the exercise date over the Base Price of such Stock
the number of Shares with respect to which the Stock Appreciation Right is exercised;

(c)
provided, however, that on the grant date, the Administrator may establish, in its sole discretion, a maximum
amount per Share that may be payable upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right, and provided, further, that in no event shall the
value of the Company Common Stock or cash delivered on exercise exceed the excess of the Fair Market Value of the Shares with
respect to which the Stock Appreciation Right is exercised over the Fair Market Value of such Shares on the grant date of such Stock
Appreciation Right.
Section 5.6 Conditions to Issuance of Stock Certificates. The Shares issuable and deliverable upon the exercise of an Option
or SAR, or any portion thereof, may be either previously authorized but unissued Shares or issued Shares which have then been
reacquired by the Company, subject to Section 2.1(b). The Company shall record
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shares delivered upon exercise of an Option or SAR in the books and records of the Company or a certificate of Shares will be
delivered to the Optionee at the Company’s principal place of business as soon as practicable after the Option or SAR is properly
exercised or the Company may, in the Administrator’s discretion, retain physical possession of the certificate until such time as the
Administrator deems appropriate. Notwithstanding the above, the Company shall not be required to issue or deliver any certificate or
certificates for Shares purchased upon the exercise of any Option or SAR or portion thereof prior to fulfillment of all of the following
conditions:
(a)
The admission of such Shares to listing on any and all stock exchanges on which such class of Company
Common Stock is then listed;
(b)
The completion of any registration or other qualification of such Shares under any state or federal law or
under the rulings or regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission or any other governmental regulatory body, which the
Administrator shall, in its sole discretion, deem necessary or advisable;
(c)
The obtaining of any approval or other clearance from any state or federal governmental agency which the
Administrator shall, in its sole discretion, determine to be necessary or advisable and
(d)
The payment to the Company (or its Subsidiary, as applicable) of all amounts which it is required to withhold
under Applicable Law in connection with the exercise of the Option or SAR.
The Administrator shall not have any liability to any Optionee for any delay in the delivery of Shares to be issued upon an
Optionee’s exercise of an Option or SAR.
Section 5.7 Rights as Stockholders. The holder of an Option or SAR shall not be, nor have any of the rights or privileges of, a
stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares purchasable upon the exercise of any part of an Option or SAR unless and until
such holder has, to the extent required by the Administrator, signed a Stockholders Agreement and certificates representing such Shares
have been issued by the Company to such holder.
Section 5.8
Transfer Restrictions. Shares acquired upon exercise of an Option or SAR may be subject to the terms and
conditions of a Stockholders Agreement. In addition, the Administrator, in its sole discretion, may impose further restrictions on the
transferability of the Shares purchasable upon the exercise of an Option or SAR as it deems appropriate. Any such restriction shall be
set forth in the respective Award Agreement and may be referred to on the certificates evidencing such Shares. The Administrator may
require the Employee to give the Company prompt notice of any disposition of Shares acquired by exercise of an Incentive Stock
Option, within two (2) years from the date of granting such Option or one (1) year after the transfer of such Shares to such Employee.
The Administrator may direct that the certificates evidencing Shares acquired by exercise of an Incentive Stock Option refer to such
requirement.
ARTICLE VI.
RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS AND RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARDS
Section 6.1

Restricted Stock.

(a)
Grant of Restricted Stock. The Administrator is authorized to make Awards of Restricted Stock to any Service
Provider selected by the Administrator in such amounts and subject to such terms and conditions as determined by the Administrator.
All Awards of Restricted Stock shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement.
(b)
Issuance and Restrictions. Restricted Stock shall be subject to such restrictions on transferability and other
restrictions as the Administrator may impose (including, without limitation, limitations on the right to vote Restricted Stock or the right
to receive dividends on the Restricted Stock). These restrictions may lapse separately or in combination at such times, pursuant to such
circumstances, in such installments, or otherwise, as the Administrator determines at the time of the grant of the Award or thereafter.

12

(c)
Certificates for Restricted Stock. Restricted Stock granted pursuant to the Plan may be evidenced in such
manner as the Administrator shall determine. If certificates representing shares of Restricted Stock are registered in the name of the
Participant, certificates must bear an appropriate legend referring to the terms, conditions, and restrictions applicable to such Restricted
Stock, and the Company may, at its discretion, retain physical possession of the certificate until such time as all applicable restrictions
lapse.
Section 6.2 Restricted Stock Units. The Administrator is authorized to make Awards of Restricted Stock Units to any Service
Provider selected by the Administrator in such amounts and subject to such terms and conditions as determined by the Administrator.
At the time of grant, the Administrator shall specify the date or dates on which the Restricted Stock Units shall become fully vested and
nonforfeitable, and may specify such conditions to vesting as it deems appropriate. At the time of grant, the Administrator shall specify
the maturity date applicable to each grant of Restricted Stock Units which shall be no earlier than the vesting date or dates of the Award
and may be determined at the election of the grantee. On the maturity date, the Company shall, subject to the terms of this Plan, transfer
to the Participant one Share for each Restricted Stock Unit scheduled to be paid out on such date and not previously forfeited. The
Administrator shall specify the purchase price, if any, to be paid by the grantee to the Company for such Shares.
Section 6.3 Rights as a Stockholder. A Participant shall not have any rights as a stockholder in respect of Restricted Stock
Units awarded pursuant to the Plan (including but not limited to the right to vote on any matter submitted to the Company’s
stockholders) until such time as the Shares attributable to such Restricted Stock Units have been issued to such Participant or his or her
beneficiary.
ARTICLE VII.
PERFORMANCE SHARES AND PERFORMANCE UNITS
Section 7.1
(a)
Grant of Performance Awards . The Administrator is authorized to make Awards of Performance Shares and
Performance Units to any Participant selected by the Administrator in such amounts and subject to such terms and conditions as
determined by the Administrator. All Performance Shares and Performance Units shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement.
(b)
Issuance and Restrictions. The Administrator shall have the authority to determine the Participants who shall
receive Performance Shares and Performance Units, the number of Performance Shares and the number and value of Performance Units
each Participant receives for any Performance Cycle, and the Performance Goals applicable in respect of such Performance Shares and
Performance Units for each Performance Cycle. Any adjustments to such Performance Goals shall be approved by the Administrator.
The Administrator shall determine the duration of each Performance Cycle (the duration of Performance Cycles may differ from one
another), and there may be more than one Performance Cycle in existence at any one time. Unless otherwise determined by the
Administrator, the Performance Cycle for Performance Shares and Performance Units shall be three (3) years. An Award Agreement
evidencing the grant of Performance Shares or Performance Units shall specify the number of Performance Shares and the number and
value of Performance Units awarded to the Participant, the Performance Goals applicable thereto, and such other terms and conditions
not inconsistent with the Plan as the Administrator shall determine. No Company Common Stock will be issued at the time an Award of
Performance Shares is made, and the Company shall not be required to set aside a fund for the payment of Performance Shares or
Performance Units.
Section 7.2
Earned Performance Shares and Performance Units. Performance Shares and Performance Units shall become
earned, in whole or in part, based upon the attainment of specified Performance Goals or the occurrence of any event or events,
including a Corporate Event, as the Administrator shall determine, either at or after the grant date. In addition to the achievement of the
specified Performance Goals, the Administrator may, at the grant date, condition payment of Performance Shares and Performance
Units on such conditions as the Administrator shall specify. The Administrator may also require the completion of a minimum period of
service (in addition to the
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achievement of any applicable Performance Goals) as a condition to the vesting of any Performance Share or Performance Unit Award.
Section 7.3 Rights as a Stockholder. A Participant shall not have any rights as a stockholder in respect of Performance Shares
or Performance Units awarded pursuant to the Plan (including but not limited to the right to vote on any matter submitted to the
Company’s stockholders) until such time as the Shares attributable to such Performance Shares or Performance Units have been issued
to such Participant or his or her beneficiary.
Section 7.4 Performance Goals. The Administrator shall establish the Performance Goals that must be satisfied in order for a
Participant to receive an Award for a Performance Period or for an Award of Performance Shares or Performance Units to be earned or
vested. At the discretion of the Administrator, the Performance Goals may be based upon the total return to the Company’s
shareholders, inclusive of dividends paid, during the applicable Performance Cycle (determined either in absolute terms or relative to
the performance of one or more similarly situated companies or a published index covering the performance of a number of
companies), or upon the relative or comparative attainment of one or more of the following criteria, whether in absolute terms or
relative to the performance of one or more similarly situated companies or a published index covering the performance of a number of
companies and whether gross or net, before or after taxes and/or before or after any other adjustments: earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization, with or without adjustments for stock-option based and other equity-based compensation expenses,
and/or management, transaction and/or similar fees paid to the principal stockholders or their affiliates, , operating earnings, net
earnings, income, earnings before interest and taxes, total shareholder return, return on the Company’s assets, increase in the
Company’s earnings or earnings per share (basic or diluted), revenue growth, share price performance, return on invested capital,
operating income, pre- or post-tax, income, net income, economic value added, profit margins, cash flow, improvement in or attainment
of expense or capital expenditure levels, improvement in or attainment of working capital levels, return on equity, debt reduction, gross
profit, market share, cost reductions, workforce satisfaction and diversity goals, workplace health and safety goals, employee retention,
completion of key projects and strategic plan development and/or implementation, job profit or performance against a multiplier; or, in
the case of persons who are not Covered Employees, such other criteria as may be determined by the Administrator. Performance Goals
may be established on a Company-wide basis or with respect to one or more business units, divisions, Subsidiaries, or products. When
establishing Performance Goals for a Performance Cycle, the Administrator may exclude any or all “extraordinary items” as determined
under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and as identified in the financial statements, notes to the financial statements or
management’s discussion and analysis in the annual report, including, without limitation, the charges or costs associated with
restructurings of the Company, discontinued operations, extraordinary items, capital gains and losses, dividends, Share repurchase,
other unusual or non-recurring items, and the cumulative effects of accounting changes. Except in the case of Awards to Covered
Employees intended to be performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code, the Administrator may also adjust the
Performance Goals for any Performance Cycle as it deems equitable in recognition of unusual or non-recurring events affecting the
Company, changes in applicable tax laws or accounting principles, or such other factors as the Administrator may determine (including,
without limitation, any adjustments that would result in the Company paying non-deductible compensation to a Participant).
Section 7.5 Special Rule for Performance Goals. If, at the time of grant, the Administrator intends a Performance Share Award,
Performance Unit or other Performance Award to qualify as performance-based compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m) of
the Code, the Administrator must establish Performance Goals for the applicable Performance Cycle prior to the 91 st day of the
Performance Cycle (or by such other date as may be required under Section 162(m) of the Code) but not later than the date on which
25% of the Performance Cycle has lapsed.
Section 7.6 Negative Discretion. Notwithstanding anything in this Article VII to the contrary, the Administrator shall have the
right, in its absolute discretion, (i) to reduce or eliminate the amount otherwise payable to any Participant under Section 7.9 based on
individual performance or any other factors that the Administrator, in its discretion, shall deem appropriate and ( ii) to establish rules or
procedures that have the effect of limiting the amount payable to each Participant to an amount that is less than the maximum amount
otherwise authorized under the Award Agreement or under the Plan.
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Section 7.7
Affirmative Discretion. Notwithstanding any other provision in the Plan to the contrary, but subject to the
maximum number of Shares available for issuance under Section 2.1 of the Plan, (i) the Administrator shall have the right, in its
discretion, to grant an Award in cash, Shares or other Awards, or in any combination thereof, to any Participant (except for a Participant
who is a Covered Employee, to the extent Section 162(m) of the Code is applicable to the Company and the Plan for the year in which
the amount paid would ordinarily be deductible by the Company for federal income tax purposes in an amount up to the maximum
Award payable), based on individual performance or any other criteria that the Administrator deems appropriate and ( ii) in connection
with the hiring of any person who is or becomes a Covered Employee, the Administrator may provide for a minimum bonus amount or
Award payment in any Performance Cycle, regardless of whether the performance objectives are attained.
Section 7.8 Certification of Attainment of Performance Goals. As soon as practicable after the end of a Performance Cycle and
prior to any payment or vesting in respect of such Performance Cycle, the Administrator shall certify in writing the number of
Performance Shares or other Performance Awards and the number and value of Performance Units that have been earned or vested on
the basis of performance in relation to the established Performance Goals.
Section 7.9 Payment of Awards. Payment or delivery of Company Common Stock with respect to earned Performance Shares
and earned Performance Units shall be distributed to the Participant or, if the Participant has died, to the Participant’s Eligible
Representative, as soon as practicable after the expiration of the Performance Cycle and the Administrator’s certification under Section
7.8 above (unless an Award Agreement sets forth one or more other dates) and in any event no later than the earlier of ( i) 2 ½ months
after the end of the fiscal year in which the Performance Cycle expires and (ii) ninety (90) days after the expiration of the Performance
Cycle, provided that payment or delivery of Company Common Stock with respect to earned Performance Shares and earned
Performance Units shall not be distributed to a Participant until any other conditions on payment of such Awards established by the
Administrator have been satisfied. The Administrator shall determine whether earned Performance Shares and the value of earned
Performance Units are to be distributed in the form of cash, Shares or in a combination thereof, with the value or number of Shares
payable to be determined based on the Fair Market Value of the Company Common Stock on the date of the Administrator’s
certification under Section 7.8 above. The Administrator shall have the right to impose whatever conditions it deems appropriate with
respect to the award or delivery of Shares, including conditioning the vesting of such Shares on the performance of additional service.
Section 7.10 Newly Eligible Participants. Notwithstanding anything in this Article VII to the contrary, the Administrator shall
be entitled to make such rules, determinations and adjustments as it deems appropriate with respect to any Participant who becomes
eligible to receive Performance Shares, Performance Units or other Performance Awards after the commencement of a Performance
Cycle.
ARTICLE VIII.
DEFERRED SHARE UNITS
Section 8.1
Grant. Subject to Article XII, the Administrator is authorized to make awards of Deferred Share Units to any
Participant selected by the Administrator at such time or times as shall be determined by the Administrator without regard to any
election by the Participant to defer receipt of any compensation or bonus amount payable to him. The grant date of any freestanding
Deferred Share Unit under the Plan will be the date on which such freestanding Deferred Share Unit is awarded by the Administrator or
on such other future date as the Administrator shall determine in its sole discretion. In addition, subject to Article XII, on fixed dates
established by the Administrator and subject to such terms and conditions as the Administrator shall determine, the Administrator may
permit a Participant to elect to defer receipt of all or a portion of his annual compensation and/or annual incentive bonus (“Deferred
Annual Amount”) payable by the Company or a Subsidiary and receive in lieu thereof an Award of elective Deferred Share Units
(“Elective Deferred Share Units”) equal to the greatest whole number that may be obtained by dividing (i) the amount of the Deferred
Annual Amount, by (ii) the Fair Market Value of one Share on the date of payment of such compensation and/or annual bonus. Each
Award of Deferred Share Units shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify ( x) the number of Shares to which the
Deferred Share Units pertain, (y) the time and form of payment of the Deferred Share Units and (z) such terms and conditions not
inconsistent with the Plan as the Administrator shall
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determine, including customary representations, warranties and covenants with respect to securities law matters and such provisions as
may be required pursuant to Section 409A of the Code. Upon the grant of Deferred Share Units pursuant to the Plan, the Company shall
establish a notional account for the Participant and will record in such account the number of Deferred Share Units awarded to the
Participant. No Shares will be issued to the Participant at the time an award of Deferred Share Units is granted. Subject to Article XII,
Deferred Share Units may become payable on a Corporate Event, termination of employment or on a specified date or dates set forth in
the Award Agreement evidencing such Deferred Share Units.
Section 8.2 Rights as a Stockholder. A Participant shall not have any rights as a stockholder in respect of Deferred Share Units
awarded pursuant to the Plan (including but not limited to the right to vote on any matter submitted to the Company’s stockholders)
until such time as the Shares attributable to such Deferred Share Units have been issued to such Participant or his or her beneficiary.
Section 8.3
Vesting. Unless the Administrator provides otherwise at or after the grant date, the portion of each Award of
Deferred Share Units that consists of freestanding Deferred Share Units, together with any dividend equivalents credited with respect
thereto, will be subject to a restriction period of such length and subject to such terms and conditions as determined by the
Administrator. In its discretion, the Administrator may establish performance-based vesting conditions with respect to Awards of
Deferred Share Units (in lieu of, or in addition to, time-based vesting) based on one or more of the Performance Goals listed in Section
7.4; provided that any Award of Deferred Share Units made to any Covered Employee that is intended to qualify as performance-based
compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code shall be subject to the same restrictions and limitations applicable to Awards of
Performance Shares and Performance Units under Section 7.5 and Section 7.8. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable Award
Agreement or as provided in Section 11.4, the portion of each Award of Deferred Share Units that consists of Elective Deferred Share
Units, together with any dividend equivalents credited with respect thereto, shall not be subject to any restriction period and shall be
non‑forfeitable at all times.
Section 8.4 Further Deferral Elections. A Participant may elect to further defer receipt of Shares issuable in respect of Deferred
Share Units (or an installment of an Award) for a specified period or until a specified event, subject in each case to the Administrator’s
approval and to such terms as are determined by the Administrator, all in its sole discretion. Subject to any exceptions adopted by the
Administrator, such election must generally be made at least twelve (12) months prior to the prior settlement date of such Deferred
Share Units (or any such installment thereof) and must defer settlement for at least five (5) years after such prior settlement date. A
further deferral opportunity does not have to be made available to all Participants, and different terms and conditions may apply with
respect to the further deferral opportunities made available to different Participants.
Section 8.5 Settlement. Subject to this Article VIII, upon the date specified in the Award Agreement evidencing the Deferred
Share Units, for each such Deferred Share Unit the Participant shall receive, in the Administrator’s discretion, (i) a cash payment equal
to the Fair Market Value of one (1) Share as of such payment date, (ii) one (1) Share or (iii) any combination of cash and Shares.
ARTICLE IX.
OTHER STOCK-BASED AWARDS
Section 9.1 Grant of Stock-Based Awards . The Administrator is authorized to make Awards of other types of equity-based or
equity-related awards (“Stock-Based Awards ”) not otherwise described by the terms of the Plan in such amounts and subject to such
terms and conditions as the Administrator shall determine. All Stock-Based Awards shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement. Such
Stock-Based Awards may be granted as an inducement to enter the employ of the Company or any Subsidiary or in satisfaction of any
obligation of the Company or any Subsidiary to an officer or other key employee, whether pursuant to this Plan or otherwise, that
would otherwise have been payable in cash or in respect of any other obligation of the Company. Such Stock-Based Awards may entail
the transfer of actual Shares, or payment in cash or otherwise of amounts based on the value of Shares and may include, without
limitation, Awards designed to comply with or take advantage of the applicable local laws of jurisdictions other than the United States.
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ARTICLE X.
DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS
Section 10.1 Generally. Dividend Equivalents may be granted to Participants at such time or times as shall be determined by
the Administrator. Dividend Equivalents may be granted in tandem with other Awards, in addition to other Awards, or freestanding and
unrelated to other Awards. The grant date of any Dividend Equivalents under the Plan will be the date on which the Dividend
Equivalent is awarded by the Administrator, or such other date as the Administrator shall determine in its sole discretion. Dividend
Equivalents shall be evidenced in writing, whether as part of the Award Agreement governing the terms of the Award, if any, to which
such Dividend Equivalent relates, or pursuant to a separate Award Agreement with respect to freestanding Dividend Equivalents, in
each case, containing such provisions not inconsistent with the Plan as the Administrator shall determine, including customary
representations, warranties and covenants with respect to securities law matters; provided that no Dividend Equivalent shall vest or be
payable based on the exercise of an Option or SAR.
ARTICLE XI.
TERMINATION AND FORFEITURE
Section 11.1 Termination for Cause. Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator at or after the grant date and set forth
in the Award Agreement covering the Award or otherwise in writing, if a Participant’s employment or service terminates for Cause, all
Options and SARs, whether vested or unvested, and all other Awards that are unvested or unexercisable or otherwise unpaid (or were
unvested or unexercisable or unpaid at the time of occurrence of Cause) shall be immediately forfeited and canceled, effective as of the
date of the Participant’s termination of service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise determined by the Administrator at or
after the grant date and set forth in the Award Agreement covering the Award or otherwise in writing, any Award that vested or was
paid to the Participant or otherwise settled during the twelve months prior to or any time after the Participant engaged in the conduct
that gave rise to the termination for Cause shall upon demand by the Administrator be immediately forfeited and disgorged or paid to
the Company together with all gains earned or accrued due to the exercise of such Awards or sale of Company Common Stock issued
pursuant to such Awards.
Section 11.2 Termination for Any Other Reason . Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator at or after the grant date
and set forth in the Award Agreement covering the Award or otherwise in writing, if a Participant’s employment or service terminates
for any reason other than Cause:
(a)
All Awards that are unvested or unexercisable shall be immediately forfeited and canceled, effective as of the
date of the Participant’s termination of service.
(b)
All Options and SARs that are vested shall remain outstanding until (x) in the case of termination for death or
Disability, the first anniversary of the date of the Participant’s death, ( y) the 60 th day after the date of termination for any reason other
than death or Disability or (z) the Award’s normal expiration date, whichever is earlier, after which any unexercised Options and SARs
shall immediately terminate.
Section 11.3
Post-Termination Informational Requirements. Before the settlement of any Award following termination of
employment or service, the Administrator may require the Participant (or the Participant’s Eligible Representative, if applicable) to make
such representations and provide such documents as the Administrator deems necessary or advisable to effect compliance with
Applicable Law and determine whether the provisions of Section 11.1 or Section 11.4 may apply to such Award.
Section 11.4

Forfeiture of Awards.

(a)
Forfeiture for Financial Reporting Misconduct. If the Company is required to prepare an accounting
restatement due to material noncompliance by the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, (x) with
respect to any Participant who either knowingly or grossly negligently engaged in the
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misconduct or knowingly or grossly negligently failed to prevent the misconduct as determined by the Administrator or is one of the
individuals subject to automatic forfeiture under Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, such Participant shall forfeit and
disgorge to the Company (i) any Awards granted or vested and all gains earned or accrued due to the exercise of Options or SARS or
sale of any Company Common Stock during the twelve (12)-month period following the filing of the financial document embodying
such financial reporting requirement and (ii) any other Awards that vested based on the materially non-complying financial reporting
and (y) with respect to any Participant who is a current or former member of the Leadership Team or other executive officer of the
Company (as defined under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) who received incentive compensation under the Plan during the
three-year period preceding the date on which the Company is required to prepare such accounting restatement, based on erroneous
data, in excess of what would have been awarded or paid to such Participant under such accounting restatement, such Participant shall
forfeit and disgorge to the Company such excess incentive compensation.
(b)
Forfeiture under Applicable Laws or Regulations. In addition to forfeiture for reasons specified in Section
11.4(a), the Company may cancel or reduce or require the Participant to forfeit and disgorge to the Company any Awards granted or
vested and any gains earned or accrued due to the exercise of Options or SARS or sale of any Company Common Stock to the extent
permitted or required by Applicable Law or regulations in effect on or after the Effective Date. For the avoidance of doubt, the
Administrator shall have full authority to implement any policies and procedures necessary to comply with Section 10D of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any rules promulgated thereunder.
(c)
Forfeiture for Competitive Activity . Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator at or after the grant
date and set forth in the Award Agreement covering the Award or otherwise in writing, if during or following a Participant’s termination
of employment or service with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries the Participant engages in Competitive Activity, all Options and
SARs, whether vested or unvested, and all other Awards that are unvested or unexercisable or otherwise unpaid shall be immediately
forfeited and canceled, effective as of the date of the Participant’s termination of service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Award
that vested or was paid to the Participant or otherwise settled more than twelve (12) months prior to the date the Participant engaged in
Competitive Activity, as determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion, shall not be recovered from the Participant. Any Award
vested, paid or otherwise settled in the twelve (12) months prior to the date that the Participant engaged in Competitive Activity or at
any time thereafter shall upon demand by the Administrator be immediately forfeited and disgorged or paid to the Company together
with all gains earned or accrued due to the exercise of such Awards or sale of any Company Common Stock issued pursuant to such
Awards.
(d)
Forfeiture for Other Misconduct. Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, if ( i) the Participant’s
performance is deemed to contribute substantially to the Company or a Subsidiary incurring significant financial losses; (ii) the
Participant’s performance is deemed to contribute substantially to a significant downward restatement of any published results of the
Company or a Subsidiary; (iii) the Participant engages in conduct that results in or contributes substantially to significant reputational
harm to the Company; (iv) the Participant materially breaches or contributes substantially to a material breach of applicable legal and/or
regulatory requirements; (v) the Participant engages in conduct that constitutes Cause or (vi) the Participant engages in conduct that
results in or contributes substantially to a material breach of the Company’s applicable internal policies and procedures, including
without limitation those policies in respect of risk management, compliance, disciplinary and any applicable supervisory practices, the
Administrator in its sole discretion may suspend the vesting of any Awards granted (or a portion thereof) and/or require the forfeiture
and disgorgement to the Company of any Awards (or a portion thereof) granted or vested during the twelve months prior to or any time
after the Participant engaged in such misconduct and all gains earned or accrued due to the exercise of such Awards or sale of any
Company Common Stock issued pursuant to such Awards.
(e)
Other Recoupment Policies. Awards granted under this Plan (and gains earned or accrued in connection with
Awards) shall also be subject to such generally applicable policies as to forfeiture, disgorgement and recoupment (including, without
limitation, upon the occurrence of material financial or accounting errors, financial or other misconduct) as may be adopted by the
Administrator or the Board from time to time and communicated to Participants. Any such policies may (in the discretion of the
Administrator or the Board) be applied to outstanding Awards at the time of adoption of such policies, or on a prospective basis only.
The implementation of policies and
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procedures pursuant to this Section 11.4 and any modification of the same shall not be subject to any restrictions on amendment or
modification of Awards.
Section 11.5 Pre-Public Offering Awards . The provisions of this Article XI (other than the provisions of Section 11.4(a) and
Section 11.4(b)) shall not apply to any Awards granted prior to a Public Offering unless expressly provided otherwise in the Award
Agreement.
ARTICLE XII.
ADMINISTRATION
Section 12.1 Administrator. The Plan shall be administered by the Board or an Administrator appointed by the Board, which
Administrator shall be constituted to comply with Applicable Laws.
Section 12.2 Powers of the Administrator. Subject to the provisions of the Plan and, in the case of a committee, the specific
duties delegated by the Board to such Administrator, and subject to the approval of any relevant authorities, the Administrator shall
have the authority in its discretion to:
(a)

determine the Fair Market Value;

(b)

determine the type or types of Awards to be granted to each Participant;

(c)

select the Service Providers to whom Awards may from time to time be granted hereunder;

(d)
determine all matters and questions related to the termination of service of a Service Provider with respect to
any Award granted to him or her hereunder, including, but not by way of limitation of, all questions of whether a particular Service
Provider has taken a leave of absence, all questions of whether a leave of absence taken by a particular Service Provider constitutes a
termination of service, and all questions of whether a termination of service of a particular Service Provider resulted from discharge for
Cause. For the purpose of clarification, for such purpose the Board shall be the Administrator of any Award granted to a Director who is
not an Employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries hereunder, and the Board will therefore determine all matters and questions
related to the termination of a Director who is not an Employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as a Service Provider with
respect to any Award granted to him or her hereunder;
(e)

determine the number of Awards to be granted and the number of Shares to which an Award will relate;

(f)

approve forms of agreement for use under the Plan, which need not be identical for each Service Provider;

(g)
determine the terms and conditions of any Awards granted hereunder (including, but not limited to, the
exercise price, the time or times when Awards may be exercised (which may be based on performance criteria), any vesting
acceleration or waiver of forfeiture restrictions and any restriction or limitation regarding any Awards or the Company Common Stock
relating thereto) based in each case on such factors as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, shall determine;
(h)
prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the Plan, including rules and regulations
relating to Subplans established for the purpose of satisfying applicable foreign laws;
(i)
determine whether, to what extent, and pursuant to what circumstances an Award may be settled in, or the
exercise or purchase price of an Award may be paid in, cash, Company Common Stock, other Awards, or other property, or an Award
may be canceled, forfeited or surrendered;
(j)

suspend or accelerate the vesting of any Award granted under the Plan;
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(k)

construe and interpret the terms of the Plan and Awards granted pursuant to the Plan and

(l)
make all other decisions and determinations that may be required pursuant to the Plan or as the Administrator
deems necessary or advisable to administer the Plan.
Section 12.3 Compensation, Professional Assistance, Good Faith Actions . The Administrator may receive such compensation
for its services hereunder as may be determined by the Board. All expenses and liabilities incurred by the Administrator in connection
with the administration of the Plan shall be borne by the Company. The Administrator may employ attorneys, consultants, accountants,
appraisers, brokers or other persons. The Administrator, the Company and its officers and Directors shall be entitled to rely upon the
advice, opinions or valuations of any such persons. All actions taken and all interpretations, decisions and determinations made by the
Administrator, in good faith shall be final and binding upon all Participants, the Company and all other interested persons. The
Administrator shall not be personally liable for any action, determination or interpretation made with respect to the Plan or the Awards,
and the Administrator shall be fully protected by the Company with respect to any such action, determination or interpretation.
Section 12.4 Participants Based Outside the United States. To conform with the provisions of local laws and regulations, or
with local compensation practices and policies, in foreign countries in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates
operate, but subject to the limitations set forth herein regarding the maximum number of shares issuable hereunder and the maximum
award to any single Participant, the Administrator may (i) modify the terms and conditions of Awards granted to Participants employed
outside the United States (“Non-U.S. Awards”), (ii) establish subplans with such modifications as may be necessary or advisable under
the circumstances (“Subplans”) and (iii) take any action which it deems advisable to obtain, comply with or otherwise reflect any
necessary governmental regulatory procedures, exemptions or approvals with respect to the Plan. The Administrator’s decision to grant
Non-U.S. Awards or to establish Subplans is entirely voluntary, and at the complete discretion of the Administrator. The Administrator
may amend, modify or terminate any Subplans at any time, and such amendment, modification or termination may be made without
prior notice to the Participants. The Company, Subsidiaries, Affiliates and members of the Administrator shall not incur any liability of
any kind to any Participant as a result of any change, amendment or termination of any Subplan at any time. The benefits and rights
provided under any Subplan or by any Non-U.S. Award ( x) are wholly discretionary and, although provided by either the Company, a
Subsidiary or Affiliate, do not constitute regular or periodic payments and (y) are not to be considered part of the Participant’s salary or
compensation under the Participant’s employment with the Participant’s local employer for purposes of calculating any severance,
resignation, redundancy or other end of service payments, vacation, bonuses, long-term service awards, indemnification, pension or
retirement benefits, or any other payments, benefits or rights of any kind. If a Subplan is terminated, the Administrator may direct the
payment of Non-U.S. Awards (or direct the deferral of payments whose amount shall be determined) prior to the dates on which
payments would otherwise have been made, and, in the Administrator’s discretion, such payments may be made in a lump sum or in
installments.
ARTICLE XIII.
CHANGE IN CONTROL
Section 13.1

Accelerated Vesting and Payment.

(a)
Accelerated Vesting. Unless the Administrator otherwise determines in the manner set forth in Section 13.1(b)
or as otherwise provided in an Award Agreement, upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, ( i) all Service Awards shall become
immediately vested or exercisable and be settled in shares of Company Common Stock, (ii) each outstanding Performance Award with
a Performance Cycle in progress at the time of the Change in Control shall be deemed to be earned and become vested and/or paid out
in an amount equal to the product of (A) such Participant’s target award opportunity with respect to such Performance Award for the
Performance Cycle in question and (B) the percentage of Performance Goals achieved as of the date of the Change in Control (which
Performance Goals shall be pro-rated, if necessary or appropriate, to reflect the portion of the Performance Cycle that has been
completed), and all other Performance Awards shall be canceled and forfeited upon consummation of the Change in Control and
(iii) shares of Company Common Stock underlying all Awards that are vested (as provided in this Section 13.1(a) or otherwise) shall be
issued or released to the Participant holding such Award; provided, that, at the
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discretion of the Administrator (as constituted immediately prior to the Change in Control), each Service Award may be canceled in
exchange for an amount equal to the product of (A)(I) in the case of Options and Stock Appreciation Rights, the excess, if any, of the
product of the Change in Control Price over the exercise price for such Award and ( II) in the case of other such Awards, the Change in
Control Price, multiplied by (B) the aggregate number of shares of Company Common Stock covered by such Award. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the Administrator may, in its discretion, instead terminate any outstanding Options or Stock Appreciation Rights if either
(x) the Company provides holders of such Options and Stock Appreciation Rights with reasonable advance notice to exercise their
outstanding and unexercised Options and Stock Appreciation Rights, or (y) the Administrator reasonably determines that the Change in
Control Price is equal to or less than the exercise price for such Options or Stock Appreciation Rights.
(b)
Timing of Payments. Payment of any amounts calculated in accordance with Section 13.1(a) shall be made in
cash or, if determined by the Administrator (as constituted immediately prior to the Change in Control), in shares of common stock of
the new employer having an aggregate fair market value equal to such amount and shall be payable in full, as soon as reasonably
practicable, but in no event later than 30 days, following the Change in Control. For purposes hereof, the fair market value of one share
of common stock of the new employer shall be determined by the Administrator (as constituted immediately prior to the consummation
of the transaction constituting the Change in Control), in good faith.
Section 13.2 Alternative Awards . Notwithstanding Section 13.1, except as otherwise provided in an Award Agreement, no
cancellation, termination, acceleration of exercisability or vesting, lapse of any restrictions or settlement or other payment shall occur
with respect to any outstanding Award, if the Administrator (as constituted immediately prior to the consummation of the transaction
constituting the Change in Control) reasonably determines, in good faith, with the approval of a majority of the members of the
Leadership Team, prior to the Change in Control, that such outstanding Awards shall be honored or assumed, or new rights substituted
therefor (such honored, assumed or substituted Award being hereinafter referred to as an “ Alternative Award ”) by the new employer,
provided, that any Alternative Award must:
(a)
provide the Participant (or each Participant in a class of Participants) with rights and entitlements substantially
equivalent to or better than the rights, terms and conditions applicable under such Award, including, but not limited to, an identical or
better exercise or vesting schedule and identical or better timing and methods of payment;
Control) and

(b)

have substantially equivalent economic value to such Award (determined at the time of the Change in

(c)
have terms and conditions which provide that in the event that the Participant suffers an involuntary
termination without Cause within two years following the Change in Control,
(i)
all outstanding Service Awards held by a terminated Participant shall become vested and exercisable
and any restrictions on such outstanding Service Awards shall lapse and
(ii)
each outstanding Performance Award held by a terminated Participant with a Performance Cycle in
progress at the time of both the Change in Control and the termination of employment shall be deemed to be earned and become vested
and/or paid out in an amount equal to the product of (x) such Participant’s target award opportunity with respect to such Award for the
Performance Cycle in question and (y) the greater of the percentage of Performance Goals (which Performance Goals shall be pro-rated,
if necessary or appropriate, to reflect the portion of the Performance Cycle that has been completed) achieved as of the date of the
Change in Control and as of the last day of the fiscal quarter ended on or immediately prior to the date of Termination of Service. The
portion of any Performance Award that does not vest in accordance with the preceding sentence shall immediately be forfeited and
canceled without any payment therefor.
(iii)
Payments. To the extent permitted under Section 14.14, all amounts payable hereunder shall be
payable in full, as soon as reasonably practicable, but in no event later than 10 business days, following the Participant’s termination of
employment.
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Section 13.3 Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything in Section 13.2, if any Award is subject to Section 409A of the Code
and an Alternative Award would be deemed a non-compliant material modification (as defined in Section 409A of the Code) of such
Award, then no Alternative Award shall be provided and such Award shall instead be treated as provided in Section 13.1.
Section 13.4 Pre-Public Offering Awards . The provisions of this Article XIII shall not apply to any Awards granted prior to a
Public Offering unless expressly provided otherwise in the Award Agreement.
ARTICLE XIV.
OTHER PROVISIONS
Section 14.1

Changes in Company Common Stock; Disposition of Assets and Corporate Events.

(a)
In the event of any recapitalization (including a leveraged recapitalization), reclassification, stock split,
extraordinary dividend, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, acquisition, disposition, split-up, spin-off,
combination, repurchase, liquidation, dissolution, or sale, transfer, exchange or any disposition of all or substantially all of the capital
stock or assets of the Company (including, but not limited to, an Equity Restructuring), exchange of Company Common Stock or other
securities of the Company, issuance of warrants or other rights to purchase Company Common Stock or other securities of the
Company, the acquisition or disposition of any material assets or business or other similar corporate transaction or event that affects the
Company Common Stock (each, a “Corporate Event”) such that an adjustment to the Awards or Plan is determined by the
Administrator to be necessary in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made
available under the Plan or with respect to an Award, then the Administrator shall, in such manner as it may deem equitable, adjust any
or all of:
(i)
the number and kind of Shares (or other securities or property) with respect to which an Award may be
granted under the Plan (including, but not limited to, adjustments of the limitations in Section 2.1 on the maximum number and kind of
Shares which may be issued);
(ii)

the number and kind of Shares (or other securities or property) subject to outstanding Awards;

(iii)

the grant or exercise or base price per Share for any outstanding Awards under the Plan;

(iv)
the terms and conditions of any outstanding Awards (including, without limitation, any applicable
financial or other Performance Goals) or
(v)
make such other provision with respect to the holder or holders of outstanding Awards (which may
include, without limitation, provision for dividend equivalents or other compensation inside or outside of the Plan);
it being understood that any such adjustment or other provision shall be implemented in such manner as the Administrator determines is
necessary to preserve the economic value represented by the Award immediately prior to such event (except that, for the avoidance of
doubt, economic value of any Option or SAR need not reflect any value other than the spread value of such Award at such time) and
not cause the Award to become subject to the provisions of or any additional taxes, interest or penalties imposed by Section 409A of
the Code. All determinations and adjustments made by the Administrator in good faith pursuant to this Section 14.1(a) shall be final and
binding on the affected Participants and the Company.
(b)
Subject to Section 14.14, upon the occurrence of a Corporate Event, the Administrator is hereby
authorized to take any one or more of the following actions whenever the Administrator determines that such action is necessary
in order to (x) prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits
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intended to be made available under the Plan or with respect to any Award under this Plan, (y) facilitate such Corporate Event or
(z) give effect to such changes in laws, regulations or accounting principles:
(i) The Administrator may provide, on such terms and conditions as it deems appropriate, either by the terms of
the applicable Award Agreement or by action taken prior to the occurrence of such Corporate Event, and either automatically or upon
the Participant’s request, for either (A) the purchase of any outstanding Award for an amount of cash, securities, or other property equal
to the amount that could have been attained upon the exercise of the portion of such Award that was vested and exercisable (and such
additional portion of the Award as the Administrator may determine) immediately prior to the occurrence of such Corporate Event or
(B) the replacement of such vested (and other) portion of such Award with other rights or property selected by the Administrator in its
sole discretion;
(ii) In its sole discretion, the Administrator may provide, either by the terms of the applicable Award Agreement
or by action taken prior to the occurrence of such Corporate Event, that, if, as of the date of the occurrence of such Corporate Event, the
Administrator determines in good faith that no amount would have been obtained upon the vesting or exercise of the Award, then the
Award (or any portion thereof) will terminate upon the occurrence of such Corporate Event and cannot vest, be exercised or become
payable after such Corporate Event;
(iii) The Administrator may provide, on such terms and conditions as it deems appropriate, either by the terms
of the applicable Award Agreement or by action taken prior to the occurrence of such Corporate Event, that for a specified period of
time prior to such Corporate Event, such Award shall be exercisable as to all Shares covered thereby or a specified portion of such
Shares, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in (A) Section 4.2 or (B) the provisions of the applicable Award Agreement;
(iv) In its sole discretion and on such terms and conditions as it deems appropriate, the Administrator may
provide, either by the terms of the applicable Award Agreement or by action taken prior to the occurrence of such Corporate Event, that
upon such Corporate Event, such Award (or any portion thereof) be assumed by the successor or survivor corporation, or a parent or
subsidiary thereof, or shall be substituted for by similar options, rights or Awards covering the stock of the successor or survivor
corporation, or a parent or subsidiary thereof, with appropriate adjustments as to the number and kind of Shares and prices; and
(v) The Administrator may make adjustments in the number and type of Shares (or other securities or property)
subject to the Plan and outstanding Awards (or any portion thereof) and/or in the terms and conditions of (including the exercise price),
and the criteria included in, outstanding Awards and Awards which may be granted in the future.
(c)
With respect to Awards granted prior to a Public Offering, in connection with the occurrence of any Equity
Restructuring, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 14.1(a) and Section 14.1(b), the Administrator will equitably
adjust each outstanding Award, which adjustments may include adjustments to the number and type of securities subject to each
outstanding Award and/or the exercise price or grant price thereof, if applicable, the grant of new Awards to Participants, and/or the
making of a cash payment to Participants, as the Administrator deems necessary to reflect such Equity Restructuring. The adjustments
provided under this Section 14.1(c) shall be nondiscretionary and shall be final and binding on the affected Participant and the
Company; provided that whether an adjustment is equitable shall be determined in the discretion of the Administrator.
the Code.

(d)

Any adjustment of an Award pursuant to Section 14.1 shall be effected in compliance with Section 409A of

(e)
The Administrator may include such further provisions and limitations in any Award Agreement or
Stockholders Agreement as it may deem equitable and in the best interests of the Company and its Subsidiaries.
(f)
To the extent required by the terms of an Award Agreement, the Company shall notify the Participant prior to
the date of a Corporate Event.
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Section 14.2

Transferability.

(a)
Awards Not Transferable. Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Administrator, no Award or interest or
right therein or part thereof shall be liable for the debts, contracts or engagements of the Participant or his or her successors in interest or
shall be subject to disposition by transfer, alienation, anticipation, pledge, encumbrance, assignment or any other means whether such
disposition be voluntary or involuntary or by operation of law, by judgment, levy, attachment, garnishment or any other legal or
equitable proceedings (including bankruptcy), and any attempted disposition thereof shall be null and void and of no effect; provided,
however, that nothing in this Section 14.2 shall prevent transfers by will or by the applicable laws of descent and distribution.
(b)
Transferability of Shares. Prior to the day that is one hundred eighty (180) days (or such shorter or longer
period as determined by the managing underwriters to be appropriate in order to avoid a material adverse impact on marketability or
price) after the consummation of a Public Offering, no Participant shall without the prior consent of the Administrator transfer any
Shares issued pursuant to an Award except for ( i) transfers to the Company, (ii) transfers (A) by gift to, or for the benefit of, any
member or members of a Participant’s immediate family (which shall include any spouse, or any lineal ancestor or descendant, niece,
nephew, adopted child or sibling of him or her or such spouse, niece, nephew or adopted child), (B) to a trust under which the
distribution of the Shares may be made only by such Participant and/or such Participant’s immediate family or (C) to a partnership or
limited liability company for the benefit of the immediate family of such Participant and the partners or members of which are only such
Participant and such Participant’s immediate family or (iii) any transfer of such Shares by a Participant to his or her heirs, executors or
legatees by operation of law or court order upon the death or incapacity of such Participant (each such transfer, a “Permitted Transfer”).
Section 14.3

Amendment, Suspension or Termination of the Plan or Award Agreements.

(a)
The Plan may be wholly or partially amended or otherwise modified, suspended or terminated at any time or
from time to time by the Administrator; provided that without the approval by a majority of the shares entitled to vote at a duly
constituted meeting of shareholders of the Company, no amendment or modification to the Plan may (i) except as otherwise expressly
provided in Section 14.1, increase the number of shares of Stock subject to the Plan or the individual Award limitations specified in
Section 2.2; (ii) modify the class of persons eligible for participation in the Plan or (iii) materially modify the Plan in any other way that
would require shareholder approval under Applicable Law.
(b)
Except as provided by Section 14.1, neither the amendment, suspension nor termination of the Plan shall,
without the consent of the holder of the Award, adversely alter or impair any rights or obligations under any Award theretofore granted.
Except as provided by Section 14.1, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator at any time, and from time to time, may amend
the terms of any one or more existing Award Agreements, provided, however, that the rights of a Participant under an Award
Agreement shall not be adversely impaired without the Participant’s written consent. The Company shall provide a Participant with
notice of any amendment made to such Participant’s existing Award Agreement in accordance with the terms of this Section 14.3(b).
(c)
No Award may be granted during any period of suspension nor after termination of the Plan, and in no event
may any Award be granted under this Plan after the expiration of ten (10) years from the Effective Date.
Section 14.4 Application of Certain Provisions of the Stockholders Agreement to the Awards . The provisions of Section 12 of
the Stockholders Agreement shall apply to all Awards granted pursuant to this Plan prior to a Public Offering, regardless of whether the
Participant is a party to such agreement or whether any Shares have been issued.
Section 14.5 Effect of Plan upon Other Award and Compensation Plans . The adoption of this Plan shall not affect any other
compensation or incentive plans in effect for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Nothing in this Plan shall be construed to limit the
right of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (a) to establish any other forms of incentives or compensation for Service Providers or
(b) to grant or assume options or restricted stock other than
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under this Plan in connection with any proper corporate purpose, including, but not by way of limitation, the grant or assumption of
options or restricted stock in connection with the acquisition by purchase, lease, merger, consolidation or otherwise, of the business,
stock or assets of any corporation, firm or association.
Section 14.6 At-Will Employment. Nothing in the Plan, the Stockholders Agreement or any Award Agreement hereunder shall
confer upon the Participant any right to continue as a Service Provider of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or shall interfere with
or restrict in any way the rights of the Company and any of its Subsidiaries, which are hereby expressly reserved, to discharge any
Participant at any time for any reason whatsoever, with or without Cause, except to the extent expressly provided otherwise in a written
employment or other agreement between the Participant and the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
Section 14.7
Titles. Titles are provided herein for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or
construction of the Plan.
Section 14.8 Conformity to Securities Laws. The Plan is intended to conform to the extent necessary with all provisions of the
Securities Act and the Exchange Act and any and all regulations and rules promulgated under any of the foregoing, to the extent the
Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any Participant is subject to the provisions thereof. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary,
the Plan shall be administered, and Awards shall be granted and may be exercised, only in such a manner as to conform to such laws,
rules and regulations. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Plan and Awards granted hereunder shall be deemed amended to
the extent necessary to conform to such laws, rules and regulations.
Section 14.9 Term of Plan. The Plan originally became effective on November 19, 2008. The Plan, as amended and restated,
shall become effective on the date that it is approved by the Board (the “Effective Date”) and shall continue in effect, unless sooner
terminated pursuant to Section 14.3, until the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date. The provisions of the Plan shall continue
thereafter to govern all outstanding Awards.
Section 14.10 Governing Law. To the extent not preempted by federal law, the Plan shall be construed in accordance with and
governed by the laws of the State of Delaware regardless of the application of rules of conflict of law that would apply the laws of any
other jurisdiction.
Section 14.11 Severability. In the event any portion of the Plan or any action taken pursuant thereto shall be held illegal or
invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining parts of the Plan, and the Plan shall be construed and
enforced as if the illegal or invalid provisions had not been included, and the illegal or invalid action shall be null and void.
Section 14.12 Governing Documents. In the event of any contradiction between the Plan and any Award Agreement or any
other written agreement between a Participant and the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company that has been approved by the
Administrator, the terms of the Plan shall govern, unless it is expressly specified in such Award Agreement or other written document
that a specific provision of the Plan shall not apply.
Section 14.13 Withholding Taxes. In addition to any rights or obligations with respect to Withholding Taxes under the Plan or
any applicable Award Agreement, the Company or any Subsidiary employing a Service Provider shall have the right to withhold from
the Service Provider, or otherwise require the Service Provider or an assignee to pay, any Withholding Taxes arising as a result of grant,
exercise, vesting or settlement of any Award or any other taxable event occurring pursuant to the Plan or any Award Agreement,
including, but not limited to, to the extent permitted by law, the right to deduct any such Withholding Taxes from any payment of any
kind otherwise due to the Service Provider or to take such other actions (including, but not limited to, withholding any Shares or cash
deliverable pursuant to the Plan or any Award) as may be necessary to satisfy such Withholding Taxes; provided, however, that in the
event that the Company withholds Shares issued or issuable to the Participant to satisfy the Withholding Taxes, the Company shall
withhold a number of whole Shares having a Fair Market Value, determined as of the date of withholding, not in excess of the
minimum of tax required to be withheld by law (or such lower amount as may be necessary to avoid liability award accounting); and
provided, further, that with respect to any Award subject to Section 409A of the Code, in no event shall Shares be withheld pursuant to
this Section 14.13 (other than upon or immediately prior to settlement

25

in accordance with the Plan and the applicable Award Agreement) other than to pay taxes imposed under the U.S. Federal Insurance
Contributions Act (FICA) and any associated U.S. federal withholding tax imposed under Section 3401 of the Code and in no event
shall the value of such Shares (other than upon immediately prior to settlement) exceed the amount of the tax imposed under FICA and
any associated U.S. federal withholding tax imposed under Section 3401 of the Code. The Participant shall be responsible for all
Withholding Taxes and other tax consequences of any Award granted under this Plan.
Section 14.14 Section 409A. To the extent that the Administrator determines that any Award granted under the Plan is subject
to Section 409A of the Code, the Award Agreement evidencing such Award shall incorporate the terms and conditions required by
Section 409A of the Code. To the extent applicable, the Plan and Award Agreements shall be interpreted in accordance with Section
409A of the Code and Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder, including without
limitation any such regulations or other guidance that may be issued after the adoption of the Plan. In the case of any “nonqualified
deferred compensation” (within the meaning of Section 409A) that may be treated as payable in the form of “a series of installment
payments,” as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(iii), a Participant’s or designated beneficiary’s right to receive
such payments shall be treated as a right to receive a series of separate payments for purposes of such Treasury Regulation.
Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, in the event that following the adoption of the Plan, the Administrator
determines that any Award may be subject to Section 409A of the Code and related regulations and Department of Treasury guidance
(including such Department of Treasury guidance as may be issued after the adoption of the Plan), the Administrator may adopt such
amendments to the Plan and the applicable Award Agreement or adopt other policies and procedures (including amendments, policies
and procedures with retroactive effect), or take any other actions, that the Administrator determines are necessary or appropriate to
(a) exempt the Award from Section 409A of the Code and/or preserve the intended tax treatment of the benefits provided with respect
to the Award, ( b) comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code and related Department of Treasury guidance or
(c) comply with any correction procedures available with respect to Section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding anything else contained
in this Plan, any Award Agreement or the Stockholder’s Agreement to the contrary, if a Service Provider is a Specified Employee
(under any Company Specified Employee policy in effect at the time of the Service Provider’s Separation from Service (as defined
below) or, if no such policy is in effect, as defined in Section 409A of the Code) any payment required to be made to a Service Provider
hereunder upon or following his or her Separation from Service (as such term is defined in Section 409A of the Code) shall be delayed
until after the six‑month anniversary of the Service Provider’s Separation from Service to the extent necessary to comply with, and
avoid imposition on such Service Provider of any tax penalty imposed under, Section 409A of the Code. Should payments be delayed
in accordance with the preceding sentence, the accumulated payment that would have been made but for the period of the delay shall
be paid in a single lump sum during the ten-day period following the six-month anniversary of the Separation from Service.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Company nor the Administrator, nor any of the Company’s directors, officers or employees
shall have any liability to any person in the event Section 409A applies to any payment or right under this Plan in a manner that results
in adverse tax consequences for the Participant or any of his beneficiaries or transferees.
Section 14.15 Notices. Except as provided otherwise in an Award Agreement, all notices and other communications required
or permitted to be given under this Plan or any Award Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given if
delivered personally, sent by email or any other form of electronic transfer approved by the Administrator, sent by certified or express
mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or by any recognized international equivalent of such delivery, (i) in the case of notices
and communications to the Company, to 8283 Greensboro Drive, McLean, VA 22102 to the attention of the Law Department or ( ii) in
the case of a Participant, to the last known address, or email address or, where the individual is an employee of the Company or one of
its subsidiaries, to the individual’s workplace address or email address or by other means of electronic transfer acceptable to the
Administrator. All such notices and communications shall be deemed to have been received on the date of delivery, if sent by email or
any other form of electronic transfer, at the time of dispatch or on the third business day after the mailing thereof.
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AMENDED AND RESTATED
BOOZ ALLEN HAMILTON HOLDING CORPORATION
ANNUAL INCENTIVE PLAN
(Effective as of October 1, 2010 and amended and restated as of July 31, 2014)
SECTION 1.

PURPOSE

The purposes of the Plan are to enable the Company and its Subsidiaries to attract, retain, motivate and reward the best qualified
executive officers and key employees by providing them with the opportunity to earn competitive compensation directly linked to the
Company’s performance.
SECTION 2.

DEFINITIONS

Unless the context requires otherwise, the following words as used in the Plan shall have the meanings ascribed to each below,
it being understood that masculine, feminine and neuter pronouns are used interchangeably and that each comprehends the others.
(a)

“Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(b)

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

(c)
“Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board or such other committee or subcommittee of
the Board or the Compensation Committee as the Board or Compensation Committee shall designate from time to time. To the
extent Section 162(m) is applicable to the Company and the Plan, and for those awards intended to qualify as performancebased compensation under Section 162(m), the Committee shall consist of two or more members, each of whom is an “outside
director” within the meaning of Section 162(m).
(d)
“Common Stock” means the class A common stock of the Company, par value $0.01 per share, and such
other class of stock into which such common stock is hereafter converted or exchanged.
(e)

“Company” means Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation.

(f)
“Company Approved Departure” means a termination of employment that the Company (through the
members of its senior management), in its sole discretion, determines to be in the best interest of the Company and the
Company’s approval of such termination as a Company Approved Departure is approved or ratified by the Board or the
Committee.
(g)

“Covered Employee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 162(m).

(h)
“Disability” means “disability,” as such term is defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
(i)
“Equity Incentive Plan” means the Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan of Booz Allen Hamilton
Holding Corporation, as amended from time to time.
(j)
“Participant” means (i) each executive officer of the Company and (ii) each other employee of the Company
or a Subsidiary whom the Committee designates as a participant under the Plan.
(k)
“Performance Period” means each fiscal year or another period as designated by the Committee, so long as
such period does not exceed one year.
(l)
“Plan” means this Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation Annual Incentive Plan, as set forth herein and as
may hereafter be amended from time to time.
(m)
“Section 162(m)” means Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to
time, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
(n)
“Subsidiary” means any business entity in which the Company owns, directly or indirectly, fifty percent
(50%) or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock entitled to vote, and any other business organization,
regardless of form, in which the Company possesses, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the total combined equity interests.
SECTION 3.

AWARDS

(a) Performance Criteria. The Committee shall establish the performance objective or objectives that must be satisfied
in order for a Participant to receive an award for a Performance Period; provided that for those awards intended to qualify as
performance-based compensation under Section 162(m), the Committee shall establish the objective or objectives that must be

satisfied in order for a Participant to receive an award for a Performance Period prior to the 91 st day of the Performance Period
(or such other date as may be required or permitted under Section 162(m)) but not later than the date on which 25% of the
performance period has lapsed. Unless the Committee determines at the time of grant not to qualify the award as performancebased compensation under Section 162(m), any such performance objectives will be based upon the relative or comparative
achievement of one or more of the following criteria, whether in absolute terms or relative to the performance of one or more
similarly situated companies or a published index covering the performance of a number of companies and whether gross or
net, before or after taxes and/or before or after other adjustments, as determined by the Committee for the Performance Period:
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, with or without adjustments for stock-option based and other
equity-based compensation expenses, and/or management, transaction and/or similar fees paid to the principal stockholders or
their affiliates; operating earnings; net earnings; income; earnings before interest and taxes; total shareholder return; return on
the Company’s assets; increase in the Company’s earnings or earnings per share (basic or diluted); revenue growth; share price
performance; return on invested capital; operating income; pre- or post-tax income; net income; economic value added; profit
margins; cash flow; improvement in or attainment of expense or capital expenditure levels; improvement in or attainment of
working capital levels; return on equity; debt reduction; gross profit; market share; cost reductions; workforce satisfaction and
diversity goals; workplace health and safety goals; employee retention; completion of key projects and strategic plan
development and/or implementation; job profit or performance against a multiplier; or, in the case of persons who are not
Covered Employees, such other criteria as may be determined by the Committee. Performance objectives may be established on
a Company-wide basis or with respect to one or more business units, divisions, Subsidiaries, or products; and in either absolute
terms or relative to the performance of one or more comparable companies or an index covering multiple companies.
When establishing performance objectives for a Performance Period, the Committee may exclude any or all “extraordinary
items” as determined under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and as identified in the financial statements, notes to
the financial statements or management’s discussion and analysis in the annual report, including, without limitation, the charges
or costs associated with restructurings of the Company or any Subsidiary, discontinued operations, extraordinary items, capital
gains and losses, dividends, share repurchase, other unusual or non-recurring items, and the cumulative effects of accounting
changes. Except in the case of awards intended to qualify as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m), the
Committee may also adjust the performance objectives for any Performance Period as it deems equitable in recognition of
unusual or non-recurring events affecting the Company, changes in applicable tax laws or accounting principles, or such other
factors as the Committee may determine (including, without limitation, any adjustments that would result in the Company
paying non-deductible compensation to a Participant).
(b) Maximum Amount Payable. If the Committee certifies in writing that the performance objectives established for the
relevant Performance Period under Section 3(a) have been satisfied, each Participant who is employed by the Company or one
of its Subsidiaries on the last day of the Performance Period for which the award is payable shall be entitled to receive an annual
award in an amount not to exceed US $5,000,000. If a Participant’s employment terminates for any reason other than for cause
(including, without limitation, his death, disability, retirement under the terms of any retirement plan maintained by the
Company or a Subsidiary or Company Approved Departure) prior to the last day of the Performance Period for which the award
is payable, the maximum award payable to such Participant under the preceding sentence shall be multiplied by a fraction, the
numerator of which is the number of days that have elapsed during the Performance Period in which the termination occurs
prior to and including the date of the Participant’s termination of employment and the denominator of which is the total number
of days in the Performance Period.
(c) Termination of Employment. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee in its sole discretion at the time the
performance criteria are selected for a particular Performance Period in accordance with Section 3(a), if a Participant’s
employment terminates for any reason prior to the date on which the award is paid hereunder, except as otherwise provided in a
Participant’s employment or other similar agreement, such Participants shall forfeit all rights to any and all awards that have not
yet been paid under the Plan; provided that if a Participant’s employment terminates as a result of death, Disability or Company
Approved Departure, the Committee shall give consideration at its sole discretion to the payment of a partial award with regard
to the portion of the Performance Period worked. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Participant’s employment terminates for
any reason prior to the date on which the award is paid hereunder, the Committee, in its discretion, may waive any forfeiture
pursuant to this Section 3 in whole or in part but, may not waive satisfaction of the performance objectives with respect to any
Covered Employee.
(d) Negative Discretion. Notwithstanding anything else contained in Section 3(b) to the contrary, the Committee shall
have the right, in its absolute discretion, (i) to reduce or eliminate the amount otherwise payable to any Participant under Section

3(b) based on individual performance or conduct or any other factors that the Committee, in its discretion, shall deem
appropriate and (ii) to establish rules or procedures that have the effect of limiting the amount payable to each Participant to an
amount that is less than the maximum amount otherwise authorized under Section 3(b).
(e)
Affirmative Discretion. Notwithstanding any other provision in the Plan to the contrary (including, without
limitation, the maximum amounts payable under Section 3(b)), but subject in the case of awards paid in shares of the
Company’s Common Stock or other awards under the Equity Incentive Plan to the maximum number of shares available for
issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan, (i) the Committee shall have the right, in its discretion, to grant any annual award in
cash, in shares of the Company’s Common Stock, in other awards under the Equity Incentive Plan or in any combination
thereof, to any Participant (except for a Participant who is a Covered Employee, to the extent Section 162(m) is applicable to the
Company and the Plan for the year in which the amount paid would ordinarily be deductible by the Company for federal
income tax purposes in an amount up to the maximum award payable under Section 3(b)), based on individual performance or
any other criteria that the Committee deems appropriate and (ii) in connection with the hiring of any person who is or becomes a
Covered Employee, the Committee may provide for a minimum award amount in any Performance Period, regardless of
whether performance objectives are attained.
SECTION 4.

PAYMENT

Except as otherwise provided hereunder, payment of any award amount determined under Section 3 shall be made to each
Participant as soon as practicable after the Committee certifies that one or more of the applicable performance objectives have been
attained (or, in the case of any award payable under the provisions of Section 3(d), after the Committee determines the amount of any
such award) and in any event no later than two and a half months after the end of the fiscal year in which the Performance Period ends.
The Committee shall determine whether any bonus payable under the Plan is payable in cash, in shares of Common Stock (including,
but not limited to, restricted common stock or restricted stock units) or other awards under the Equity Incentive Plan, or in any
combination thereof. The Committee shall have the right to impose whatever conditions it deems appropriate with respect to the award
of shares of Common Stock or other awards, including conditioning the vesting of such shares or other awards on the performance of
additional service.
SECTION 5.

GENERAL PROVISIONS

(a) Administration. The Committee shall be responsible for the administration of the Plan; provided that, in no event
shall the Plan be interpreted in a manner that would cause any award intended to be qualified as performance-based
compensation under Section 162(m) to fail to so qualify. The Committee shall establish the performance objectives for any
fiscal year or other Performance Period determined by the Committee in accordance with Section 3 and certify whether such
performance objectives have been obtained. The Committee may prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to
the administration of the Plan and make all other determinations necessary or advisable for the administration and interpretation
of the Plan. Any authority exercised by the Committee under the Plan shall be exercised by the Committee in its sole discretion.
Determinations, interpretations or other actions made or taken by the Committee under the Plan shall be final, binding and
conclusive for all purposes and upon all persons.
(b) Delegation by the Committee. All of the powers, duties and responsibilities of the Committee specified in this Plan
may be exercised and performed by the Committee or any duly constituted committee thereof to the extent authorized by the
Committee to exercise and perform such powers, duties and responsibilities, and any determination, interpretation or other
action taken by such committee shall have the same effect hereunder as if made or taken by the Committee; provided that, to the
extent Section 162(m) is applicable to the Company and the Plan, the Committee shall in no event delegate its authority with
respect to the compensation of any Covered Employee.
(c) Tax Withholding . The Company shall have the power to withhold, or to require the Participant to remit to the
Company, an amount in cash sufficient to satisfy all U.S. federal, state, local and any non-U.S. withholding tax or other
governmental tax, charge or fee requirements in respect of any payment under the Plan.
(d) No Guarantee of Employment. Nothing in the Plan shall interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company
to terminate any Participant’s employment at any time, or confer upon any Participant any right to continue in the employ or
retention of the Company.
(e) Unfunded Plan; Plan Not Subject to ERISA. The Plan is an unfunded plan and Participants shall have the status of
unsecured creditors of the Company. The Plan is not intended to be subject to the Employee Retirement Income and Security
Act of 1974, as amended.

(f) Freedom of Action . Nothing in the Plan shall be construed as limiting or preventing the Company or any of its
affiliates from taking any action that it deems appropriate or in its best interest (as determined in its sole and absolute discretion)
and no Participant (or person claiming by or through a Participant) shall have any right relating to the diminishment in the value
of any award or any associated return as a result of any such action. The foregoing shall not constitute a waiver by a Participant
of the terms and provisions of the Plan.
(g) Forfeiture of Award Amounts.
(i)Forfeiture for Financial Reporting Misconduct. If the Company is required to prepare an accounting
restatement due to material noncompliance by the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the
securities laws, (x) with respect to any Participant who either knowingly or grossly negligently engaged in the
misconduct or knowingly or grossly negligently failed to prevent the misconduct as determined by the
Committee or is one of the individuals subject to automatic forfeiture under Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, such Participant shall forfeit and disgorge to the Company any award amounts (A) received during
the twelve (12)-month period following the filing of the financial document embodying such financial reporting
requirement or (B) earned based on the materially non-complying financial reporting, and (y) with respect to any
Participant who is a current or former executive officer of the Company (as defined under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) who received incentive compensation under the Plan during the three-year period
preceding the date on which the Company is required to prepare such accounting restatement, based on
erroneous data, in excess of what would have been awarded or paid to such Participant under such accounting
restatement, such Participant shall forfeit and disgorge to the Company such excess incentive compensation.
(ii)Forfeiture under Applicable Laws or Regulations. In addition to forfeiture for the reasons specified in
subsection (i) of this Section 5(g), the Company may cancel or reduce or require the Participant to forfeit and
disgorge to the Company any award amounts and any gains earned or accrued with respect to any equity award
or common stock granted or received pursuant to an Award under the Plan to the extent permitted or required by
applicable law, regulation, or stock exchange rule in effect on or after the effective date of the Plan. For the
avoidance of doubt, the Committee shall have full authority to implement any policies and procedures necessary
to comply with Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any rules promulgated
thereunder.
(iii)Forfeiture for Other Misconduct. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, if (i) the Participant’s
performance is deemed to contribute substantially to the Company or a subsidiary incurring significant financial
losses; (ii) the Participant’s performance is deemed to contribute substantially to a significant downward
restatement of any published results of the Company or a subsidiary; (iii) the Participant engages in conduct that
results in or contributes substantially to significant reputational harm to the Company; (iv) the Participant
materially breaches or contributes substantially to a material breach of applicable legal and/or regulatory
requirements; (v) the Participant engages in conduct that constitutes “cause” under any plan or agreement that
the Participant is subject to or (vi) the Participant engages in conduct that results in or contributes substantially to
a material breach of the Company’s applicable internal policies and procedures, including without limitation
those policies in respect of risk management, compliance, disciplinary and any applicable supervisory practices,
the Committee in its sole discretion may suspend the payment of any Awards granted (or a portion thereof)
and/or require the forfeiture and disgorgement to the Company of any Awards (or a portion thereof) granted or
paid during the twelve months prior to or any time after the Participant engaged in such misconduct and all gains
earned or accrued due to the exercise of such Awards or sale of any common stock issued pursuant to such
Awards.
(iv)Other Recoupment Policies. Awards granted under this Plan shall also be subject to such generally applicable
policies as to forfeiture, disgorgement and recoupment as may be adopted by the Board or the Committee from
time to time and communicated to Participants. Any such policies may (in the discretion of the Board or the
Committee) be applied to outstanding awards at the time of adoption of such policies, or on a prospective basis
only. The implementation of policies and procedures pursuant to this Section 5(g) and any modification of the
same shall not be subject to any restrictions on amendment or modification of awards.
(h) Term of Plan . The Plan shall be effective with respect to fiscal periods beginning on or after October 1, 2010;
provided that, unless otherwise determined by the Board, it is intended that the material terms of the performance objectives
under this Plan and the maximum amount of compensation payable to a Covered Employee will be disclosed to and reapproved
by the Company’s shareholders at the Company’s annual meeting of shareholders at such timesas required by Section 162(m) to
the extent necessary to continue to qualify the amounts payable hereunder to Covered Employees as performance-based
compensation under Section 162(m).
(i) Amendment or Alteration . Notwithstanding Section 5(a), the Board or the Committee may at any time amend,
suspend, discontinue or terminate the Plan; provided that no such action shall be effective without approval by the shareholders
of the Company to the extent necessary to continue to qualify the amounts payable hereunder to Covered Employees as

performance-based compensation under Section 162(m).
(j)
Severability. The holding of any provision of this Plan to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable by a court of
competent jurisdiction shall not affect any other provision of this Plan, which shall remain in full force and effect.
(k) Assignment. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 5(k), this Plan shall inure to the benefit of and be binding
upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs, representatives, successors and assigns. Neither this Plan nor any right or
interest hereunder shall be assignable by the Participant, his beneficiaries, or legal representatives; provided that nothing in this
Section 5(k) shall preclude the Participant from designating a beneficiary to receive any benefit payable hereunder upon his
death, or the executors, administrators or other legal representatives of the Participant or his estate from assigning any rights
hereunder to the person or persons entitled thereunto. This Plan shall be assignable by the Company to a Subsidiary or Affiliate
of the Company; to any corporation, partnership or other entity that may be organized by the Company, its general partners or
its Participants as a separate business unit in connection with the business activities of the Company or Participants; or to any
corporation, partnership or other entity resulting from the reorganization, merger or consolidation of the Company with any
other corporation, partnership or other entity, or any corporation, partnership, or other entity to or with which all or any portion
of the Company’s business or assets may be sold, exchanged or transferred.
(l) 409A Compliance. This Plan is intended to provide for payments that are exempt from the provisions of Section
409A the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder
(“Section 409A”) to the maximum extent possible and otherwise to be administered in a manner consistent with the
requirements, where applicable, of Section 409A. Where reasonably possible and practicable, the Plan shall be administered in a
manner to avoid the imposition on Participants of immediate tax recognition and additional taxes pursuant to Section 409A. In
the case of any “nonqualified deferred compensation” (within the meaning of Section 409A) that may be treated as payable in
the form of “a series of installment payments,” as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(iii), a Participant’s or
designated beneficiary’s right to receive such payments shall be treated as a right to receive a series of separate payments for
purposes of such Treasury Regulation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Company nor the Committee, nor any of the
Company’s directors, officers or employees shall have any liability to any person in the event Section 409A applies to any
payment or right under this Plan in a manner that results in adverse tax consequences for the Participant or any of his or her
beneficiaries or transferees. Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, the Board or the Committee may
unilaterally amend, modify or terminate the Plan or any right hereunder if the Board or Committee determines, in its sole
discretion, that such amendment, modification or termination is necessary or advisable to comply with applicable U.S. law, as a
result of changes in law or regulation or to avoid the imposition of an additional tax, interest or penalty under Section 409A.
Notwithstanding the terms of this Plan to the contrary, if at the time of the Participant’s “separation from service” within the
meaning of Section 409A, he or she is a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A, any payment of any
“nonqualified deferred compensation” amounts (within the meaning of Section 409A and after taking into account all
exclusions applicable to such payments under Section 409A) required to be made to the Participant upon or as a result of the
separation from service (as defined in Section 409A) shall be delayed until after the six-month anniversary of the termination
from service to the extent necessary to comply with and avoid the imposition of taxes, interest and penalties under Section
409A. Any such payments to which he or she would otherwise be entitled during the first six months following his or her
termination from service will be accumulated and paid without interest on the first payroll date after the six-month anniversary
of the separation from service (unless another Section 409A-compliant payment date applies) or within thirty days thereafter.
These provisions will only apply if and to the extent required to avoid the imposition of taxes, interest and penalties under
Section 409A.
(m) No Attachment. Except as required by law, no right to receive payments under this Plan shall be subject to
anticipation, commutation, alienation, sale, assignment, encumbrance, charge, pledge or hypothecation, or to execution,
attachment, levy or similar process or assignment by operation of law, and any attempt, voluntary or involuntary, to effect any
such action shall be null, void and of no effect.
(n) Headings. The Section headings appearing in this Plan are used for convenience of reference only and shall not be
considered a part of this Plan or in any way modify, amend, or affect the meaning of any of its provisions.
(o) Rules of Construction. Whenever the context so requires, the use of the masculine gender shall be deemed to
include the feminine and vice versa, and the use of the singular shall be deemed to include the plural and vice versa. That this
Plan was drafted by the Company shall not be taken into account in interpreting or construing any provision of this Plan.
(p) Governing Law. This Plan and its enforcement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of

the State of Delaware, excluding any conflicts or choice of law rule or principle that might otherwise refer construction or
interpretation of this Plan to the substantive law of another jurisdiction.
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED
I, Ralph W. Shrader, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report.
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report.
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: October 29, 2014

By:

/s/ Ralph W. Shrader
Ralph W. Shrader
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED
I, Kevin L. Cook, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report.
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report.
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: October 29, 2014

By:

/s/ Kevin L. Cook
Kevin L. Cook
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)
In connection with the report on Form 10-Q of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (the “Company”) for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2014,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company certifies, to the best of his knowledge and belief pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: October 29, 2014

By: /s/ Ralph W. Shrader
Ralph W. Shrader
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation and will be retained by
Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)
In connection with the report on Form 10-QK of Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation (the “Company”) for the fiscal quarter ended September 30,
2014, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company certifies, to the best of his knowledge and belief pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: October 29, 2014

By: /s/ Kevin L. Cook
Kevin L. Cook
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation and will be retained by
Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

